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Walker., Ours was half an Hour falter than
theirs.

M. Cowper. FHlow came you to know this?

[Valker. By realon that Dinner was drefs’d at
ihe Cook’s, and it was ordered to be ready by
Two a-Clock, and 1t was ready at T wo a-Clock
by the Town-Clock, and half an Flour after
Two by ours.

Mr. Cowper. When you came down and muf-
fed your Miftre(s, did you enquire after her all
that Night ¢ |

[Falker. No, Sir, 1did not go out of the
Doors ; I thought you were with her, and fo I
thought fhe would come to no Harm.

My, Cowper. Here is a whole Night fhe gives
no Account of.  Pray, Miltrefs, why did not
you o after her ¢

IWalker. My Miftrefs would not let me.

Mr. Cszeper. Why would fhe not let you

[Falter, 1 {aid 1 would fee for her: No, fach
fhe, by Reaton 1f you go and fee for her, and do
not find her, 1t will make an Alarm over the
Town, and there may be no Occafion.

Mr. Cewper. Did your Miftrets ufe 1o flay
out all Night?

[Valker. No, never.

Mr. Cowwper. Have not you faid {o?

Velker. T never faid fo n my Life.

Mr.Cowsper. PrayMrs, TP alker did younever take
notice that your Miftrefs was under Melancholy?

IWalker, Tdon’t fay but fhe was melancholy ;
the was i} for fome time, and I imputed it to
her THnefs, and I know no other Caule.

My, Cowwper, Tave you not often tojd People
that your Miflrefs was a melancholy Perfon, up-
on vour Gath?

el 1 have fad fhe hath beenill, and that
made har melancholy.

My, Cowprs T will afk you this Queflion
Pray, did you ever purchafe any Poifon, more
or lels, within thele twelve Months ?

{[afker. Yes, Siry 1did fo, and can tell what
1L was for.

Mr, Cowper. Dy whole Order?

fIclker. By my own Order,

Mr. Cowper. Did you buy Poifon bur once,
upon your Oath?

Halkero 1 believe T might buy twice,

Mr. Coscper, Where ?

{Faier. Of Mr. Ludinan.

iVIr. Cowper. Both Times there?

I clker. Y es.

Mur. Cooper. OF him ?

IVelwer. No, of the young Man.

Mr. Cowper. Did you ever buy any Poilon at
{ttsir ?

{Falker. No,

Mr. Cowsper, Did you ever buy any by your
Miftrefs’s Order, or of one Mrs. Craske, upon
your QOath ?

[Vallcr. No, 1 never did,

Mr. Cozeper, Pray at what Time was it that
yvou bought this Poifon you {peak of ?

[Falker. 1 can’t remember,

Mr. Cowcper. Pray recolle@ your felf ?

Valkcr, Yewas within this half Year, to be fure.

Mr. Cozcper. What was the Name of the Poi-
lon you wlk’d for ?

[Palser. 1 afk’d for White Mercury.,

Mv, Comoper. She faith, T pals’d by her Miltrefs's
Lloufe, and wenudirectly to Mr, Barefoot’s s Pray
did not you come to Mr. Barefoor’s after me?

IFalker. Yes, Sir,

Mr. Cowper, Pray did you give the fame 4.
count beiore the Coroner, when this Matter Wis
enquired mto, that you have now done ?

IFalker. Yes, 1did, as near as I can re]].

Mr. Cowper. Did you give this Account iy
Subftance ?

Walker. Yes, T did.

Mr, Baron /atfell. Mr. Ca:apcf*j [ {uppofe voy
don’t mean in relation to the Poifon. '

Mr. Cowper. Ny Lord, T mean in relation g
fo much of the Evidence which fhe now ajves
and particularly refpeéts me,  For wiar Eud o
Purpofe did you buy it 3

Walir. 1 boughtit to poifon a Dog,

Mr. Cozeper. Why thould you poifon the Dogs

[Falker. 1t wasa Dog that ufed to haunt (Er
FHoufe, thatdid us a great deal of Milchief; by
that did not do, fo I bought it a fecond Time,

Mr. Cowper. Who gave it to the Dog #

IWelker. *'Pwas another Maid did give it the
Dog,

Mu. Coesper. Why did you then fwear it wos
civen the Dog ¢

[FPalkei. Sir, 1faw it given,

Mr. Cowper. Did your Miftrefs know of it 2

[Walker. Yes, fhe did know of it afterwards.

Mr. Cewper. Flow dii you give it ?

Iolter. In warm Nilk.

Mr. Cowper. Yow did the Milk look *

Wafker., Tt did not look difcolour’d in th
fealt,

Mr. Baron Haffell. You faid jult now you
Miftrefs was i, and that made her melancholy.
what Illnels was it ? |

IFalker, My Lord, fhe had a areat Pain
her Flead. N

Mr. Baron Hatfll, Fow fong had fhe bee
troubled wich 1t?

Walker, Ever fince laft Aoy was twelve Montis
was Lthe beginning of i,

Mr. Joues. Did you ever find her tn the lex:
inclined to do her felf o Mifchief 3

[Falker. No, I never dud.

Mr. Cowper. You bought Poifon wwice, d:d
you give all the Poifon you bought to the Dox?
[Velker, Yes. "

Mr. Cezeper. The firft and the Jafi 3

IValker, Yes, the whole,

Mr. Cowper. How much did you buy ?

Walker. T am not certain how much [ boyalt.

Mr. Cezoper. Prav, what Milchief did it do
the Dog !

H"r?!{'r;;' I cannot tell, he may be ative till nov

e, 1o , Ay ve adive till now
for ought I know.

Mr. Cowper. What Mifchief did the Dog do!

Palker. A great deal, he threw down fevenl
Things and broke them.

Mr. Fones. Did My, Cocperr, upon your Qath,
hear Miltrefs Sront oive you Order to make hi
Fire, and warm his Bed ?

Walkei, He knows beft, whether he heard &
or no 3 but he fat by her when the fpake i

Mr, Jonres, Did the fpeak of it fo as he miglt
hear?

Walker. Yes thedid, for he was nearer than 1

Mr. Foires. And did not he contradiét it ?

Walker, Not in the Jeafh.

Mr. Joues, Was it the old or young Womsi
that gave you the Order ?

IWalker. The youne Woman,

i
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M. Cowper. Pray, did the Dog lap 1t, or did
you put It down his Throart, upon your Qath ¢

e No, helapt it, upon my Oath.
{‘\ﬁf ‘;g}hlf. Did Mr. Cowper fend for his Horfe

from your Houfe the next Day? _

TWalker, 1 can’t fay that; I'wasnot intheWay.

Mr. Fones. Did he come to your Houle after-
wards? _

IValker. No, I am fure he did not.

Mr. Joies. \Wasthe Florfe in your Stable when
it was fent for ¢

IV7alker. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Foies. And hedid notcome to your Houfe
again, before he went out of Town?

IVelter., No, Sir.

Mr. Fezes. Do you know which Way he went
out of ‘Town?

I alker. Noy Sir. ,

NIr. Baron Hatfcll. Did Mr. Cowperule to lodge
at vour Floufe at the Aftizes?

J#clker. No, my Lord, not fince I came there;
the Seliions before, he did. '

Mr, Cizzper. Where did you come to invite me
to Dinner ? |

[Velker. At Mr. Barefoo!’s.

Mr. Cowper, Then you knew I was to lodge
there ? ,

Mr, Baron Hatfell. Who wrote the Letter on
Fridev, that Mr. Cowper would lodge there?

IValter. 1 know not who wrote it, his Wife
fent I,

Mr. Fsues. Did he tell you he would lodge there
that Night before he went away 2

Hatker. When hie went from Dinner he faid fo,

Mr. Foues. Call Fasnes Berry. (IWho was fworin, )
Now, my Lord, we will give Evidence of the Man-
ner how thewasfound., My, Berry, Do you remens
ber when Mus. S7ez22 wastound by your Mill ?

crrv. No, indeed, T do not know juft what

Duy 1t was.

Mr. Foues. When you found her, do you re-
member, how, in what Manner the was found?

Berry. Yessy Twentout in the Morning to fhoot
a Iluth of Water by Six a-Clock, and I faw fome-
thing a floating in the Water, fo I went out to
tee what it was, and I faw part of her Cloaths.

Mr. Jerei. Did vou fee her Face?

DHevive Noy not then,

Mr. Fones, Was her Face under Water, or
above £

Reriv. No part of her Body was above Water,
only fome part of her Cloaths.

Mr. Fenes. How many oot decp might the
Water be?

a7y Five Foot deep.

Mr Foues. And how much was fhe under Wa-
ler, do you concelve ? |

Briiv, She mighe beunder Water about five or
[ix Inches.
~Mr. Feies, Then he whole Body was not un-
aer Vater, was 1e?

Beiiv. Yes.

Mr. Fonos, Was her Face under Water ?

Beirv, Yes.

Nr, Buon /ia7fpl. Did fhe lie upon her Face,
er her Bacl: ? ,

ficeiy. Sl fay upon her Side,
Mr. Fones. When fhe was taken out, Were her
Fyes open or fhut 2

2irv. Her Eycs were epen.

Mr. Foves, Was fhe fwell’d with Water ?

ferry. 1did not yerceive her fwel’d: I was
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amaz’d at it, and did not fo much mind it as I
fhould. .

Mr, Fones. But you remember her Liyes were
ftaring open ?

Berry. Yes.

Mr. Fones. Did you fee any Marks or Bruifes

“about her?

Berry, No.

Mr. Cowper. Did you fee her Legs?

Berry, No, T did not.

Mr. Cowper. They were not above Water.

Berry. No.,

Mr. Cowper. Could you fee them under Water?

Berry. 1 did not fo much mind 1. .

Mr. Cowper. Did fhe lie ftreight or double,
driven together by the Stream ?

Berry. 1 did not obferve,

Mr. Cowper. Did you not obferve the YWeeds
and Trumpery under her?

Berry., There was no Weeds at that
thercabouts.

Mer. Fones. Was the Water clear?

Berry. No, it was thick Water,

Mr. Fones. Was thereany Thing under her,
the Water, to prevent her finking ?

Berry. No, I do notknow there was; fhe lay
on her rieht Side, and her right Arm wasdriven
between che Stakes, which are within a Foot of
onc another.

Mr. Fones. Did any Thing hinder her from
finking ?

Berry. Not that I faw.

Mr. Fones. Did you help to take her out from
the Stakes ?

Berry, No.,

Mr. Fones. Call Fobu Feuadizs.

Mr. Cowper. Mr. Berry, if Iunderftand you

Time

. right, you fay her Right Arm was drivenbetween
. the Stakes, and her Head between the Stakes ;

could you perceive her Right Arm, and where
was her Left Arm?

Berry. Within a fmall Matter upon the Water,

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Did you fee her Head and
Arm between the Stakes ¢

Berry. Yes, her Arm by onc Stake, and her
Iead by another.

Mr. Fones. Did her Arm hang down, or how?

Berry. 1did not mind fo much asI might have

done.
Then John Venables cvas fawoii,

Mr. Fones. Did you fee Mrs. Stont, wiren the was
taken out of the Water, as the lay inic?

Venables. Yes.

Mr. Fones. Give an Account how you found
her.

Veirables. She was floating upon the Water.

Mr. Fones. How? Was all her Body, or whar
Part in the Water?

Venables. She lay uponher RightSide, and this
Arm upon the Water, rather above the “Water,
her Ruffles were upon the Water.

Mr. Foines. Did you help to take her out?

Venables, No, Sir.

M. Fones. Were her Eyes open then?

Fenables. Fler Eyeswere open when1 faw her,
but I did not fec her when fhe was taken out.

Mr. Fones. Did any thing hinder her from
linking ? | |

Venables. 1 faw nothing to hinder her if fhe

would have funk,
Mr,
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Mr. Fonzs. Call Leonard Dell.{ ko was [oin.)
Did vou fee this Mrs. Szoz in the Water?

DIl Yes.

Mr. Fozes. Pray tell us in what Pofture {he was
found.

D:. 1 faw her floating in the River; I faw
her Face and her Cloaths.

Mr. Forzs. Were her Cloaths all above the
Warer ¢

D:!1. HerStays and her Coat that fhe had next
hzr.

Mr. Femer. Werethefe plainly above theWater:

D:il Some Parr of them.

Nir. Fores. Did youfeeher Face, wasthatabove
the Water :

Defl. No, Sir, 1t was berween the Piles 5 the
iay on her Right Side, and her Head was berween
the Stakes, and her Right Arm.

Mr, Feies. Did you help to tzke her ourof the
\Water ¢

D= Yes.

Mr. Fones. Did any Thing hinder her from
finking?

D=l Neither Stakes nor any Thing there.

Nr. Forzs. Did her Arms or Neck {tick 1o the
Stokes?

D:il. Noz 10 my thinking.

Mr. Fezes. Was the Warter clear, or weedy?

D:ll It was very clear.

Mr. Feres. How many Foor deep was it?

_ Detl 1know not, buc it might be five Foor
deep.

Nir. Fonzs. Did you help to take her out of the
Wager ?

Deéll Yes,Sir, and we took herand carrizd her
116 the Mezcow juft by, and laid her on the
Bank,

Ny, Fores. Did you obferve her Face, Neck,
or Arms, 0 bz bruis’d ¢

D:l 1 faw ro Bruife at 2ll.

Mr. Comper. Howdid youknow bur her Righe
Arm did reach to the Ground, fince you did not
{ee 117

D2lf. We couid fee her Arm lie in this Man-
ner between thePiles, the Richt Arm wasdown-
wards, for fhe lay on one Side.

Furs-mar. Did you fee anay Arm above i the
Wazer?

Dell No.

Mr. Baron Hetfell. You fhould propofe your
Quefiions to the Courr.

Fury-man. My Lord, I defire to know where
was her Left Arm.

Mr. Baron Heef2ll. Where washer Left Arm?

D211 can’rrellhowitdid lies I did notobferveit.

Nir. Baron Haffell. When you took her out of
tne Warer. qaid you obferve her Body fwveli’d ?

Dell We carried her into the Meadow, and
Iaid her on the Bank-fide, and there {he lay about
an Hour, and then was ordered to be carried in-
to the Miller’s.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Did you obferve that any
Water was in her Body?

Dzl None at all that T could fee 3 bur there
was fome fmall Matter of Froth came from her
Mouzh and Nofirils.

Fury-inen. My Lord, 1defireto know whether
her Stays were laced ?

Dell. Yes, fhe was laced.

Mr. Grper. If Take you right, you fay fhe
svas firait-laced =h

Dell, Her Stays were laced.

F:

Mr. Cowper. And you fay there was Froth ang
Foam came out of her Mouth and Noftrils?

Dell. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Jores. Pray, what Quantity ?

Dell. T could hold 1t all in the Palm of my
Hand. '

Mr. Cxopzr. How was fhe taken out of the
Water?

Dell, My Lord, we ftood upon the Bridge, I
and another Man, where (he lay, and he laid holy
of her and took her out,

Mr. Fones. And did you not perceive fhe was
hung ?

Deil. No, my Lord.

Mr. Cowper. Pray, Where was fhe laid when
fhe was taken out?

Dell. In the Place cal’d the Hoppers, juft by,

Mr. Cowper. How long did Ihe lie there?

Dell. About an Hour.

Mr. Cowwpzr. Did you ftay thereall that Time?

Dell. Yes.

Mr. Cozoper. And did thelroth continue to if-
fue from her Mouth and Nofirils ?

Mr. Baron Hzifz!l. Hetold you, Mr. Cowper,
ke could hold it all in the Palm of his Hand,

Mr. ?'ﬁ?::’j. Call 7{5.&1?3 Uffﬂ:’. ( IVho <was f:.:;ﬂrn,)
Fobn Ulfz, Did you fee Mrs. Stoni when the was
taken our of the Water?

Ulfe. Yes.

Mr. Fones. Give an Account of the Condition
fhe was m.

Ulfe. She lay on one Stde 5 Thelp’d to take her
Out.

Mr. Fones. Did the hang or ftick to any Thing

U#fe. There was nothiag at all to hold herup ;
{he lay berween a Couple of Stakes, but the Stakes
could not hold her up.

Mr. Fones. Did you fee her after fhe was taken
out ?

Ulfe. Yes.
M. Fones. Did any Water come out of her ?

Ulfe. Nothing at all, only a little Froth came
out of her Noftrils.

Mr. Fones. Call Kathatrine Dewo.(Whowas froorn.)
Did you fee Mrs. Stout taken our of the River?

Dew. Yes.

Mr. Fones. Did you fee her in the River before?

¢, Yes, Sir.

Mr. Fones. How did fhe lie in the River?

Dezw. Shelay Side-way with her Eyes open,and
her Teeth clenched in her Head, with Water
flowing a little from her Face, fome Part of her
and her Petticoats were above Water.

Mr. Foires. Did nothing hold her from finking?

Dew. Her Right Arm lay againft the Stake.

Mr. Fones. Did you fee her after [he was taken
out of the River ?

Dew. Yes, Sir. ,

Mr. Fones. Was fhe {well’d ?

Dew. 1 did not perceive fhe was {well’d at all.
Mr. Fones. Did you handle her?

Dew. No, Itouch’d nothing but her Petticoat.

Mr. Fones. Did you obferve her Legs ware in
the Water ?

Deww. No, I did not.

Mr. Cowper. Did youfee where her Right Arm
was ?

Dep. 1could not fee her Right Arm, the Wa-
ter How’d over it.

Mr. Cowper. Did you fee her after this Time?

Dew. No, Sir, I faw her taken out, but not
afterward.

Mr. Ba-
I
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M. Baron Hatfell, Did you fee herafter fhe lay

on the Ground ?

Dew. Yes, my Lord.

M. Baron Hatfell, How was the then ¢

Deww. She purged at the Nofe and one of her
Eycss [ did not take particular Notice after fhe
was outs the Notice I took was when fhe was
in the Water.

M. Baron Fatfell. What did you fecatherEye?
Dece. Froth, my Lord.
Mr. Fewes. 1id you fce her after fhe was
firipp’d naked ?
Dere. No, my Lord. |
Mr, Fones. Was it a fettled Frothing, or a
Purging ?
l Dew. A purging Froth. L
Mr. Buon Hatfell. Did any Body wipe it off ?
De. No, my Lord, I did not fec any Body

L
do It.
Mr. Baron Tlatfell, Then there was no new

Froth came ?

Dei. No, my Lord, T faw her froth at the
Nof and one of the Eyes as foon as fhe was
rken out, but I did not ftay long.

Mr. Cowper. Was fhe in her Stays?

Do Yes, Sir.

Mr, Coreper. Was fhe not faced ?

De=o. Yes, the was laced before and behind.

e, Yoires. Call Theias Dewo. (Who <was fwern. )
Did yeu fee this Mrs. Stont in the Water ? Pray
give my Lord and the Jury.an Account what
Petlure the was 1n. |

D.wo. 1 faw her lying in the Water floating,
above theWater 1 will not fay, but theWater ran
fome fmall Matcter over her ; her right Arm was
within the Stake, and her lefc Arm without 5 fhe
lay juft upon her Side, and I faw her when fhe
was firfl taken up, and her Shoes and Stockings
veere as clean as when they were put on, no Mud
nor Dirt upon them, and I faw her Shoes and her
Stockings, as high as her Knee almoft 5 but I
{aw no Dirr,

Nir. Frics. Do you believe fhe had been funk
to the Bottom ¢

Deew. She did not Jook as if fhe had, ner I
fee o Warter come from her.

Mr, Foanes. Did you obferve that fhe was {wel-
led avall?

Dewo. No, nor fwell’d that I perceive a bit s
there was a lictle Froth that came out of her
Note, and about her (I can’t fay from her Eye)

in that i was a fmall Quantity.

Mr, Yones, Call Mr. Edward Blackno, (IWho
was fioorin,) Did you fee Mis. Stowt when fhe lay
i the Water?

Bleckio. Yes, Tdid fee her lye in the Water oat-
ing 3 Iwas fo near, that I faw the Miller's Man lift
her up by one of her Arms out of the Water.

N, Jenes. Was the Arm bent or fireight?

Bisckie. It hung in this Manner ( fbewing  the
Ceitre how oith bis owon Arm.)

M. Baron /Hatfell: The other Witnefles faid,
fhe Iay on her right Side.

Blackin. Yes, fhe lay on her right Side, and her
Arm in this Manner.

Mr, Baron Hetfell. Did you obferve her to be
fwelled 2

Blackie. 1 did not fee her taken out.

Mn Baron Hatfcll. Did you obferve any thing
10 hinder her from finking ?

Ziffffk:m. No, I did not, nothing but the Water,

oL, Y,
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Mr.Cowper, 1 think, Str, 1f ] heard youright,you
fay, that this taking by the Arm and ftirring her,
was before fhe was taken out of theWater; then I
would know, after the was ftirred, was fhe letgo
again? Was you by at the taking of her up?
Blackno, No, 1 was not. |
Mr, Baron Hatfell. He told.you fhe was float-
ing when he faw her, and that nothing hindered
her from finking.

Then William Edmunds ard William Page
WEre JT0i N,

Mr., Fones. Edumnds, did you fee Mrs, Stout
when fhe was in the Water?!

Edmunds. Yes, Sir.

Mr, Fones, Give an Account what Pofture fhe
was In !

Ldmunds. She lay againft the Stake, her Head
lay again{t the Stake in the River ; we were com-
ing up in a Barge, and called to a Miller to draw
theWater, but he faid he could not, for then fhe
would fwim through ; and then we came on, and
fee her lie in the Water.

M. Fones.Did any thing hinder her from {inking ¢

Ldmnnds. Not that 1 fee.

Mr. Fones. Did no Part of her Lefs or Arms
ftick ? Did you fee her taken out?

Edimnds. No, I did not, I wasgone, Idid not
know whether they would take her out or no.

Mr. Fones. Page, did you fee Mrs, Stout upon
the Water

Page. Yes, Sir. |

Mr. Foires. Tell us how fhe lay.

Page. Shelay floating on the Water on her right
Side, with her Head between the Stakes,

Mr. ones. Did her Arms br Cloaths, or any
Thing ttigk ¢ |

Page. Not that I faw.

Mr, Fones. Did any Thing hinder her from
finking ?

Pag:. 1 faw nothing, |

Mr. Cewper. Did you fee her Legs or Knees?

Page. No, 1 could not, they were not out of
the Water,

Mr. Fones. Swear Mrys. Amne Ulfe. (Which was
donz. ) Did you lee Mrs. Sioaz in the Water ?

Ulfe. Yes, I help’d to pull herout ; fhe lay on
one Side in the Water floating, and the Water
came over her Face.

Mr. Fones. Did fhe ftick by any Thing ?

Ulle. One of her Arms was about the Poft,

Mr, Fones. How?

Ulfe. It got through the Grate.

Mr. Fones. But it did not hang.

Ule. No. . -

Mr. Fones, Did you take her out

Ulfe. Yes, Sir.
Mr. Fones. Did you mind her Cloaths ¢

Ulfe. YesIturn’d upher Petticoatin the Water,

Mr. Fones. Had fhe Gloves on ¢

Ulfe. No, Sir. .

M. Fones. IHow were her Shoes and Stockings?

Ulfe. They werc not muddy, her Stockings
were rouled down, fhe had no Garters on.

Mr. Cowper. You fay, one Arm lay through

the Grate, where lay the other ?
Ulfe. The other was down in the Water.

Williain How <was fworn,

Mr. Fones, Did you fec Mrs, Sions in the

Water ?
Dd How.
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 Yes, Sir, I fee her lie upon the Water 3
ﬂ:gf; 2float, {he might lie three or four Inches

deep in the Water.
M. Fones. Did any
the Water?
75w, Some Part of her Coats lay above the

Water. |
1M61: Fones, Did any Thing hinder her from

finking ¢
Tlrw. 1 faw nothing, I {aw them take her out,

and did not perceive [he hung any Way, fhelay
with onc Arm, and her Head mn the Grate, but

I did not perceive fhe hung.

John Menger <was fwoii.

of her Cloaths lie above

Mr. Jones. Well, do you give an Account of
what you know of Mrs. Ston being in theWater ¢

Meager. 1 fec Mrs, Sarch Stout floating 1n the
Water, her right Arm in the Grate, and her left
Arm with the Stream. |

Mr. Joircs. Did the hang or ftick by any Thing?

Meager, No, neither hang nor flick, (he floated.

Mr.Cozper.Did you fee fome Body go through
che Bluc-coat Building about Eleven a-Clock ?

Meager, No, Sir, I was n Bed before Nine,

Mr. Joires. Now, my Lord, we will give an
Account how fhe was when fhe was flripr, and
they came to view the Body. Call Fobiz Diinfdale
junior. (IWho was fuworis.) |

Dimfdale. My Lord, I was fent for at Night
on Tufdey the lalt Allizes- —

Mr. Cozper, My Lord, if your Lord fhip pleafes,
I have fome Phyficians of Note and Eminency that
are comedown from Londoir s I defire they may be
calPd into Court to hear what thefe Surgzons fay.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Ay, by all means,

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, there is Dr. Stoane,
Dr. Gerth, Dr. Moiky, Dr. Gilftrop, Dr. Harriot,
Dr. Wollafon, Dr. Crell, Mr. William Cowsper,
My, Barilett, and Mr. Cailin,

Who wefpeiiively appear’d iir Conirt,

Mr. Fones. Give an Account how you found
Mrs. Stout,

Mr.Baron Hetfell. You are a Phyfician, I {up-
pofe, Sir?

Diwmfdale. A Surgeon, my Lord. When I was
ot for to Mrs. Stont’s, [ was {ent for twoor three
rimes before [ would gos for I was unwilling
after T heard Mrs.Stout vasdrown’d ; for I thoughe
with myfelf, whatneed could there be of me when
the Perfon was dead 5 but the ftill fent 5 and then
1 went with Mr. Camling and found a little Swel-
ling on the Side of her Neck, and fhe was black
on both Sides, and more particularly on the lefe
Side, and between her Breafts up towards the
Collar-bone, that was all I faw at that time,
only a lictle Mark upon cne of her Arms, and I
think upon her lefc Arm.

Mr. Foies. Hlow were her Ears ?

Disfdele. There was a Settling of Blood on both
Sides the Neck, that wasall I faw ac that Time.

Mr. Foies. How do you think fhe came by it ?

Dinfdale. Truly T only pave an Account juft
as 1 fay now to the Gentlemen at that Time, I faw
no more of it at that Time, butabout fix Wecks
after the Body was opened by Dr. Philips

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, he is going to another
Picce of Evidence, and I would afk him

Mr. Fones, Let us have done firft 5 how was
her Ears:?

Dimfdale, There was a Blacknels on both Eas,
1 Sertling of Blood.

Mr. Fones. Call Sarab Kisupfon.

Mr.Bar. Haifell. Mr. Cotoper, now you may afk
him any Thing, they have done with him.

Mr. Cowpei. 1 would afk him whether he wy;
not employed to view thefe particular Spots he
mentions at the Coroner’s Inqueft ?

Dimfdale. T was defired to look upon the Face
and Arms, and Breaft, becaufe they faid chere
was a Settling of Blood there.

Mr. Cowper. When you return’d to the Coro-
ner’s Inqueft, What did you certity as your Opi.
nion ?

Dimfdale. Tdid certify there wasa Settling of
Blood 3 but how it came I coukd rot tell.

Mr. Gowper. 1 afk you, Sir, Did not you fay i
was no more than a common Stagnation ufual iy
dead Bodies ?

Dimfilale. 1 do not remember 2 Word of 1.

Mr. Cowpei. Sir, T would afk yous You fiy
the Spot was abour the Collar-bones was it above
or below ?

Dimfdale. From the Collar-bone downwards.

Mr.Cowper.Had theany Circleabout her INeek!

Dimfiale. No 3 not upon my Quath.

M. Foues. Swear Sareh Kiwipfeir. Did you ob.
(erve this Mrs. Saral Stoxt, when fhe was {trip'd
how her Body was?

Kimpfan. Yes.

Mr. fones. Pray give an Account of 1.

Kimpfon. She had a great Sertlement of Blozd
behind her ¥ar, as much as my Hand will cover
and more 3 and fhe had a Scettlement of Bloed
under her Collar-bone.

Mr.7sies. Did you fee nothing about her Neck

Kimpfor. Nothing round her Neck; on the
Side of her Neck there was a Mark.

Mr Fones. Was there any other Part bruifed:

Kimpfon. Only her left Wiift, and her Doay
was very flat and lank,

Mr. Cowper. Pray, what Day was 1t that you
faw her?

Kimpfon. It was the Day fhe was found.

Mr. Cowper. Was fhe not laced ¢

Kimpfonr. She was laced.

Mr. Cowper. Did you help to ftir her?

Kiinpfon. Yes, Str.

Mr. Fones. Did her Body feem to be fwell’d, or
was there any Water come from her s

Kimpfon. 1 did not obferve the leaft Drop of
Water that appearced any Way.

Mr. Jones. Do you know what did Purge from
her ?

Kimpfon. Nothing that I faw.

Mr, Fones. Had not you a Child drowna
there lately ?

Kimpfen. Yes, about ten Weeks ago.

Mr. Fones. And you found her ?

Kimpfon. She was drowned at Night, and w
found her next Morning.

Mr. Yones. Where did you find her, at the
Top, or at the Bottom of the Water !

Kimpfon, At the Bottom,

Mr. Zones. How was fhe ?

Kimpfon. She was fwell’d as much as fhe could
hold.

Mr. Fones. Were her Iyes thut or open?

Kimpfon. Her Eyes were fhut, and the Child
was laced as tight as the Coat could be.

Mr. Foues. Was the Child opened ?

Ko
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Tmpfoit. X €S
-I{\E*III:‘J?%HEL And what was in the Body of the

iid ?
Ch}{ﬁnpﬁﬂ. *T'was very full of Water.

Mr. Joies. Call Sarab Peppercorn.

Mr. Cowper. You fay you view’d the Child;

{Jad it any Settlement of Blood?
Kimpfon, 1 faw nonc. o
h’ir%awprr. And you view’d the Body?

Rimpfon. Y s,
Then Sarah Peppercorn was fworil.

Mr. Yones. Did you fee the Body of Mrs. Sarab

Stout, after it was ftriprand laid out?
percorn. 1 did, Sir.

ﬁl{?ﬁm. In what Condition did you find her?

Peppercore. 1 did not fee her ull fhe wasbrought
home to her Mother’s, and there was a Rumour
i the Town that the was with Child, and I
was fent for to give an account whether fhe was
or not, and 1 found fhe was not; and 1 help’d
to pull off lier Cloaths, and fhe was very clear as
any [ ever knew, only had a black Place on the
Side of her Head, and in another Place about
her Ear; but how it came I know not.

Mr. Foies. Did youobfervehow her Body was?

Peppereorsn. Fler Body wasvery well asany Wo-
man’s could be.

Mr. Fones. Did you obferve any Water, or any
fuch thing from her:

Peppercorn. No.

Mr. Fones. Wasthereany Purgingat her Mouth
or Noftrils? _

Peppercorn. A littleEFrothasanyBody might have,

Mr. Cowper. At what Hour did you fee h?r?

Peppeicorn, 1 believe 1t might be Nine or Ten
a-Clock,

Vir. Baron Hatfell. In the Morning? _

Peppercorn. Yes, Sirs but I can’ct givea juft
Account of the Time.

Mr. Baron Hatf2ll. What was you fent to for?

Peppercoin. To know if fhe was with Child ;
for it was reported fhe had drowned her felf be-
caufe the was with Child; and fo her Mother de-
fired me to come to give an Account that it was
not fo, and I found that it was not fo,

Mr. Baron Hafell. You are a Midwife, are you
not?

Peppeieori. Yes, my Lord.

Then Elizabeth Huller was fwora,

Mr. Foircs. Had you the View of the Body of
Mrs, Saiab Stau: the Day vou heard fhe was
drowned ?

Hyfki. She was not drowned, my Lord; I went
thither ard helped to pull off her Cloaths.

Mr. Feues. In what Condition was her Body?

Hifl:v. Her Body was very lank and thin, and
ro Water appeared to be in it.

\_Mr. Fonez. Was there any Water about her
siouth and Nofe?

Huflor. Not when I faw her.

Mr. Feies. Did you mind her about her Neck
ard Head?

[i:fier. Yes, yes, therewasa Settling of Blood
2t the Top of the Collar-bone, juft here, and
there was g Settling of Blood upon both her Ears,
moft about her left Ear.

Mr. Fones.Swea r At Pilkington. (TP bichwas done.)

Did vou fee the Body of Murs. Stoxe after the
wasdrowred ?

VoL, V,
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Pilksngton. Yes, Sir,

Mr. Jones. Pray, in what Condition was fhe
when fhe was ftript?
. Pilkington. I was in the Houfe when fhe was
brought in dead s and old Mrs, $16s¢ defired me to
help to lay her out; and raking a View of her, I
did not at all perceive her Body to be fwelled,

Mr. Fones. Was there any Water came out up-
on the moving of it?

Pilkington. No, I.did not perceive any ; and by
a further View, I faw a Rednefs on the left Side
of her Head, and her Ear was black, and there

was a little Markupon her Breaft on the left Side.
Mr, Fones. What Colour was itof?

Pilkington. It {feem’d reddifh and blackith: As
to Colour it was like a Settling of Blood: I can’t
tell how to make it out very well,

Mr. Cowper. Had fhe any Circle round about
her Neck?

Piltingten. No, not that T fee.

Mr, Cotwper. Pray, did not you make fome Dea
pofition to that Purpofe, that you know of?

Piltington, Sir, 1 never did, and dare not do
1

Mr. Cowper. It wasread againft mein the King’s
Bench, and Iwill proveits was not Mr.Megd with
you atthe L'ime of your Examination?

Pilkington. Yes.

Mr, Cowper. Did not he put in fome Words;
and what were they ?

Pilkington, Not that T know of.

Mr. Cowper. But you never {wore {o, upon your
Oath?

Pilkingion. No, I don’tbelieve I did;if1 did,
1t was ignorantly.

Mr. Fanes. Here is her Examination, it iscrofs
her Neck.

Mr. Cowper. Was Mr. Young of Hertford, the
Conftable, prefent when you were examined ?

Pilkington. Xes, he was fo. The next Day
Mrs. Stont {ent for me again to put on her Daugh-
ter’s Shrowd, and I was one that helped to draw
the Sheet away, and there was not one Drop of
Water come from hers and I laid a Cloth under
her Chin, when I help'd her into the Coffin, but
I did not fee the leaft Moifture come from her.

Mr. Cewper. What Day wasir, that you puther
to the Coffin?

Pilkington. The next Day after the was dead.

Mr. Cowper. Do you know nothing of her being:
convey’d into the Barn?

Pilkingion. 1 happen’d to be in the Barn, Mrs.
Stont defired me to go with her, and fhe was
brought up m an indecent Manner, and I put 2
Sheet about her. I wasin Mrs Stons’s Houle be-
fore her Daughter was brought thither.

Mr. Fones. Call Dolor Coatfiworth, Doftor
Nailor, Doltor Woodboufe, Door Bide.

Mr. Coatfworth was fworn.

Mr, Fones. Pray, Doctor, had youa View of
the Body of Mrs. Stout 2
Coatfworth. Yes, Thad Sir: I ama Surgeon.
Mr. Fones. Pray givean Accountofit, and what
vour Opinion was how fhe came by her Death.
Coatfworth. My Lord, in April laft I was fent
for by Dr. Philips, to come to Hertford to fee the
Body of Mrs. §fout open’d, who had been fixWeeks
buried ; and he told me, That there was a Sufpi.
cion fhe was murthered, and that her Relations
were willing to have her taken upand opened. I
Dd- came
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came down, 1 think on the 27th of April, and lay
at Mis. Stons’s Houfe that Night, and by her Dif-
courfe, I underftood fhe wanted 10 be fatisfied,
whether her Daughter was with Child. 1 told her
it was my Opinion we fhould find the Parts con-
eained in the Zbdomen fo rotten, that it would be
impollible to difcover the Ulerts from the other
Parts: however, if fhe would have her opencd, 1
could not difcover whether fhe was with Child,
anlefs the Infant was become bony. Her Face
and Neck, to her Shoulders, appeared black, and
fo much corrupted, that we were unwilling to
proceed any further: But, however, her Mother
would have it done, and fo we did open her ; and
a5 foon as fhe was opened, we perceived the Sto-
mach and Guts were as full of Wind as if they
had been blown with a pair of Bellows; we put
her Guts afide, and came to the Uterus, and Do-
Eor Philips fhewed it us in his Hand, and after-
wards cut it out and laid it on the Table, and

opened it, and we faw into the Cavity of it, and
if there had been any Thing there as minute as a

Hair, we might have feen it, butit was perfectly
free and empty 3 andafter That, we put the Inte-
ftines into their Placess and we bid him open the

Stomach, and it was opened with an Incifion-
Knife, and it funk flat, and let out Wind, but
no Water; afterwards we opened the Breaft and
Lobes of the Lungs, and there was no Water:
Then we look’d on each Side, and took up the
Lobes of the Lungs too, to {ee it there was no
Water in the Diaphragm, and there was none,
but all dry.  Then I remember 1 faid, this Wo-
man could not be drowned, for if fhe had taken
in Water, the Water muft have rotted all the
Guts: That was the Conftruétion I made of 1t
then; but for any Marks about her Headand
Neck, it was impofiible for us to difcover 1t, be-
caufe they were fo rotten,

Mr. Cowper. You fay, this Infpection was made

about fix Weeks after fhe was dead ?
Coatfworth. 1t was made on the 28th of April.

Mr. Cowper. She was drowned on the 13th of

Maich.

Mr. Foues. Did youmake an Incifion into thofe
Parts of the Neck and Head.

Coatfwerth. No: T told Mrs, Stenf and her Son,
If youimagine the Skull tobeinjur’d, I willopen
the Head ; for if the Scalp be never fo rotten, yet
if the Skull has fuffered any Impreffion I fhall dif-
cover ity they faid, They did not fufpect a bro-
}{cn Skull in the Cafe, and fo we did not examine
at.

M. Yoites. But all her other Parts were found ?

Coatfworth. Yes, found to @ Miracle; for I did
not imagine we could find them fo,

Mr. Fones, Call Fobn Dimfdale ¢

Mr. Cowper. My Lord 1 would know, and Ide-
fire to be heard to this Point: I think where the
Coroner’s Inqueft have view’d the Body, and the
Relations have been heard, and the Body buried,
that it is not to be {tirr’d afterwards for any pri-
vate Infpeion of Partics, that intend to make
themfelves Profecutorss but if it 1s to be taken
up, it is to be done by fome legal Authority;
for if it fhould beotherwife, any Gentleman may
be ealily trepan’d: For inftance, if they fhould
have thought fit, after the Coroner’s View, to
h:w::: broken the Skull into a handred Pieces,

This was a private View altogether among
themfelves. Certainly, if they intended to have
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profecuted me, or any other Gentleman upon
this Evidence, they ought to have given us ne.
tice, that we might have had Ii:npf: Surgeons 4.
mong them, Lo i1 purintt*nd l:'hf.‘ll‘ Procccdingg_
My Lord, with {ubmiflion, this ought not to ke
given in Evidence. _

Mr. Baron Ha:fell. Mr.Cowpery [ think you ra
nor in carnelts there is no Colour for this Obje-
&ion: 1fthey did take up the Body without no.
tice, Why (hould not that be I*Zrid;cncr? unlefy
you think they had a defign to forlwear the-
felves,

M., Cowper, Had youa Melius lugttivensiii, o
any lawtul Warrantfor making this Infpedtion ?

Contfosirth, No, there was not.

Mr. Baronflatfell. Suppofe they did anill Thing
in taking up the Body without fome Order, the’
I don’t know any more illin taking up that Body
than any other; bug, however, Is that any Rea-
fon why we fhould not hear this Fvidence?

Cﬁﬁ.{f?'.va:r'rb. Mr, Camblin, SwWilliain Cowpei's
Surgeon was there by.

Mr. Fones. Call Mr. Diwfdale fenior. (WWhe w2;
fwworn.y Had you a View of the Body after it was
taken up?

Disnflale. Yes.

Mr. Yones. Pray give your Opinion of 1¢

Diiitfdafe. On the 28th of Aprily as T remember,
I was fent for down by Mrs, Srant to view the
Body of her Daughter. Her Daugher was jult
taken out of the Ground, but not opened s they
had juft touch’d the Body, but not opened the
Skin when I came there—

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Are you a Surgeons

Dimfidale. Yes, my Lord. Finding her Head fo
much mortified, down to her Neck, we thought
all the Parts were feized, and had a Confuleation,
W hether we thould open heror not; but Mrs, §zai
was very much enraged, becaufea great Scand.l
had been raifed, That her Daughter was with
Child; and fhe fid, She would have her opened
to clear her Reputation. With that we opened
her, and found her Body as found asany Ilefh
could be; nomanner of Putrifactionin her Lungs
or any other Part, but fhe was very full of Wind,
We fearch’d the Stomach and the Thorax, and
found not one Drop of Water abour 1, I was
more curious than the reft, and twrn’d away her
Legs, to fec if the Coffin was foil'd, and the Col-
fin and Shrowd were not wet. Fler Uterus was
raken out, and 1 faw no manncr of Sign of Con-
ception.  After this we had a2 Confultation o
confider, Whether fhe was drowned or not
drowned ; and we were all of Opimon, That (he
was not drowned ; only Mr. Camblin defired he
might be excufed from giving his Opinion, whe-
ther fhe was drowned or nots but all the reft of
us did give our Opinions, That fhe was not
drowned,

Mr. Fones. Give your Reafons, why you be-
liev'd fhe was not drowned.

Dimfdale. My Reafon was this: Becaufe we
found no Water in hers her Inteflines were not
putrified 5 for if there had been Water m her,
that would have caufed a Fermentation, and thit
would have rotted the Lungsand Guts.

Mr, Baron Hafell, Could you tell, {o many
Weeks after, whether fhe was drowned orno¢

Dimfialz, Yes, my Lord, for this Reafon: Lor
if the had been drowned, there had been fom:

Sign of Water; and if there had been a Pint of
Wi
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Warer. it would have rotted her Lights and her  Dimfdale jun. Mr. Coatfworth, Mir, Philips, M.
G 7 and that is done in a Week’s Time by  Camblin, &¢. they afked me to fetmy Hand toit,
- becaufe they thought I had feen it before.

. ation.
FL;,}]:HEZWW_ Sir, I defire to know, Whether ac- .
ordine to Reafon and your Skill, after fix Weeks Then Dr. Dimf{dale was fworn,
Eﬁmf s poffible there fhould be Water in the |
? Mr. Fones. Mr. Robert Disisfdale, wasyou at the

1 e ? . :
gb%ﬁ?y"dnfe.l do believe there may be fome; for opening of this Body?
 can’t come out after the Body 1sdead, by but D, Dimfdale. T came after it was opened; my

putrifation; and there was no Putrifaflion, Brother and I came together.
but it was firm and found. Mr. Foues. What Profeffion are you of, a Phy-

Mr. Baron Hatfell. What Parts would have been  fician?
putrified by the Water? Dr. Dinfdale. Yes: when theBody was taken up,
Disfdale. The Lungs and Bowels, they defired us to be there, to infpect the Body;
Mr. Baron Hatfell. And they were firm ¢ but before we came, it happen’d they had opened
Dimfiale. They were: And if there had been  theBody, and were fetting there Hands to a Paper,
Water, they would have been putrified. a {ortof Affidavit;and whenIcamein, they would
M. Fouss. Call Fobn Diwnfdale junior. have had us fet our IHands, but we would not, till
e, Was her Navel frarted 2 we had look’d upon the Body, and wentand laid
Dimfaale fen, No: Unever faw fuch a Body it open again, and we did not find the leaft Drop
o my Life of Water neither in the Thorax nor Abdomen,
M. Gswper. Did you ever fee a Body that was Mr.. Cowper, Is it poﬁ'ibl_e there thould be W3-
drowned, opened fix Weeks after? ter in the .Thorax, according to your Skill?
Dimféale zn. No, never. Ifa Body be drown- Dr. Dimjdale. Yes, we did think there would
ed 2 Fortnight, theBowels will be forotten, there have been, if fhe had been drown'd.
will be no coming near it; and I took particular  Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Could you expe@ to find it, {o
Notice, and I did not {ee one Drop of Water, long as fix Weeks after?
Mr. Baron Hatfell. Was the Coffin clofe? Dr. p:;;:[drzle. We fhould have expected thator
Dimfdalz fen. Yess it was clole and dryas any a Putrifattion; but we found no Putrifaction,
Board whatfoevers and all the Parts found, but. neither in the Bowels nor Inteftines, but only

the Head and Neck, and left Arm. upon her Head and Shoulders, and one Arm.
Mr. Fonzs. What do you think could be the ~ Mr. Gowper. Pray by what Paffage does the
Reafon of that? Water go into the Thorax?
Dimfdale fen. The left Arm was rottener than ~ Dr. Dimfdale.” Twill be very difficult for me ta
the other, the Neck was rotten before, deferibe the Manner here ; but we fhould have
Mr. Fones. What did you take to be the Caufe  found fome in the Stomach and Intettines.
of it? Mr, Cowper, Pray, Sir, how fhould it g0 Into
Dinfdale fen. 1 can’t judge of that. the Thorax ?

Dr. Dinfdale. By the Lymph.edus?, if carried by

Call John Dun{dale (junior.) Who was fiworn,  any Means.
Mr. Cowper. When the Party is dead, Can any

Dimfdale jun, My Lord, the Body wasopened Water pz}fs ntoany Part of the Body?
before | came to fee it, and they were drawing  Dr. Dimfilale. We opened the Abdomen of the
up an Affidavit, that there was no Waterin the Child that was drowned, and found in the feve-
Body, and they defired me to fign it; but I de- ral Cavities abundance of Water.
fired firflt to look into the Body; and 1 did look ~ Mr. Fores. When a Perfon is dead, Can they
into if, and turn’d the Intefltines afide, and there receive any Water after ?
wis no Water in it; but the Head from the Dr. Dimfdale. No; for all the Parts are clofed

Neck was very much putrified. and contrafted.
Mr, aires. Do you believe fhe was drowned ? Mr. Cowper. Pray, If a dead Body be put into
Difiale jun. No, 1 believe not. the Water, will not the Water come into the

Mr, Joies. Did you open the Child that was Wind-pipe?
drowned? What Difference was there between  Dr. Dimfdale, T queltion whether it will or no.
the Body of that Child and this? Mr. Fones. Was her Mouth (hut?

Dimfdale jan. The Child wasextreamly fwell’d  Dr. Diifdale, She was putrified about the Head
In the Belly and Stomach, and had abundance and Shoulders, and one Arm that I faw was pu-
of Water init. trified; it was the left Arm, asI takeit,

Mr. Yones. Wasthe Child lac’d thatyouopen’d?  Mr. Fomes. What is your Opinion, as to her

Diuydale jun, Tt was faid upon the Table be- Death?

fore [ came, Dr. Dimfdale. 1 believe, if the had been drown-
Mr, Cowper, How long was it before the Child  ed, there would have been a Putrifaction of the

Wwas opened ? Abdomen firlty and it was her extream Parts, her
Diiifdale Jan, It was drowned in the After- Arm, her [ead, and her Breaft, that was putri-

noon, and opened the next Morning., lied, but her Bowels feem’d firm and found.

Mr, Cowper, You faid, Sir, you was afk’d to Mr. Ffounes. Then you don’t think her Death

hgn the Affidavit before you faw the Body, and was by drowning?
you were honeft, and would fee the Body fitft;  Dr. Dimfdale. No.

Pray who afk’d you? Mr. Cowper, Pray, did not you give fome Cer-
Dimfdak jun. "All of them did. tificate or Paper, declaring the Death of this
Mr. Cowper. Who in particular; 1f you pleafe Gentlewoman, before you faw the Bodyac all?

name them? Dr. Diifdalz. No, I did not,

Mr, Crw-
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Mr. Cowper. Sir, I would afk you, Wasnot you
angry that Mr, Gamliiz would not join with you
in Opinion?

Dr. Dimfdale. No. |

Mr. Cowper. Did not you tell him, that you
were 2 Graduate Phyfician, and was angry he

would not join with you?
Dr. Dimfdale. Suppofe I did ?
Mr. Baron Hat/fell. But did you fo or no?
Dr. Dimfdale. Yes, my Lord, we had fome

Words about 1t. |
Mr.Fones.SwearDr.Coatfworth.(IWbichwas done. )

Now, my Lord, we call thefe Gentlemen that
are Dottors of Skill, to know their Opinions of
them that are found floating without Water in
them, how they came by their Death.

Dr. Coatfeworth. 1 have not feen many drowned
Bodics to make Obfervation upon; but it is my
Opinion, That cvery Body that is drowned, is
fuffocated by Water pafling down the Wind-pipe
into the Lungsupon Refpiration; and at the fame
Time, the Water prefling upon the Gullet, there
will be a neceflity of fwallowing a grear Part of
1t into the Stomach: I have been in danger of be-
ing drowned my {elf, and T was forced to fival-
low a great Quantity of Water. Ifa Perfon was
drowned, and taken out immediately, as foon as
the Suffocation was effeted, I fhould not won-
der if therewere but little Water in the Stomach
and Guts; but 1f it Iay in the Water fevera)
Hours, it muft be very flrange if the Belly
fhould not be full of Water; but I will not fay,
it is impoflible it fhould be otherwife.

Mr. Cowper. 1 defire to know, whether this
Gentleman attempted to drown himfelf, or was
in danger of being drowned by Accident,

Dy, Goa!fiworth. It was by Accident: I was
pafling up the Ship Side, and took hold of a
loofe Rope inftead of the Entring-Rope, which
failing me, I fell into the Water,

Mr. Cowper. But you firuggled to fave your felf

from drowning?
Dy, Coatfworth. 1 did fo: 1 have feen feveral

Perfons that have been drowned, and they have
lain feveral Days, until by Fermentation they
have been rais’d; but I nevermade my Obferva-
tions of any Perfons that have been drowned a-
bove fix Hours,

Mr. Fones. Did you cver here of any Perfons
that, as foon as they were drowned, had fvam

above Water?
Dr. Coa!lfwerth. T have not known fuch a Cafe.

Mr. Cowper. Did you ever know, Sir, a Body
that was otherwife kill’d, to float upon the Water?
Dr. Coatfworth. I never made any Obfervation

of that.
Mr. Baron Haifell. Dr. Brewnehas a learned Dif-

courfe, in his Pufgar Errors, upon this Subjed,
concerning the floating of dead Bodies; I don’c
underftand itmy felf, but he hatha whole Chap-

ter about it,
Then Dy, Nailor was fiworn,

Mr. Fones. We afk you the fame Queftion that
Doctor Coatfiverth wasafked, What is your Opi-
nion of dead Bodies? If a Body be drowned,

will 1t have Water in it or no?
© Dr. Nailor. My Lord, I amofOpinion, That it

will have 3 Quantity if 1tbe drowned 5 bucif there
be no Waterin the Body, I believe ¢hat the Per-
fon was dead before it was put into the Water.

Mr.Cowper. I would afk the Doftor one Que.
ftion, my Lord, Whether he was not CONu
ftant Voter apainft the Intereft of our Fauni]y
in this Corporation ?

Dr. Nailor. 1 never did come to give a Vo,
but Sir Williais Croper, or his Son, oppos’d pye
and faid, I had no Right to Vote. ’

Mr, Cowoper, 1 would have afk’d the fameQyye.
ftion of the Dimfdales, 1f Thad remembred It;
they are of another Party, as this Gentlemay j;

Mr. Baron Ha!fell. It is not all material,

they are Witnefles.
Thew call My, Babington. (2 ho was fiern, )

Mr. Joies. Pray, What is your Opinion of tl;;
Matter?

Mr. Babington. 1 am of Opinion, that alf Bag,;
that go into the Water alive, and are drowneg,
have Water inchem, and fink as foon ag they are
drowned, and don’t rife fo foon as this Gengle.
woman did,

Mr. Cowjper. Pray, what isyour Profeffion, Sjp>

Mr, Babiugton. T am a Surgeon.

Mr. Corwper. Becaufe Mr., Fonzs,call’d youDoftor,

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Did you ever fee any drowp.
cd Bodies?

Mu, Babington. Y es, my Lord, once Thad a Gon.
tlewoman a Patiant that was half an Houy under
Water, and fhe lived feveral Hours after, ang
in all that time fhe difcharged a great Quantity
of Water: T never heard of any that went alive
1nto the Water, and were drowned, that floated
fo foon as this Gentlewoman did; I have heag
{o from Phyficians.

Mr. Baron [Hatfell. T have heard fo too, and tha
they are forced to tye a Bullet to dead Bodies
thrown intothe Sea, that they mightnotrife agan,

Mr. Cowgper. The Reafon of that is, that they
(hould not rife again, not that they will not fink
without it. Bur I would afk M. Babiugton, whe-
ther the Gentlewoman he fpeaks of went into the
Water voluntarily, or fell in by Accident?

Mr, Babington. By Accident, but I believa
that don’t alter the Cafe.

Mr. Foies. Swear Dy Burnct. (Which wwas dowe)

Dr. Burnet. You hear what is the Macter in
queltion s what is your Opinion of it?

Dr, Buinet. My Lord, Ithink that ifany Perfon
fall into the Water by Accident, or throws him-
felt in, the Body will reccive Water as long as
itisalive, and there are Endeavours for Refpi-
ration, and after thefe Endeavours are over,
there is no Water will come in, for all the Parts
are clos’d; fo confequently there muft be Water
in all probability found in her.

Mr. Fones. What, do they fivim or ink?

Dr. Burnet. They fink; I'never faw a Perfon
drowned taken up without Water in my Lifes
but I have feen feveral full of Water.

Mr. Crwper. T think you fay when the Faculty
of Refpitation ceafes, no Water comes jn.

Dr. Burnet. Yes, that is my Opinion.

Mr. Cowper. Butthe Water does pafsinto them
while there are Endeavours for Refpiration?

Dr. Burnet. Yes, that is my Opinion.

Then Dr. Woodhoufe was fivorn.

Mr. Foires. Dotor, What is your Opinion of
this Matter?
Dr. Woodhsnfe. My Opinion is, that no Perfon

15 fuffocated by Water, butr he muft have a ggﬂﬂ;
e
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deal of Water within _him, a great deal of Water
in the Stomach, and fome in the Lungs?

Mr, Cozoper. Pray, Sir, did you ever open any
of thefe Bodies? |

Dr. IWeedboufe, Yes, T haveopened a Child my
elf that had a grear Quantity of Water in It,

Mr. Cswrer. Did you find any Quantity of
Water in the Throat? _

Dr, eoaboxfe, There was fome, but a hietle,
but 2 great deal in the Stomach, _ |

Mr. Cezoper. Pray, which way can it pafs into
the Thorax * ‘

Dy, T7er dhozfe, While the Perfon 1s [’rrugghng
for Relpiration, there may be a Relaxation of

and the Perfon muft fuck i Water as well
a5 Air, and fome Warer may get into the Wind-
pips, 2nd fo enter mro the Lungs.

Mr, Cowperr. Is there a Paffage from the Lungs
to the Thorax ¢

Dr. Zesdboufe. The Thorax is the Veffel
whercin the Lungs lie, the Lungs in the T_hor;lx,
the Breaft is the Caviry where the Lungs lie, the
Windpipe is the Conveyance to the Lungs, and
a Perfon in Refpiration takes down fome Water
there, but no doubt the greater Quantity will be
in the Stomach.

My, Bar. [z Pray let meafk you a Queflion:
Some of the Witnefies {aid, That if a Perlon be
drownzd, and liesdead a great while, the Inwards
will be putrificd 5 What is your Opinion of it ?

Dr. I77eodbonfe. No doubt, my Lord, where
Water uets into the Stomach, or wherever it is,
it witl putrify very {oon.

Mr. Teues. Cull Eeweard Clement,  (IWho was
fizgrn.) Are not you a Seaman ?

FE. Clincit, Yes, Sir,

Mr. Feivs. How long have you been fo?

F, Clent. Man 1 have writ my felf but fix
Yeurs, but T have ufed the Sea nine or ten Years,

air Fees, Have you known of any Men that
Faveveen Ki'1°d, and thrown into the Sea, or who
b o Ladlen o and beendrowned £ Pray tell us the
Dirtronce as to thelr fwimming and finking ¢

[ Claeizr TutheY car 89, or 9o, inBeachy'ight,
I faw feverad thrown over-board during the En-
aicement, but one puticularly I took notice of,
thatwas my Iriend, and kilP’d by my Sides 1 faw
him fwim tor a confiderableDiftance from theShip
andd a Ship coming under our Stern, caus’d me to
lok fight of him, but I faw feveral dexd Bodies
Hoating at the fame time s likewife inanother En.
cagement, where a Man had both his Legs fhot
ofi, and died Inflantly, they threw over his Legs;
thongh they funk, 1 faw his Body floar : Lile-
wile [ have {een feveral Men who have died na-
tur:] Deaths at Sca, they have when they have
beeir dead had a confiderable Weight of Ballaft
and Shor made faft to them, and {o were thrown
over-toand 3 becaufewe hold it foragencral Rule,
that all Men fwim if they be dead before they
come: mnto the Water ; and on the contrary Ihave
feen Men when they have been drowned, that they
have funk as foon as the Breath was out of their
Bodies, and [ could e no more of them. For
Inftance, a Man fell out of the Cerneeel, and funk
down to rights, and feven Days afterwards we
weighed Anchor, and he was brought up graip-
Ing his Arm about the Cable ; and we have ob-
ferved in feveral Cafes, that where Men fall over-
board, as foon as their Breath is out of their Bo-
dies they fink downright, and on the contrary

where a dead Body is thrown over-board with-
out Weight it will fwim.

M. Jones. You have been in a Fight; How do
Bodies Hoat after a Battle ?

E, Clement. Men float with their Heads juft
down, and the fmall of their Back and Buttocks
upwards : 1 have feen a great Number of them,
fome hundreds in Beachy-bead Fight, when we en-
gag’d theFreirch. I was in the old Cambridee at that
Time. Ifaw feveral (what Number I will not be
pofitive, but there were a areat Number, I can’t
gucls to a Score) that did really fwim, and I
could fee them float for a confiderable Diftance.

Mr. Fones. Have you feen a Shipwreck ?

L. Clement, Y es; the Coronation in September 1091,
I was then belonging to the Dutebefs, under the
Command of Captain Clewent; we look’d out and
fee them taking down their Mafts; we faw the
Men walking up and down on the right Side,
and the Ship fink down, and they fivam up and
down like a Shoal of Fith one after another ; and
I fee them hoverone upon another, and fce then
dropaway by Scores at a time, and there was an
Account of about Ninercen that fav’d themfelves,
fome by Boats, and others by Swimming ; but
there were no more fuv’d out of the Ship’s Com-
plement,which was between five and fix Hundred,
and the reftI faw finking downrighe, fome twen-
ty at a time. There was a Fitherman broughe
our Captain Word, that in laying in of his Nets
he drew up fome Men clofe under the Rocks that
were drowned belonging to the Coronatisn,  We
generally throw i Bags of Ballalt with them.

Mr. Fones. I {uppofe all Men that are drown-
ed, you fink them with Weights ?

L. Cleanent, Formerly Shot was allowed for
that purpofe 5 there us’d to be threefcore Weisht
of Iron, but now ’ts a Bag of Ballaft that is
nade faft to them.

Mr, Fones. Then you take it for a certain
Rule, that thofe that are drowned fink, bur thofe
that are thrown over-board do not ?

L. Cleient. Yes; otherwife why thould the Go.
vernment be at chat vaft Charge to allow three-
{core or fourfcore Weight of Iron to fink every
Man, but only that their Swimming about fhoukd
not be a Difencouragement to others ?

Then Richard Gin wwas foora,
Mr. Foiues. You hear the Queltion ; Pray what

ao you fay to it ?

R. Gin. 1 was at Sea a areat while, and all the
Men that I fee turned over-board had a great
Weight at their Heels to fink them.

Mr. Joues. Then will they fwim otherwife ?

R. Gin. So they fay.

Mr. Feuecs. Are you a Seaman ?

R. Gz, Twentagainfl my Will in two Fiohes,

Mr. Jeics. Then Gentlemen of the Jury, 1 Lope
we have given you Satisfaction that Mrs. 87 did
not drown herlelf, but wascarried mto the Water
atter fhe was killed, That was the firlt Queition ;
for if it be true that all dead Bodies when they are
put into the Water do fwim, and the Bodies that
o alive into the Water and are drowned do fink,
this is fufficient Evidence that fhe came by her
Death not by drowning, but fome other Way,
Now, my Lord, as to the fecond Matter, and thac
is to give fuch Evidence as we have againft chefe
Gentlemen at theBar. Mr. Cowper, 1t appears,was
the laft Man that any one can give an Account of

wits
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was in her Company. What Became of her after-
wards, or where they went, no Body can tell; but
the other Witnefles have given you Evidence that
he was the fat Man that was with her. I {hall
only give this further Evidence as to Mr, Cmfar,
That notwithftanding all the Civility and Kind-
nefles that pafs’d between him and this Famuly,
when the Bruit and Noife of this Faét was {pread
abroad, M. Cowper did not come to confiderand
confult with old Mrs Ster¢ what was to bedone ;
but he took no manner of Notice of it, and the
next Day he rode out of Town, without further

taking Notice of it.
Call George Aldridge, and John Archer.

John Atcher was fivorn,

Mr. Foues. Do you know any thing of Mr.
Cowper’s going out of Town about this Bufinefs
of Mrs. Stout’s being drowned ?

¥ dreber. Yes, 1did fee him go out of Town
afterwards.

Mr. Foies. Which Way did he go?

7. dreher. Fle went the Back-way from the
Glove s I fuppofe he came that Way.

Mr, Cowper, What Day was it I went? Is it
not the Way that I us'd to go when I go the
Circuit into Lffex.

7. Archer. Yes, I believe fo.

Mr, Cocoper. 1 lodg’d at Mr. Barefost's, and
he has a Back-door to the Glsve, where my Horfe
was, and [ went the diret Way into Zffex, and
it was fVediefday Morning : What Day was it
you fee me go ¢

7. drcheir. It was on the IWednefday Morning.

Mr, Cowper, That was the very Day I weng
o Lffex.

Then George Aldridge svas fosra.

Mr. Jones, When did Mr, Cowper a0 out of
LTown the laft Affizes?
G. Aldridge. On IWeduefday.
My, Jones. Which Way did he go?
(. Aldiidge. He went the Way to Chelsford.
Mz, Fones. Did you not fetch his Horfe from
Stout’s?
G. dldridze. Yes, Sir.
Mr. Fones. How often did you go for it?
G. Aldridge. Three Times,
Mr. Yoies. When 2
G. Aldridge. OnTuefday Nighe I {ent once, and
went twice my felf; the firlt Time there wids no
Body ar home to deliver the Horfe, fo T went to
Mr. Stent’s, and afk’d him about the Horfe, and
he faid he could not deliver him till the Maid

went home, and then 1 went about Eleven of the
Llock and had the Horfe.

Mr. Baron Hayfell, Was it Eleven at Night?

G. Aldridge, Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Cozper. When 1 fent you to fetch my
Horle, what DireGions did I give you?

G. Aldiidge. Y ougave me Dire@ions to fetch your
lorfe, becaufe you faid you fhould have occafion
to go out nexr Morning betimes with the Judge.

Mr. Cozper. “The Reafon I fene for my Horfe
wus this 5 when I heard fhe had drowned her (elf,
I'think itconcern’d me in Prudence ro fend 2 coni-
mon Foftler for him, for fear the Lord of the
Manor fhould feize all that was there as forfeited.

Mr. Baron Hatfell, There was no Danger of
that, for fhe was found Noi COMpos menlts,

1YWL YL

Mr. Cowper. No, my Lord, I fent before the
Verdidt.

Mr.-Fones. 1t feems you did not think fi¢ ¢,
go and take Horfe there your felf, though you
put your Horfe there.

Now, my Lord, we will go on and give e
other Evidence that we opened concerning hef:
three other Gentlemen that came to Town, (g
of them took Lodgings at Gurrey’s at Five in gy,
Afternoon, but did not come in i}l between Ele.
ven and Twelve, and then they brought anotjier
inwith them ; and though he had been in Towy
five or {ix Hours, his Feet were wer 10 his Shoes,
and his Head was of a reeky Swear ; he had been
at fome hatd Labour T believe, and not drigl-
ing himfelf into fuch a Sweat.

Cell John Gurrey, Matthew Gurrey, and Elig,
Gurrey,

John Gurrey <was fivora,

Mr, Foies. Do you know any of the Genle.
men at the Bar ¢

¥. Gurrey, Yes.

Mr. Fones. Name who you know.

S~ Gurrey, There is Mr. Stevens, Nr, Roprs
and Mr. Mayfon,

Mr. Fones. Pray, do you remember when thes
took Lodging at your Houle? '

F.Gurrey. The laftAliizes s when they Grfl came,
there was only Mr, Stevens and Mr. Revore,

Mr. Fenes. At what Time did they take i

S+ Grrrey. Twas at Church, and can’c rel] thay,
they hir’d the Lodgings of my Wif,

Mr. Founes, What can you fay more?

7 Grricy. T'was in at Night when they came;
there came three of them at Kleven at Niahy,
whereof Mr, Meifon was the third Perfon, and he
{ard he was deftitute of a Lodging, and he afl’d for
a fpare Bed 5 my Wife told him fhe had one, by
had fet1t ; whereupon Mr. Stevans and Mr. Regr;
faid he fhould lodge with them 5 fo they went up
all rogether,and they call’d fora Firero be kindled,
and afk’d for the Landlord, which was I, and they
afk’d me to ferch a Bottle of Wine, and I ol
them Iwould fetch a Quare,which Idid 5 and then
they afk’d me to fit down and drink with them,
which I didy and then they afk’d me if one Mrs,
Sarab Stent did notliveinTown, and whether (L
was a Fortune ¢ 1faid yes ; chen they faid chey did
not know how to cometo the Siehe of her;and |
faid I would fhew them her to-morrow Moraing,
not queltioning but I might fee her fome tme s
the was coming down the Street ;5 fo they faid
they would go to fee her.  Mr. Rogersand Mr.
Stevens charged Mr. Maifen with being her old
Sweetheart; faith Mr, Mai/oir, the hach thrown

me off, but a Friend of mine will be even with
her by this Time.

Mr. Baron Hatfe/l. W hat a-Clock was it then?
J- Gurrgy. 1 reckon Eleven of the Clock when

they came 1n.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Did you obferve in what

Condition Mr. Marfan was in?

7. Garrey. I did not obferve, only that he was

hot, and put by his Wig; T fee his Hlead waswet,
and he faid he was jult come from Loudssz, and that
made him in fuch a Heac.

Mr. Fones. Had he Shoes or Boots on ?
7. Gurrey, 1 did not obferve thar,

Mr. Foes. What did they dot bz next Day?
_7‘. Gurr $L

1
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4. Gurrey. The nexi Morning [ heard this Par- fuaded the Widow Blewit to have watch’d her?
ty wasinthe Waters I farup all Night, and was . Gurrey. There was fomething of thar,
fin to wait till my Daughter came down to look Mr, Cowper. Was there not _i'ome fuch Words,
after the Shop, and then I went to feeher, and  that they muft not meddle with Sarab Walker,
fhe was remov’d into the Barn, and they werewip-  for fhe is the Witnels againft the Cowpers?
ing her Face, clofing her Eyes, and puttingup /. Gurrey. Iaid, Do not concern your felf with
her Jatws 3 and as I came back thefe Perfons were  Sarab Watker, for fear of takingoft her Evidence.
walking, and I'met Mr. Marfon and Mr. Stevens,  Mr, Cowper. Pray, did not the Widow Davis
and told them the News : Said I, this Perfon is  warm the Shects for thefe Gentlemen
come to a fad Accident: Say they, {o we hear; 7. Gurrey. She was with my Wife, butl can’c
but neverthelefs we will be as good as ourWord, fay whether fhe warm’d the Sheets.
and co and fee her. Twengwith them, and over-  Mr, Gowper. When they came home, had you
rook Mr. Rogers 5 and Marfon faid, we are going any Lodgers that wanted to come home? Had
to fee Mrs. Stont, O Landlord, fad Regers, you not you one Gape ? |
mav take up thar Rogue (pointing act Mr. Marfon) 7. Gurrey. 1 can’t fay whether he was in before
for what he faid Jaft Night ; bue I did not think, or after them. ' |
they fpeaking fo jocularly, that there was any  Mr. Cowper, Did not you fay to your Sifter Davis,
Sufpicion of their being concern’d in theMurder,  Now thefe Gentlemen are in Bed, if Mr, Gage
A fecond time Twent, the Barn-door was lock™f;  would come home, our FFamily would be guiet?
I knock', and they open’d it and letusin, and 7. Gurrey. 1 do not remember that.
they urcover’d her Face to let me {ee her, and | Mr. Cowper. Pray, did not you go to look
touch’d her s and Jooking about {or them, they for Mr. Gape?
were onne, ond 1 can’c fay they fee her ortouch’d 7. Gurrey. Yes, I went to Hockley's,
her: “Then Mr. Adarfon and they were confultng Mr. Cowperr, Who did you employ to fpeak to
how to lend a Great Coat to Lowden, and 1 dire- Mr. Gape?
tted them to @ Coachman at the Be/l-Fan s but I . Gurrey. Mus. Hockley.
did not hear he went to enquire after the Coach- Mr. Cowper. When youcame home to your own
man 5 then they went to your Lordfhip’s Cham- Houfe, and after you had been at Hoclley’s to
ber, and 1 went home s and about Eleven of the ipeak with Mr. Gape, what Account did you give
Clock 1 faw Mr. Marfeirand Mr. Sicvens coming  of the Timeof Night, and other Particulars ?

dovn with Mr. Speircer Cozoper. 7. Gurrey. 1 gave no Account of the Time.
Mr. Maifei. I did not go out that Nightafter ~ Mr. Cowoper. Not to Mrs. Dagis?

I came in, F. Gurrey. I can’t tell whether I did or no.
Mr, jones. No; we agree that. Did you fee ™ Mr. Gozeper. Did not you fay Mr. Gape afk’d

Mr. Cozper and thefe Gentlemen together? Mrs. Hockley what a-Clock it was ?

J. Grrrgs. Only at Bleven of the Clock on ¥, Gurrey. No, Idon’t remember that 5 but
Tixfiay Noon, Mr. Cowper, Mr. Merfon, and Mr.  Mrs. Hockley went in and told him what Time of
Stezens were coming down to theMarket-place.  Night it was 3 it was Eleven or Twelve of the

Mr. Jeies Did not they take their Leave of you  Clock, whether I can’t fay.
whenthey went away from you that Forenoon ? Mr. Jones. CallMertha Gurrey, (Whowas fusern,)

/- Guiry. No s only in the Morning they told  Which of thefe Gentlemen do you know ?
me they would fend me Word at Noon if they  Mrs. Gurrey,  Mr. Marfon, Mr. Regers, and
intended to lodge there. Mr. Stevens,

Mr. Merfen. 1 defire toknow of Mr. Gurrey, if  Mr. Fowes. What Time of the Night was it
his Sifler was not in the Room when we came in ? when they came to your Houle? Give an Ac-

. Gurrey. She was in our Houfe that Day;  count of it, and of what you heard them fay,

but whether when they came in, T can’t tell. Mrs, Gurrey. It was a little after Five, or
Mr. Cowper. Pray, have you not had fome Dif-  thereabouts, that they came———.
courle with your Sifler, the Widow Davis, con-  Mr. Fomes. Who came?

cerning fome Sufpicion that vou had of Sarab Mrs, Gurrey, Mr. Stevens, and Mr. Rogers, and
iFeifer, that hath been produced as a Witnefs?  there was one Mr. Gilbert, that marricd a fr(t

I Girrey. 1 don’t remember any fuch. Coufin of mine, he came and afk’d me for my

Mr.Cowper, Thendid not you fay thefe Words, Hufband 3 and 1 afk’d him his Bultnefs, and he
Wemuft not concern ourfelves wich Sareh 177l faid, he wanted to fpeak with him———.
ery for fhe is the only Witne(sagainf the Coiopers? M. Fones, Pray come to thefe Men; when

J-Guricy, 1 can’t remember any fuch Thing,  did they come to your Houfe?

Mr. Baron Hatfell You may anfwer accordingto  Mrs. Gurrey. They hired the Lodging at Five
the beft of what you remember 5 if you fay you of the Clock. When they firft came to fee them I
bave forgor when you have not,you are forfworn,  was not at home : Mr. Gilbert brought them, and

Mr. Cowper. If your Lordthip pleafes to give as I was comingalong the Street I faw Mr.Gilbers
Leare to Mr. Gurrey to recolle@® himfelf, I afk walking off, and would not look at me. a—-
him, whether he did not talk with nis Siter Dav/s Mr, Fones. When did they go out?
about fome Sufpicion his Wife and he had about  Mrs. Gurrey. “They never ftaid there,

Sarab IPafker, the Maid-fervant of the Deceas'd 7 M. Fones. When did they come in again ?

J. Guirey, 1believe there might be fomeTalk  Mrs. Gurrey Between Eleven and Twelve,

ofa Perfon that was feen to go into the Church-  Mr, Baron Hatfell. What did they do when

yard at fome Diftance with Sarah Walker. they came in again ?
Mr. Coweper, Did your Wite {uy that the did ~ Mrs. Gurrey. [ was laying on fome Sheets two
f“fpi'& that Perfon? Pair of Stairs when theycame, and then there was
J- Gurrey, Yes. three of them 3 fo they faw me a licele after, and

1 Mr. Cowper. Did your Wife fay they behav’d begg'd my Excufe forbringing inanother, for they
themfelves {trangely, and that (he would have per-  faidicwas{o late that they could not geta Lodging
Voi, V. | Ee any
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any where elfe; and faid, if I thought fir, the
Gentleman fhould lie with them; and I told
them I liked 1t very well.

Mr. Fones. What Firing had they?

Mrs. Gurrey, The Firing I laid on in the
Morning, and they fent for my Hufband to fetch
them fome Wine.

Mr. Fones. What did you hear them ralk on?

Mrs. Gurrey. They difcours’'d with my Huf-
band, and afk’d him if he knew Mrs. Sarab Storet ;
and one of them faid to Mr. Marfon, I think fhe
was an old Sweetheartof yours s ay, faid he, but
fhe tirn’d me off, but a Friend of mine 1s even
with her: And Mr. Roegers faid he was in with
her, and alterwards faid, her Bulinefs was done.
They had a Bundle, that was wrapt in a pure
white Cloth, like to an Apron, but I can’t fay it
was an Apron ;3 and there was a Parcel hanging
loofe by it; and when he lud 1t down he fud,
he would pafs his Word Mrs. Seialr Stont’s court-
ing Days were over; and I faid, I hoped "twas
no Hurt to the Gentlewoman 3 and then I look-
ing upon Mr, Marfon, faw him put his Peruke
alide, and his Head reek’d, and he told them he
was but juft come from London that Night, which
made him difappomred of a Lodging.

Mr. Fones. What duad you hear them fay about
any Money ?

Mrs. Grirey. Tafk’d them how they would have
their Bed warm’d, and Mr. Marfor anfwer’d, very
hot : With that T went down to {fend my Daugh-
ter up, and {he could not go prefently 5 T okl
her then the muft go as foon as the could.

Mr. Baron Hetfell. Pray don’t tell us what
pafs’d beeween you and your Davghter @ What
o you know of thefe Gentiemen?

Mrs. Gurrcy. I went to the next Room, o fee
if every thing was as 1t fhould be s I hearkencd,
and they had fome Difcourfe about Money, and
I heard forme-body (I don’t know who it fhould
be except it were Mr. Stevens) anfwer and fay,
the Ule-money was piuid to-night 3 but what Mo-
ney they meant, 1 can’e tell.

Mr. Yenes. What did you find when they were

oone ¢
2 * .
Mrs. Guriey. Siry T found a Cord at the Fnd

of theTrunk.

Mr. fones. Was it there in the Morning, or
before they came ?

Mrs., Guriey, No, it could not, for I fwept my
Room, and wiped down the Duft.

Mr. Foines, Was the Cord white ?

Mus, Gurrey. No, 1t was more dirty than it is
now, for my Hufband and I haveworn it inour
Pockets,

Mr. Cowper. Pray, who brought the Cord
Jown from above Stairs ?

Mrs. Guriey. My Daughter that iv’d with me,
and fhe laid 1t upon the Shelf,

Mr, Cowper. Did not you hear there was o
Coroner’s Inquelt fitting?

Mus. Guricy. The next Day ar Nighe I did
hear of 1t

Mr. Cowper. Why did not you go to the Coro-
ner’s Inquelt and give an Account of ic there?

Mrs. Gurrey. 1 told my Hufband of it, and I
all’'d my Husband 1f he did not hear whar they
faid concerning Mrs. Sarab Siont,and he anfwer'd,
yes, they ounght to be raken up for the Words
they [aid Taft Night: Why, faith I, don’t you take
notice of it ? Ithink you ought to take them up.
But lie went out of Doors, and I faw no more of

him till the Afrernoon. When Theard the Wrgs
I thought fome-body had ftole awuy and gor g
bed to her,

Mr.Cowper, Pray, il your IT1ufband heard thefe
Words, why did no: he go to the Coroner’s 1.
queft ?

Mrs. Gurrey. T did {peak to him to have they
taken up.

Mr. Crzoper. Why did he not do it ?

Mrs, Geriey. He faid he would not do it 5
did not know but it might colt him his Life.

Mur. Jones. Towcame you afterthistodifcoverp

Mrs. Gurrey. Becaule T was fo treubled in Mipy
I could not reft Night nor Days and I told i
if he would not tell of it, T would wll of ir me
felt, for I was not able to hve. /

Their 1hzabeth Guirey wus oo,

Me, Jeites. Pray, do youknow M, Rogers, M,
Stevens, and Mr. Alerfeir ?

E. Gurpev. Vhnow Mre, Ao, and thefe ure
the other Gentlemen T reclzon.

Mr. Feires. What Difcourfe did you hear fron
them?

L. Guizey, My, Aavfon afk’d the other Gentfe.
men how much Money they had fpents the othe
anfwer’d, what was that to mm 7 you have hyj
forty or fifty Pounds to your Share, Then e
other afl’d himy, whether the Bafinels was done?
and he :m{-u-"et"d, e Belicd ft Wiy s but if'ft W,.3
not done, 1t would be done to-night. Then, my
Lord, he pull’d a handful ot Money out of hi
Pocket, and fwore he would fpend ic all for Jor
the Bufine{s was done. o

M. Foires. \Was Mr. Cozoper’s Wame mention' !

E. Guyizy, I heard them mention Mr, Csiopors
Name, but not Murs, Saiab Secut’s,

Mr. Foies. What Condition was the Gentke
man’s Shoes i ¢

E Guirey. I think it was Mr, Maifen, his Shos
were very wetand dirtys oncof them wasvery hoy,
and he wiped his Head wich his Handkerchief.

Mr.7ones. Now, niy Lord, we have done asto
our Evidence. Mr. Merfon pretended he was jii
then alighted and come from Loidoi, and was 1.
areat Fleat, and his Shoes were wet ¢ 1 wondir
what Mr. Marfer had been doing 5 for whent:
was examimned, he faid, he came to Town abo::

o

e

Fight of the Clock, and went to the G
LDelphin Inn, and Ray'd there tilf he came to i
Lodging. Now ’tis a wonderful Thing that I
{hould come wetthod from a Tavern, wherekh:
had been fitting four or five Hours together,

[ Then the Lxaiination of M. John DMarlo
was rcad. ]

The Examination of Joux MaRrsow, take

before Me, this 27 Day of April, 1699,

I’[/r H O being examin’d where he was on Moaoned:

the 13th of March laff, faith, That be wwes
the Borough of Southwark (he being ain Aitoiss:
of the faid Court) till paft Four of the Clock in1b: 4
ternoort 5 aid faith, That be [t aut from Southw.s

for Herttord foon after, and came 1o Hertford ae

Light of the Clock the faiie cftcrnoon, and prlip [
Horfe atthe Sign of —— an T there, andih

went 1o the Fland and Glove, together with Godfief

Gimbart, £fg; LElis Stevens, William Rogers,

and foure others, where they flay'd till about Ll vt Ef,
the Clock at Night, and then this Examinai <
thence dﬁ'c‘ff{}' to 1he Hb!{ﬁ? ::fj[)hn Gurrey, ‘:;,:

/
i

Li
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the faid Stevens and Rogers, who lay all Logether i
the faid Gurrey’s Houfe fz!Z that Nngt. And being
(i dzzhatbe Jaid concerning the faidMrs.SarahStout,
diccos’dy 1his Examinest faith, That on Sunday th
1athof March left, this Examinant being in Compa-
iy wwith ene Thomas.Marthall, and telling bim that
bis Exominont intended the next Day for Hertford
eith the Marfbal of the King’s-Bench, the faid
1homas Marthall defired this Exaninant and the
fa i1 Seevens, who was then alfo in Company, that they
cold go and fee the faid Sarah Stout (his Sweet.
Feort). He confelfeth, That bedidafk the faid Gurrey
i bewwsitld focco 1his Examinant where ff.?f Jaid Stout
lived, telling the faid Gurrey that bis Name was
Marthally, cnd aft’d bim if be never beard of bim
before, aid jocilawly foid, Thal be wouldgo to fee ber

J ! y .
the wevt Meining s but doth not believe that be faid

ory Hhing that ﬁ;_}* Iricnd ceas evenwith the fafd Sa-
rah Swouty o1 10 fuch like Effed. And doth confefs,
That ke did the next Day, npoin the faid Gurrey’s
telfing bim that the faid Stout was arowned, fay, that
be sorldkecp bisHord, andiconld fee ber. dnd faith,
That wecting woith Mi. Cowper (who i« this Exam;.
nant’s deguaintance) be believes be did talk with iy
coaceriting the faid Stout’s being drowned, this Exa-
sinaint baving feen ber Body that Morning,

Cogn. Die& Anno
antediét, coram

. Holt.

Mr. Fones. All that T obfervefrom it, is this .
that he had been five Hours inTown, and when
he came to his Lodging he came in wet and hot,
and faid he was juft comie from Londo.

Mr, Maifon. 1 had nd forty Miles that Day,
and could not be {oon cold.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. T hey have done now for the
Kings come Mr. Cowper, what do you fay to it ?

Mr. Foues. 1f your Lordfhip pleafe wewill call
one Wiels more, Mary Richardfon. Mrs. Rich-
ardforry 1o you know Mr. Marfan, or any of thefe
Gentlemen ¢

Mrs. Richardfon. They came on Tuefday Night
to the Be/lat Hoddefdon and lay there, and one of
the Gentlemen, when I was warming the Sheets,
afl’d me it [ knew Mrs, Sarab Stonr 2 and 1 faid
yes. He afk’d me if Tknew which Way fhe came
to her End ? and T told him I could not tell.

Mr. Foizes. Is thatall? what did they fay more?

Mrs. Richerdfon. They did defire and with it
mght be found out how it came about, and one
Gentleman took no notice of her at all. They had
a hetle Bundle, bur what was in it I can’s tell,
but there I faw it bound up in fome colour’d Stuff
or other, bur what it was I can’t tell.

Mr. Foes. Ts that all you can fay ?

Mrs, Richardfsn. Yes, that’s all.

Mr. Feones. Then we have done.

Mr. Baron Hazfil, Come, Mr. Cowper, what
do you fay o ic?

= Cowper. Now they have doneon the Partof
the Kirg, my Lord, and you Gentlemen of the
Jury, T muft beg your Patience for my Defence.
Lcontefs, it was an unfortunate Accident for me
(as Mr. Fones calls it) that I happen’d to be the
Lt Perfon (for ought appears) in the Company
of a melancholy Woman. ‘The Difcourfe occa-
fion’d by this Accident had been a fufficient Mif-
fnrtupt to me, without any thing elfe to aggra-
YAe It s but Idid not in the leaft imagine that fo

liitle, rfu trivial an Evidence as here is, could
Vou, V, -

John Marfon,

21%

poflibly haveaffefted me to fo great a Degree, as
to bring me to thisPlace to anfwer for the worft
Fact that the worlt of Men can be guilty of.

My Lord, your Lordfhip did juft now obferve,
that I have appear’d at the Bar for my Clients ;
but I muft fay too, that I never appear’d for my
felt under this, or the like Circumftances, asa
Criminal, for any Offence whatfoever.

Mr. Fones very well faid, when he fpoke on the
Part of the King, T hat if this Gentlewwoman was
murther’d, the Crimewas Villainous, Bafe, Barba-
rous, and Cruel ;5 and for my Part I think fo too;
the Crime would be fo great, that it could never
be fufficiently condemn’d : But at the fame time
I may aver, that to fuppofe a Murther without
good Grounds for it, and afterwards to charge
innocent Men with it knowingly and malicioufly,
isto a T'rifle as Bafeand Barbarous as the Murther
itfelf could be. My Lord, I fpeak for my own
Part; Iknow not at what Price other Men may
value their Lives, but I had much rather my felf
was murther’d than my Reputation ; which vyet
I am fenfible hath fuffer’d greatly hitherto by the
Malice and Artifice of fome Men, who have gone
pretty far in making this Fact, as Barbarous as
It 15, to becredited of me. And cherefore I muft
beg your Lordfhip’s and the Jury’s Patience,
while I not only defend my Life, but juftify
my {clf alfo from thefe things that have unjuftly
afpers’d me, by the Confpiracy and Artifice of
my Accufers. |

My I .ord, inall the Evidence that hath been
given, I muft obferve, that there is no pofitive
Evidence, with Submiffion, to induce the Jury or
any one to believe the General, that this Gentle-
woman was murther’d ; but they go upon Suppo-
ficions and Inferences, which are contradicted by
other Circumftances, in the very Evidence of the
Prolecutor, that make full as ftrong to prove fhe
was not murther’d, as that fhe was; fo that, as
it ftands, it can amount only to a bare Suppoliti-
on that fhe was murther’d by any Body.

‘Then, asto the Evidence that particularly re-
lates to my felf, orthe Gentlemen who ftand with
me at the Bar, that they or I were concern’d in
it (1f fhe was murther’d) there is not one Syllable
of Proof ; at moft, it amounts but to make us
fufpet a Murther, not prov’d, but only fufpett-
ed: This Iobferve upon the Evidence, as it now
ftands without Anfwer, as it has been given on
the King’s Part: And how far, in the Cafe of
Life, Mcn fhall be affeted wich Evidence of this
nature, which neither proves the Murther in
general, nor that they did it in particularly, tho®
no Detence was made, or any further Anfwer
given, I muft {ubmit to your Lordthip’s and the
Jury’s Judgment.

But, my Lord, I do not doubt but I fhall be
able to wipe away even that remote Sufpicion by
my Defence: They have been long in their Evi-
dence for the King, and therefore I muft beg your
Patience while I givea particular Anfwer to eve-
ry Part of it, inas good a Method asI am able 3
and I will walfte as lictle Time as may confift
with the juftifying my Reputation; for which I
know your Lordfhip will have as tender a Re-
gard, to fee 1t doth not fuffer unjuftly, as for my
Life 1t felf.

And I promife your Lordfhip, I fhall trouble
you with no Evidence which 1s not exprefs and
plin; no Inuendo’s or Sufpicions; but I fhall

Eeo prove
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prove fully and clearly, ‘in the firft place, That
there was no Ground at all, in this Cale, to fup-
pofe fhe was murther’d by any one but herfelf.
The firft Faét that they infifted upon to infer
a Murther from it, was, that the Body was found
floating: Now, my Lord, that Fact I amable by
the Evidence 1 have, as well as from that of the
Profecutor, to deny; for the Fact was directly
otherwife, thatis, fhe was not found floating.
And whereas the Profecutor’s Witnefles, who
have been produced to this Point, are obfcure
and poor Men, and, your Lord{hip obferves, have
been taught to fay generally that fhe floated ;
which, when they are requir’d to explain, and
defcribe how the lay, they contradiét themfelves
in, by fhewing fhe lay fideways between the
Stakes, and almoft all under Water. Now I fhall
give your Lordfhip and the Jury a full and par-
ticular Account and Defcription from the Parth
Ofticers, Men employ’d by the Coroner to take
the Body out of the Water, of the very Manner
and Poflure in which it was firt found 5 which
they are much better able to do than the Profe-
cutor’s Witneffes, having fecn her before all or
moft of thofe People 3 and thefe Officers clearly
agree, that her Body was under Warter when
found, except fome fmall Appearance of her Pet-
ticoats, ncar or on the Surface of the Water,
which may be very eafily accounted for, becaufle
theStakes the Witneffes mention, and which are
driven into the Ground crofs the River, to pre-
vent Weeds and Trumpery from running into the
Mill-ftand, as the Witnefles have already faid, a-
bouta Foot diftant from one another, and are fet
with their Feet from the Mill, and their Heads
inclining toward the Mill with theStream. Now
my Lord, every one knows, that tho’ adrowned
Body will at firft fink, yet is buoyant, and does
not go downright and reft in one Place like Lead ;
for a human Body is feldom or never in a Stream
found to lic where it was drown’d: A Body
drown’d at Che/fea has been often found by Fiiher-
micn at London, and that before it came to foat
ubove Water. Now, if a Body is fo buoyant, as
that it is driven down by the impellent Force of
the Current (tho’ it do not floatabove Water) it
feems a Confequence, that when it comes to be
ftopp’d and refifted by the Stakes, which lie with
their Headsdownward, inclining with the Stream,
the Stream bearing the Body againft the Stakes,
mult needsraife 1t upwards to find another Paf-
fage if pofible, when the Ordinary and Natu-
ral 1s obftruéted, I have feen, I remember, that
where Weeds have been driven down a River,
and have been rouled alongat the Bottom, when
they have come down to a Board or Stakes of 1
Wyer, or Turnpike, they have been by the Force
of the Water raifed up againft thofe Boards, or
Stakes, and forced over them, tho® without fuch
Obftruction they had undoubtedly continued to
roul under the Water. T don’t know of any o-
ther Symptom they pretend to, of her not being
drowned, from any thing obferv’d of her in tha
Water. Then, as to the Flatnefs of her Belly,
when fhe was put into her Coffin, I fhall thew
"tis 2 common and natural Accident; fometimes
drowned Bodiesare {well’d more, fometimes lefs,
fometimes not atall: I think it hardly deferves a
Phyfician to prove that a Body may be drowned
with very litcle Water; thara Man may bedrown-
¢d by Strangling or Suffocation, caufed by a

lietle Water in the Lungs, without any greay
quantity of Water recetv’d in theBody, 154 cyr-
tain and eftablith’d Truth 3 for I am told thye
when Refpiration ceafes, the Party dies, and e
receive no more Water after that: So that ye.
thing is to be infer’d from a Body’s having more
or lefs Water found 1n it, efpecially if your Lord-
fhip will give me Leave to obferve this Diftip.
(tion, where a Body is voluntarily drowned, ang
where it 1sdrowned by Accident; for People thy
fall in by Accident do fruggle and ftrive aslong
as they can; every time they rife they drink fomg
Water 1nto the Stomach, to prevent its pafling
into the Lungs, and are drowned no fooner thap
needs mufts but Perfons that voluntarily drown
themfelves, to be {uredefparately plunge into the
Water, to difpatch a mijerible Life as foon g
they can; and {o that httlequantity in the Lungs
which caufes Death may be the looner taken in;
after which no more isreceiv’d : And I hope by
Phyficians it will appear there is cood Ground
for this Difierence,

The next is the Evidence that the Surgess
have given on tihe other Part, relating to the w-
king this Gentlewoman out of her Grave afir
fhe had been buried fix Weeks,  Whether this
ought to have been givea n Evidence, for the
Reafons I hineed at in a Criminal Cade, T fubmi;
to your Lord{hip; but, as it is, Ihaveno reafo:
to apprehend 1t, being able to make appear, tha:
the Gentlemen who Ipoike to this Potat have de-
liver’d themfelves in that manner, eicher our of
extream Malice, or a moft profound Ignorarce;
this will be fo very plain upon my Evidence, thar
I muft ke the Liberty to impute one or both of
thofe Caufes to the Gentlemen that have argucl
from their Obfervations upoen that Mateer.

And now, if your Lordthip will but pleafz to
confider the Circumftances under which thoy
wounld accufe me of this horrid Adion, T dos™
think they will pretend to fay, that in the whole
Courfe of my Life I have been guilty of any men
or indirect Action; and Iwill put ituvon the worlt
Enemy ! have inthe World to fay it. Now, fora
Man 1n the Condition I was in, of fome Fortuns
in Pofleflion, related to a better, in agood Lm-
ployment, thriving in my Profefiion, !iving with-
in my Income, never in Debt (I may truly fiy
not Five Pounds at any one ttme thefe Years paft)
having no Poffibility of making any Advantageby
her Dzath, void of all Malice, and, as avpzars by
her own Evidence, in perfedt Amity and Friend:
fhip with this Gentlewoman, to be guiliy of the
murthering her, to begin at the Top of all Bafes
nefs and Wickednefs, certainly is incredible.

My Lord, in this Profecution my Enemies
feeing the Neceflity of affigning fome Caufe, have
been {o malicious to fuggelt before (tho’ not now,
when I have this Opportunity of vindicating
my felf publickly) that I have been concern’d in
the Receipt of Money for this Gentlewoman,
had her Securities by me; and fometimes, thatl
had been her Guardian, or her Truftee, and!
know not what, I now fee the Contrivers and
Promoters of that Scandal, and they know 1c 0
be Bafe, Falfe, and Malicious; I never was con-
cern’d 1n Intereft wich her, directly or indiredi-
ly, and fo I told them when I was Lefore my
Lord Chief-Juftice: *Tis true, it was then jL_Iﬁ
luggefted by the Profecutors, I then denied ifs
and I deny it ftille——— 1 thack God, I

have
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have not been ufed, nor have I need, to deny

Truth.
thigyrigrd, you find the Profecutors have no-

thing to fay to me upon this Head, after all the
Slanders and Stories they have publifh'd againft
me, of my having Money 1n my hans which be-
jong’d to the Deceafed: But tho’ they do not
fhir i, I will, and give your Lordfhip a full Ac-
count of all that ever wasin that Matter. When
I lodg’d at Hertford, fome time fince, fhe defired
me to recommend to her a Security for 200/, if
it came in my Way; my Lord, when I came to
Town, lunderftood that one Mrs, Puller, a Client
of mine, had a Mortgage formerly madeto her by
one Mr. Loftus, of Lambeth in Surrey, for the like
Sum, and that fhe was willing to have in her Mo-
ney: Iwrote to this Gentlewomen, the Deceafed,
to acquaint her of the Seccurity 3 fhe thereupon
did fend up 200/. and fome odd Pounds for In-
tereft (the Account of which I produced to my
Lord Chict- Juftice } 5 thisMoney was fent tomeby
Mr.Cramfield, as I have been inform’d,and by him
given o Mr. Toller's Clerk, anfi by him brought
publickly to me: My Lord, tlnsMGrrgﬂ_gt [ 1m.
mediately transfere’d by Afhgnment, endors’d on
the Back of it, and Mrs. Habberfreld, 2 Truftee for
Nrs. Peilr, ign’d and feal’d 1, and that very 100/,
and Inreret due, was at one and the fame time
paid o Mrs, Puller, and by her the Principal was
paid to her Daughter, m Part of hur Portion,
All this was tranfatted the beginning of Deccinder
Jat, and fhe was not drowned ul] the 13th of
Nerch foliowing 1 And, my Lord, thefe People
that are now the Profecutors did own before my
Lord Chief- Juftice that they had found this Mort-
oace among the Decealed’s Writings in her Cabi-
nee at the Time of her Death,  Now, my Lord,
I fay, that faving this one Service I did her, as |
faid in Decenber 120, 1 never was otherwife con-
cern’d with her In the receiving or difpoling of
ary of her Money ; nor had I ever any of her Se-
curitics for Money in my keeping s and I defy
any Adverfary T have to thew the contrary.

My Lord, as there appears no Malice, no In-
terelt, fo they have prov’d for ime that there was
no Concealment of Shame, toinduce me to com-
mit fo barbarousan Aftion; otherwife, perhaps,
now they find they can aflign noother Caufe, they
vould content themfelves to give that Reafon,
and fling that Scandal at me: And tho’ Itake it
by the Iixperience I have had of them, they did
notdefign to domeany Favour, vet I thank them,
n endeavouring to vindicate her Honour, they
have {ecured my Reputation againft that Calum-
nys and tho’ I am faushed, as I faid, they did
not intend me Kindnefs, yet, I thank God, they
have given me a juft Opportunity to take Advan-
tage of their Cunning for the clearing of my In-
necence in that Particular.

Then, my Lord, not to reft it here, but to
latist/ the Ty and the J7orld how this Gentle-
woman came o deftroy her felf: 1 ihall give the
ciearclt Evidence that was evergiven in any Court
that the murther’d her fvlf. When I enter upon
this Proof, 1 muflt of necellity trefpafs upon the
Charader of this Gentlewoman thar is dead, I
confefs this is a tender Point, tisa thing I would
willingly be excufed from, and ’tis not without
great deal of Relu@ance and Compulfion forced
from me.  That fhe was melancholy the Profe-
“utors themfelves have prov’d s butlmuft of nes
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ceflity fhew you the Occafions and Reafonsof it,
and the Witnefles will tell your Lordfhip what
defparate Refolutions fhe had been under former-
ly, and that will lead me to near the Time of her
Death, to fhew why, and upon what Accidents,
fhe made away her {eff. Iwill not enumerate Pat-
ticulars by way of opening ; only I muit tell your
Lordfhip, that fome Letters of hers muft of necel-
fity be produced, which truly, as I faid, I fhould
not meddje with, if I had not thefe innocent Gen-
tiemen here to defend as wellasmy felf.  Perhaps
it may be faid, that in Honour I ought to conceal
the Weaknefs of this Gentlewoman; but then in
Honour and Juftice to thefe Gentlemen that are
fallly accus’d with me, Icannot do it : T hope this
one Reafon will excufe meto the World, for I have
no other that could have oblig’d me tobring thefe
Letters upon the Stage. I folemnly proteft, if 1
ftood here fingly in the Cafe of my own Life, up-
on the Evidence givenagainft me, I takeit to be
{fo inconfiderable, I would not do 1t; but I muft
do it, to fhew that thefe Gentlemen alfo are inno-
cent, and to preferve them, becaufe I am fatisfied
in my own Mind they are fo, My Lord, when 1
have done that, 1 fhall fhew your Lordfhip in
the next Place, that it is utterly 1mpofiible [
could be concern’d in this Fat, if I had had all
the Motives and Provocations in the World to
have done it I fhall fhew your Lordfhip, in
Point of Time 1t could not be,

The Maid Sarabh Walker, whoisthe fingle Wit-
nefs, I take it, that fays any thing 1n the leaft re-
lating to me, faid but new the Clock had ftruck
Illeven before fhe carried up the Coals, and about
a quarter of an Hour after, while [he was warm-
ing the Bzd above Stairs, fheheard the Door clap,
and fome timeafter that fhe came down and found.
that I and her Miltrefs were gone. Now in Poinc
of Time [ fhall prove it utterly impoffible I could
be guilty of the Fact T am accus’d of, being feen
to come into the Gleve-Inn as the Town-Clock
(truck Eleven, and ftaying there more than a
quarter of an Hour, was, after {everal things done
at my Lodging, in Bed before Twelve a-Clock,
and went no more out that Night, as I fhall prove.
As for that little Circumftance of fending for my
Horfe, which they have made ufe of all ajong to
back this Profecution, their very telling me of
that Matter, fhews how much they are put to
their Shifts to juttify their accufing mes I fay, in
Prudence I oughe to havedone whatI did: I fent
for him on the Tuefday, but, as their Witnefs faith,
I told him at thetime T bid him fetch my Horfe,
not to ufe then, nor till by the Courfe of the Cir-
cuit I was to go into-Effex with the Judges the
next Morning 5 and ’ull then the Prolecutor’s
Witnefs, who is the Hoftler of the Glove- Inn, was
order’d to fet him up there, to licter him down,
and totakecare of him and feed him, and that he
fhould be ready for me to go to Chelmsford onthe
Morrow, whither I went with the other Counfel
the next Morning being Wednefday: And this,
my Lord, is the Whole of that Matter.

My Lord, this Bufinefs flept near two Months
after the Coroner’s Inqueft before 1 heard of it, or
imagin’d my felf to be concern’d in i, and was
never ftire’d till ewo Parties, differing onall other
Occalions, had laid their Heads together: [ beg
leave to let your Lordthip a little into that Mat-
ter, to fhew you how this Profecution came to be

manag’d with [o much Noife and Violence as it
‘ | hath
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hath been. I can make it appear, thatone of the
oreateft of the Quakers, Mr. Mead by Nam:c, has
very much, and indirectly too, concern’d himfelf
in this Matcer : It feems they fancy the Reputati-
on of their Sec is concern’d in it; for they think
it 2 wonderful thing, nay, abfolutely impoffible
(however other People may be liable to fuch Re-
folutions) that one who was by her Education ¢n-
titled to the Light within ber, fhould run head-
long into the Water, as if fhe had been poflefs’d
with the Devil; of this they think their Sect is
to be clear’d, tho’ by fpilling the Blood of four
innocent Men. ‘The other fort of People that
concur with the Quakers in this Profecution, 1
fhall mention, now I come to obferve what the
Witnefles are that have been produced againit me;
fome of ’em I have nothing to objett to, but that
they arc cxtream indigent and poor, and have
been help’d by the Profecutor; thofe that are fo,
fay nothing as to me; others, who live in this
Town, and give their Opinions of the Manner of
her Death, are polleft with much Prejudice againft
me, upon Feuds that have rifen at the Elections of
my Father and Brother in this Town ; and thefe
with the Quakershave wholly drefs’d up this Mat-
ter for feveral Endss the Quakers, to maintain the
Reputation of their Sect ;5 and the others, to de-
ftroy, or breakat leaft, the Intereft of my Family
in this Place: But howevereftectual thefe Defligns
may have been to have made agreat Noife 1n the
World out of nothing, Iam fatished now that I
am in a Court of Juftice, where no Perfon’s Re-
putation, much lels his‘Life, will be facrificed to
the Policy or Malice of a Party without Proof 3
and therefore 1 have taken up fo much of your
Time, to fetthe erueRife of this Profecution be-
fore you in a clear Light.

My Lord, as to my coming to this T'own on
Monday, it vas the firfl Day of the Affizes, and
that was the Reafon that brought me hicher:
Before T came out of Town, Tconfefs, T had a
Defign to take a Lodging at this Gentlewoman’s
Houfe, having been invited by Letter {o todo;
and the reafon why T did not was this: My Bro-
ther, when he went the Circuit, always favour’d
me with the Offer ot a Part of his Lodging, which
out of good Hufbandry I always accepted : The
laft Circuit was in Parliament-time, and my Bro-
ther being in the Money-Chair, could not attend
the Circuit as he us’d to do; he had very good
Lodgings, I think one of the beft in this Town,
where T us'd to be with him s thefe were always
kept for him, unlefs notice was given to the con-
trary. The Friday before I came down to the Af-
fizes, 1 happen’d to be in Company with my Brother
and another Gentleman, and then T fhew’d them
the Letter by which I was carneftly invited down
to lic at the Houfe of this Gentlewoman during
the Aflizes"tis dated thegth of March laft) 5 and
defigning to comply with the Invitation, I there-
upon defir’d my Brother to write to Mr. Barzfoot,
our Landlord, and get him, if he could, to dif-
pofe of the Lodgings; for, faid I, 1 he keeps ’em
they muft be paid for, and then I cannot well
avoid lying there: My Brother did fay he would
wrrite, if hecould think on’ts and thus, if Mr. Baiee-
foot difpofed of the Lodgings, Iown I intended
tolie at the Deceafed’s Houfe 5 but if not, Ilook’d
on my felf ablig’d to lie at Mr. Barefoor’s.  Ac-
cordingly I fhalf prove, as foonas ever Icame to
this Town, in the Morning of the firft Day of the

Affizes, I went directly to Mr. Derefoo’s (the
Maid and all agree in this) and the Reafon wag,
I had not feen my Brother afrer he faid he wouly
write, before I wentoutof Loidon s and therefor,
’twas proper for me to go firlt to Mr. Bﬁj'ﬁﬁ;g:’sj
to know whether my Brother had wrote to b,
and whether he had difpos’d of his Lodgings o
not. Asfoon as I came to Mr. Barefssr’s, thep
was one Mr. Taykr, of this Town, came ta e,
and I in his hearing afl’d Mr. Barcfoot, his Wi,
and Maid-fervant, one after another, ifthey hy
receiv’d a Letter from my Brother to unbefpzyl;
the Lodgings; they told me No, that the Roon
was kept for us; and I think they had made
Fire, and that the Sheets were atring. I wasa
little concern’d he had not writ; but being fay.
fied that no Letter had been recetv’d, I faid im.
mediately,as I thall prove by feveral Witneffes, [f
it be {o, I muft ftay with you, Iwill take up my
Lodeing here: Thereupon I alighted, and fes;
for my Bag from the Cofice-houfe, and lodg’d aif
my Things at Barefoo!’s, and thus I took up iy
Lodging thereas ufual. Thad no fooncr done thi.,
but Sarah Valker came to me from her Miftref;
to invite me to Dinner, and accordingly I wep;
and dined there;and when I wentaway, tt may be
true, that beingafk’d, [ faid I would come agin
at Night; butthat I faid I would lie there, 1 do
pofitively deny, and knowing I could not li: there,
’tis unlikely I fhould fay fo. My Lord, at Night
I did come again, and paid her fome Money tha
Ireceiv’d from Mr. Loftus, who is the Mortgaeor,
for Interclt of the 200/, 1 before mention’d (it
was 6/. odd Money, in Guineas and Half-gui.
neas): I writ a Receipt, but fhedeclined the fign-
ing of it, prefling me to ftay there that Nigf,
which T refufed, asengag’d to lie atMr. Barefizr's,
and took my leave of her; and thatvery Money
which I paid her was tound in her Poclet, asi
have heard, after the was drowned.

Now, my Lord, the Reafon that I went tohr
Houfe at Night was firft, as I fud, to pay he
the Intereft-Money 3 1n the next Place, *twas buz
fitting, when I found my felf under a Neceflity
of difeppointing her, and lying at Bar:foot’s, togo
to excufe my not lying there, whichI had notan
Opportunity at Dinper-time to do. My Laor,
I open my Defence fhortly, referring the Paru-
calars to the Witnefles themfelves, in calling
thofe who will fully refute the Suppofitions and
Inferences made by the Profecutor, whom fifl,
my Lord, I fhall begin with, to fhew there is
no Evidence of any Murther at all committed ;
and this, T fay again, ought to be indifputably
made manifeft and prov’d before any Man can be
fo much as fufpected for it.

Mr. Baron Hetfell. Do not flourith too much,
Mr. Cowoper 3 if you have open’dall your Evidence
call your Witnefles, and when they have ended,
then make your Obfervations.

Mr. Cowper. Then, my Lord, Twill takeupno
moreof your Timein opening this Matter.

Call Robert Dew. (IVho app:aicd.)

When Mrs, Saiab Stont drowned her {elf; was nof
youa Parifh Ofhcer ?

R. Dew, T was—— I was next Houle 0
the Coach and Horfes, and about a Six a-Clock
came a little Boy (Thoinas Parker’sBoy) and faid
there was 2 Woman fallen into the River 1cof-
fider’d it was not my Bufinefs, but the Coroner’s

and
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fent the Boy to the Coroner, to acquaint
i?ri Evith it, and the Coroner fent Word by the

Boy, and defir’d fhe might be taken out; fo I
went To the River and faw her taken out : thelay
., the River (as near as | could guefs) half a Foot
- the Water 5 fhewas cover’d with Warer ; the
had a {triped Petticoat on, but nothing could be
(uen of it above Water. I heav’d her up, and fe-
veral Sticks were underneath her, and Flags 5 and
when they took her out, fhe froth’d at the Nofc

and Mouth. |
Mr, Cowper. Flow was fhe?  was fhe criven

cen the Stakes ?
bEt};?Dm. She lay on the right Side, her IHead
leaning rather downwards s and as they pull’d her
up, 1 cried, Hold, bold, bold, you burt ber /[f'm :
and fo they kneel’d down and took her Arm from

the Stakes. _
Mr. Cowper. Did you fee any Spot upon her

Arm? _
R. Dew. Yes, Sir. |
M. Cooper. What fort of Spot was it ?
R. Dew. It was reddith; 1 believe the Stakes

34 i3 for her Arm hit upon the Stake where
fhe lay.

Mr, Cszoper. Pray, how do thefe Stakes ftand
~bout the Bridge of the Mill ¢

R. Dew. 1 fuppofe they ftand about a Foot
funcer 5 they ftand flanting, leaning down the
Stream a lictle, | 1

Mr. Cowoper. Could you difcern her Feet 2

R. Dezz. No, nothing like it, nor the firiped
Petticoat fhe had on,

Mr, Cowper. Might not her Knees and Legs
be upon the Ground, for what you could fee ?

R. Diwo. Truly, if I were put upon my Oath,
whether they were fo, or not, _I durft not fwear
it s fometimes the Water there s four IFcet, fome-
times three and a half 3 I believe her IFcet were
very near the Bottom. o

Mr, Cowoper.  Are not the Stakes nail’d with

their Head againft the Bridge2 |

R. Dew. They are nail'd o the Side of the
Bridge, | |

Mr. Cowper, Pray, defcribe the Manner in
which they took herup ?

R. Dezw. They ftoop’d down, and took her up.

Mr., Cooper. Did they take her up at once?

R. Dew, They had two Heavings, or more.

Mr. Cowper. What was the Reafon they did
not take her up at once?

R. Dew. Becaufe Lcried out, They burt ber Aria.

M. Cozoper. Was fhe not within the Stakes?

R. Dew. No, this Shoulder kept her out.

Mr. Cewper. When you complain’d bey it
v i, what Anfwer did they make you !

R. Dew. They ftoop’d down and took her
Arm out from between the Stakes; they could
not have oot her out elfe, ‘

Mr. Cowper. After fhe was taken out, did you
obferve any Froth or Foam come from her
Mouth or Nofe?

R. Dew. ‘There wasa white Froth came from
her, and as they wiped it away, 1t was on again
prefently.

Mr. Cotoper. What was the Appearance of her
Face and upper Parts at that Time ? |

R. Dew. She was fo much disfigur’d, 1 believe
that fcarce any of her Neighbours knew her, the
Slime of the Water being upon her.

Mr. Cowper. Did you fee her Maid Sarab
Walker at that Time?

21 5

R. Dew, No.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Mr. Cowper, do you intend
to fpend fo much Time with every Witnefs ? 1
don’t [ee to what Purpofe many of thefe Quéft:-
ons are afk’d.

Mr. Cowper. 1 have done with him, call 2zung.

Mr. Baron Hatfell, Mr. Cowper, 1 would not
have you ftraiten your felf, but only afk thofe
Queftions that are pertinent.

Mr. Cowper. Pray, give an Account of what
you know of the Matter,

Young. On Tuefday Morning, between Five and
Six a-Clock, laft Affizes

Mr. Cowper. What Officer was you?

2oung. 1 was Conftable.

Mr. Cowper. Was you employed by the Coro-
ner ?

2oung. Not by him in Perfon. Between Five
and Six a-Clock fome of the Men that came into
my Yard towork told me a Woman was drowned
at the Mill ; T ftaid a lictle and went down to fec,
and when 1 came there I faw a Woman, as they
had told me, and I faw part of her Coar lie on
the Top of the Water to be feen, and I look’d
ftrictly and nicely within the Bridge, and faw the

“acc of a Woman, and her left Arm was on the
Outfide the Stakes, whichIbelieve kept herfrom
going thro’ ; follook’d upon her very withfully,
and was going back again; and as I came back |
met with R, Dew and two of my Neighbours,
and they aflk’d me to go back with them, and
faid they were going to take her up 3 and being
Conftable, I told them I thought it was not pro-
per to do it, and they faid they had Orders for
it 5 fo I being Conftable, went back with them,
and when I came there I found her in the fame
Pofture as before; we view’d her very wilhfully ;
her Coat that was driven near the Stakes was
fcen, but none of her other Coats, or her Legs;
and after we had look’d a lictle while upon her,
we [pake to Dell and Ulfe to take her up, and one
of them took hold of her Coat till he brought her
above Waters and as her Arm drew up, I faw a
black Place, and fhe Luid fideway, that he could
not take her up till they had let her down again,
and fo they twifted her out {ideway ; for the
Stakes were fo near together that fhe could not
lie upon her Belly, or upon her Back ; and when
they had taken her up, they Iaid her down upon
a green Place, and after fhe was laid down, a
great Quantity of Froth (like the Froth of new
Beer) work’d out of her Noftrils.

Mr, Baron Hetfell. Ilow much do call a great
Quantity?

Jouug, It role up in Bladders, and run down on
the Sides of her Face, and forofe again; and fee-
ing her look like a Gentlewoman, we defired one
Ul 1o fearch herPockets,to fee if there were any
L.eceers,that we might know who the was; fo the
Woman did, and I believe there was twenty or
more of us that knew her very well when fhe was
alive, and not one of us knew her then 5 and the
Woman {carch’d her Pockers, and took out fix
Guineas, ten Shillings, Three-pence halfpenny, and
fome other Things 3 and after that [ defired fome
of my Neighbowrs to go with me and tell the
Money 5 for when it came to be known who fhe
was, [ knew we mult give an Accounton’t, and |
laid it upon a Block and told it, and they ty’d it
up in 2 Handkerchief, and 1 faid I would keep the
Moncy, and they fhould feal it up to prevent any
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Queftion about it ; and during all chis while of

Difcourfe, and fealing up the Money, the Froth
ftill work’d out of her Mouth.

Mr. Cowper. Have you meafured the Depth
of the Water? What Depth is i¢ there?

Young. T meafured the Water this Morning,
and *twas fo high thatit ran over the Iloodgate,
and the Height of it was about four oot two
Inches; but fometimes *tis pent up to a greater
Height than ’tis to Day.

Mr. Cowper. Was it higher to Day than when

the Body was found ?

Young. To the beft of my Remembrance *twas
as high to Day as it was then.

Mr. Corvper. Was any Part of the Body above

Water ? '
wung. No, nor nothing like the Body could

be {cen.

Mr.Cowper. Could you fee where her Legs lay ?

Yonng. No, nor nothing but her upper Coats,
which were driven aganft the Stakes.

M. Coaeper. Pray givean Account how long fhe
fay there, and when the was convey’d away.

Young. 1 ftay’d a quarter of an Hour, and then
I went and fealed up the Money at my own
Houfe, fo that I did not fee her removed.

Mr. Foncs. Was any Body there befides your
felf at this time?

Young. Yes, twenty People at the leatt.

M. Jones, Now here is Ten of them that have
fworn that the Body was above the Surface of
the Water,

M. Baron Heifill. No, her Cloaths, they fy,
were, but the Body was forncthing under the
Water.

Mr.Cowper. Now [ will trouble your Lordthip
no more wich that Faét, but I will give you an
Account of the Coroner’s Inquelt, how dihgent
they were in their Proceedings, and produce a
Copy of the Inquifition it felf, that fhe was found
to have drowned herfelf.

Mr. Baron Hatfell, Mr. Coweper, that is no Evi-
dence, if it be produced in order to contradit
what thefe Witnefles have faid, that have been
examined for the King s but if you will prove,
that they have {worn otherwile before the Coro-
ner than they now-do, then you fay fomething,
otherwife the Coroner’s Inqueft fignifies nothing
as to the prefent Queftion.

Mr. Cowper. CallThomas Wall, 1am loth o be
troublefome 3 but if you pleafe to favour me, [
defire to know of them, whether they do admit
there was an Inquifition, and that fhe was found
Nen Compos Mentis, and did Kill her felf,

Mr. Jones. We do admit 1.

Jury-man. We defire it may be read.

Mr. Baron Hatfell, Why, won’t you believe
what they agree to on both Sides?

Jury-man. If they do agree fo, 1 am fatisfied.

Mr. Cowper. Thomas Iall, pray do you givean
Account of what you know of Mrs. Stout’s being
taleen up.

Wall. My Lord, T was one of the Jury, that
view’d her at the Place where fhe was laid when
the was taken up, and there was no Marks upon
her, only a little Mark abour her Ear, and fome-
thing near her Collar-bone 5 that was all I fee
upon her.

Mr. Cowper. Do you know any thing of any
Surgeons being employ’d to view thofe Marks ?

Vall. My Lord, we had feveral Perfons that

came before us that we examin’d 5 we had 1 Djp.
pute concerning thefe Marks what might efieq
them, and wedefir'd Mr. Dimfdale and Mr. Cass,
to fee them, that we might be the betrer fattsfied,
and they both went down and viewed the Body
after 1t was brought down to Mrs, Srenr's, an
they came back, both of them, and Mr., Tohia
Dimfdale told us, that thefe Murks were no mp;
than were ufual in fuch Cales, and it was only the
Stagnation of Blood.

Mr. Cowper, Was it the old Man or theyouns
Man? °

IVall, Tt was the young Man.

Mr. Coweper, Ufual did he fay ?

IVell, Tcan tell the very Words, I have the
writ down.

M. Cozoperr, Pray do fo, for he hasdenied it here,

Wall. ( Lsoks e bis Paper.) Flere ’tis, Mr. Digf.
dele and Mr. Camiii came to us, and Mr.Dizfdal,
fpake and faid thefe Marks arculual, or might be
ufual 5 or if they were Marks, it was no mor
than was ufual in fuch Cales 5 and that it wa
the Stagnation of Blood.

Mr. Cowwper. Now you have your Notes iy
vour Hand, pray, what did Surah ¥alker fay 1o
you as to the Time [ went from Mrs. Sront’s 2

IFall, Saral T alber Tad, 10 was about Eleven
a-Clock when fhe took up Coals to warm the
Bed, but fhe faid {he could not, nor did not
know when Mr, Cetoper went out, for fhe warnyd
the Bed, and Mr. Ceeoper not coniing up, fhe took
up fome more Coals, and tarried a liedde Jonger,
and no Body coming up, fhe weat down, und
found Mr. Cozeper was gone, and fhe look’d into
the Parlour, and her Miftrefs was gone,

Mr. Baron Hetfell. 'The Wonan [aid the fame
Thing.

Mr. Gszgper, *Iis neceflary in this Particular 3s
to the Time,

Mr. Baron et /l. She told you the Clocks did
dilfer.

(Thei A, Bowden wwas called. )

Mr. Cozsper. Well, what do you kuow of the
taking up of Mrs. Steit ?

Botwden, T went with the reft of the Neighbours
to view her, and [ did percetve it was Mrs, Sarad
Stout’s Body, tho’ fome queltion’d 12 1 1do believe
I was the fecond Perfon that difcover’d it was
fhe; and, my Lord, I1did feea greatdeal of Froth
that came out of her Mouth and Noftrils.

Mr. Cozper. Did you goabout to wipe it away?

Bowden, No, Luc fome other Perfons did 5 1t
came out in a grear Quantity.

Mr, Fones. How much do you call a grex:
Quantity ?

Bowden. Her Mouth and Nofltrils were very
full of it.

Mr. Jones. Was not her Mouth fhut 2

Bov:den. T did not obferve that.

Mr. Cowper. How long had fhe lain there be-
fore you came ?

Bewden, 1believe I was there in half an Hour;
as foon as I heard the Reporr of it I went down.

Mr, Cowper. Call Mr. Shute.

Mr. Baron Halfell. Well, what can you fay to
this Matter ?

Shute. Sir, I wasfummoned upon the Jury up-
on the Coroner’s Inqueft 5 and I perceiv’d when [
was there, that the fame Stuff worked out of

Mrs. Stont’s Noftrils asavorked out of the Child's.
Nir.
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Mr. Baron Hasfell, What Child is that you
{peak of # Is it the Child that wasdrowned in the

tyme Place as Mrs. Stout was ?

Shute. Yes,

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, Tam very tender how
I take up your Lordfhip’s Time ; and thercfore I
will not trouble you with any more Witnefles up-
on this Head ; but, with your Lordfhip’s Leave,
I will praceed to call fome Phyficians of Note
and Eminence, to confront the Learning of the
Gentlemen on the other Side, Dr Sloane, you
were in Court when thefe Gentlemen delivered
their Opinion concerning Mrs. Stext’s having no
Water in her; I defire you would give your
Opinion in that Matter.

Dr.8%ene. ] havenot heard them very particular-
tvordiftinétly, becaufe of the great Crowd ; fome
of them I have 3 Cafes of this kind are very un-
common, and none of them have fallen direétly
under my own Krowledge. As to my Opinion of
drowning, it 1s plain, thatif a great Quantity of
Water be fwallowed by the Gulletr into the Sto-
mach, it will not fuffocate or drown the Perfon :
Drunkards, who {wallow freely a great deal of
Liquor, and thofe who are forced by the Civil Law
to drink a great Quantity of Water, which in gi-
ving the Queltion (as *t1s called) 15 poured into
them by way of Torture to make them confefs
Critnes, have no Suftocation or Drowning happen
to them : But on the other hand, when any Quan-
tity comes into the Wind-pipe, fo as itdocs hinder
or ntercept the Infpiration, or Coming-in of the
Air, which is neceffary for Refpiration or Breath-
ing, the Perfon 1s fuffocated. Such a fmall Quan-
tity will do, as fometimes in Prefcriptions, when
People have been very weak, or forced to mke
Medicines, [ have obferv’d fome Spoonfuls in that
Condition (1f 1t went the wrong Way) to have
choaked or fuffocated the Perfon. ItakeDrown-
ing in a great meafure to be thus ; and though it
s very likely when one ftruggles he may (to fave
himfedf from being choaked) fwallow fome Quan-
tity of Water, yet that is not the Caufe of his
Death, but that which goes into the Wind-pipe
and Lungs, Whether a Perfon comes dead or
alive into the Water, I believe fome Quantity will
go 1nto the Wind-pipe; and T believe, without
Force after Death, little will get into the Sto-
mach, becaufe chat it fhould, {wallowing is ne-
ceflary, which after Death cannot be done.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Pray, Do&or, I underftand
you fay this; that in cale a Perfon is drowned,
that there may be but littleWater in the Stomach?

Dr. Sloane. That it is accidental, my Lord.

Mr, Baron Hetfell. But what do you fay to this ;
if theee had been Water in the Body, would i
not have putrified the Parts after ic had lain fix
Weeks ?

Dr.3laie. My Lord, Tamapt to think it would
have putrified the Stomach lefs than the Lungs, be-
Gul: the Stomach is a Part of the Body that is
contrived by Nature partly to receive Liquids ;
hut the Contrivance of the Lungs is only for the
receiving of Air; they being of a fpongy Nature,
lt?hu Water might fink more into them than the
otomach 5 but I believe it might putrify there too
a}ﬁ:cr fome time. Tam apt w think, that when a
Body is buried under Ground, according to the
Depth of the Grave, and Difference of the Wea-
ther and Soil, the Fermentation may be greater
or lefler, and that according to the feveral Kinds

Uf‘Mca[s or Liquids in the Stomach the Putii-
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fattion will likewife vary ; fo that it feems to me
to be very uncertain,

Mr. Baron Hatfell, But when they are in a Cof.
fin, how is it then ?

Dr. Skhane. No doubt there will be a Fermenta-
tion more or lefs, according as the Air comes
more or lefs to the Body. Indeed it maybe other-
wile, where the Air is wholly fhut out, which is
{uppofed to be the Way of Embalming, or pre-
ferving of dead Bodies of late, without the Ufe of
any Spices, which is thought in agreat meafure to
be broughtaboutby the Clofenefs of the Coffin, and
hindering of the Air from coming in to the Body.

Mr. Cowper. Is it poflible, in your Judement,
for any Water to pafs into the Thorax ?

Dr. Sloane. 1believe tis hardly pofiible that any
fhould go from the Wind-pipe into the Cavity of
the Thorax, without great Violence and Force ;
for there is @ Membrane that covers the Qutfide
of the Lungs, that will hinder the Water from
pafling through it into any Part without them.

Mr. Cowper. Now, do you think it poflible to
hind Waterinadrowned Body after fixWeeks time?

Dr. Sloane. I am apt to think if there was any
Quantity in the Lungs, the Sponginefs of the Part
would fuck up fome Part of it.  As to the Sto-
mach, I have not known i1t tried 3 but %t like,
if there was a great Fermentation, a great deal
of 1t would rife up in Vapours or Steams, and
go oft that way.

Mr. Cowper. Dr. Garth, 1 can’t tell whether
you were in Court when the Surgeons who are
Witnefles for the King gave their Evidence,

Dr. Gaiih, Yes, 1 was.

Mr. Cowper. Then 1 defire you, Sir, to give
your Opinion as to thofe Particulars.

Dr. Garth. 1 obferved inthisTryal the irlGen-
tleman call’d for the King that fpoke to this Mat-
ter was Mr. Ceatfeverth : Fle faith he was fent
for to open her, upon an Afperfion of her being
faid to be with Child. I agree with him inwhat
he {peaks to that Point, but muft differ wich him
where he infers the was murdered, becaufe he found
no great Quantity of Water in her, as alfo her
Head extreamly mortified, but not her Lungs
(Lungs and Rowels I think were ufed promifeu-
oufly.) Now, my Lord, as to the Matter of Pu-
trifaction, I think ’tis not much material whether
thete be any Water or no in the Cavities of the
Body; if Water would haften Putrifaction, it
wow’d do it as well in the Lungs as otherwife ;
there is always fome Water in the Lymphedudts
there, the Breaking of which may be one Oceafion
of Catarrhs. As to what relates to the Putrifac-
tion of the Head, it may happen from a Stop-
page of the refluent Bload, which is ftaid there
in a great Quantity, through the Suffocation in
the Water, or from the Nearnels of the Brain,
which 1s obferved often to mortify firft.

‘The next was Mr. Dimfdale (1 would {peak to
them all 1n order if my Memory wounld permit)
I think he wasof the fame Opinton as Mr, Coat/-
worth 3 he laid the Strefs ot his Sufpicionupon the
Mortification of the Head, which 1 think is not
at all material, no more than what they infer
from her floating 3 it being impoflible the Body
fhould have floated, unlefsic had vefted,or had been
centangled among the Stakes, becaule all dead Bo-
dies (1 believe) fall to the Bottom, unlefs they be
prevented by fome exwraordinary Tumour. My
Lord, we have not only Philofophy, but Experi-

ments for this.  The Witnefles all agree fhe was
It found
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found upon her Side, whichto fuppofe her to float
in this pofture, is as hard to bs conceived, as to
imagine a Shilling (hould fall dov:rn and reft upon
irs Edge rather than its broad Side 3 or that a
Deal Board thouw’d rather float Edgeways than
therwife 5 therefore *ts plain fhe was entangled,
or elfe the Pofture had been otherwife. ‘

As to the Quanrity of Water, I do not think
it neceffary it thould be very great. Iqmﬁ own
rhe Water will force itfelf into all Cavities where
there’s no Refiftance, I believe when the threw her
{elf in, fhe might not flruggle to {ave her felf,
and by confequence not fup up much Water.
Now there’s no dire& Paflage into the Stomach
but by the Gullet, which 15 cmntm&?d or purs’fl
upby a Mufcle in Nature of a Sphinter: For if
this Paffage was always open, like that of the
'Wind-pipe, the Weight of the Air would force it
{elf into the Stomach, and we fhould be fenfible
of the greateft Inconveniencics. I doubt not, but
that fome Water fell into her Lunggs, becaufe the
Weight of it would force itfelf down ; but if we
confider the Wind-pipe with its Ramifications
as one Cylinder, the Caleulation of its Contents
will not amount to above twenty-threeor twenty-
four folid Inches of Water, which is nota Pine,
and which might imperceptibly work and fall out.
I remember I offered a Wager at Garaway's Cof-
fec-Floufe to a Gentleman here 1n Court.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Pray, Doctor, tell us your
Opinion as to what the Seaman faid, and alfo as
to what Dr. Sheane faid, whether Water in the
Body will putrity 1t,

Dr. Gaith, 1 fay nots for in fome Places they
keep Fleth-Meat from corrupting by preferving
ic in Water, and ’tis well known ’twill putrify
lefs fo, than when expofed to Atr.

Mr. Baron [asfell, But what do you fay as to
the finking of dead Bodies in Water ?

Dr. Gayth. 1f a ftrangled Body be thrown into
the Water, the Lungs being Alled with Air, and
2 Cord lefr about the Neck, *us poffible 1t may
float, becaufe of the included Air, as a Bladder
wou’d; but here is neither Cord, norany Mark
of it, nor nothing but a common Stagnation,

Mer. Baron Taifell. But you don’t obferve my
Queftion; the Seaman faid, that thofe that dic
at Sea, and are thrown overboard, if you don’t
tye a Weight to them, they will not fink : What
fay you to that?

Dr. Garth. My Lord, no doubt in this they’re
miftaken.  The Scamen are a {uperftitious Peo-
ple, they fancy that whiftling at Sea will oc-
cafion a Tempeft : T mult confefs I never fuw
any Body thrown overboard, but I have tried
{fome Experiments on other dead Animals, and
they will certatnly fink 5 we have tried this fince
we came hither,  Now, my Lord, I think, we
have Reafon to fufpe the Seaman’s Evidence;
for he faith, that threefcore Pound of Iron is al-
lowed to fink the dead Bodies, whereas fix or
feven Pounds would do as well. I cannot think
the Commiflioners of the Navy guilty of fo ill
Hufbandry 5 buc the Defign of tying Weights
to their dead Bodics, is to prevent their floating
at all, which otherwife wou’d happen in fome
few Days: Thercfore what I fay 15 this, that if
thefe Gentlemen had found a Cord, or the Print
of it, about the Neck of this unfortunate Gen-
tlewoman, or any Wound that had occafioned
hle_r Death, they might then have faid fome-
thing,

ry
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Mr. Cowper. Do you apprehnd that 2ny Quap.
tity of Water can enter into the Cavity of g
T horax.

Dr. Garth, *Tis impoffible there theald il (e
Lungs bequiterotten; there is no Way but by the
Lungs, which are invelted with fo ftrong a Mep,.
brane, that we cannot force Breath with our Bloy.
pipes through 1t and there’s a great Providence
in fuch a Texture, for if there were any farge
Pores in the Memobrane, the Air would pafs thg?
it into the Cavity of the Thorax, and prevent the
Dilatation of the Lungs, and by confequence there
would be an Iind of Breathing,.

Mr. Cozopeir. Dr. Morley, pray be plealud to give
your Opinion of thefe Matters,

Dr. Mort:y. Thofe which feem to be Queftions
of greatelt Moment, are whether there wasa Ne-
ceflity for this Body (1f drown’d) to have a gren
Quantity of Water in 16, and whether Bodies
thrown dead iato the Water float, To the fizl |
anfwer politively, that there is no abfolute Need-
fity that fhe fhould have a great Quantity of V..
terin her 5 and I chinlk the Queition Mr. Cororor
afl'd Dr. Coatfzvorth, whether he had like to lave
been drowned by AccidentorDelign, fuits with my
Affertion; for if this Gentlewoman did volun-i-
rily drown her felf, fhe then, in all hlelihood,
threw herfelf into the Water, with a Refoluting
of keeping herBreath fora fpeedy Sutlocation ;and
then if upon the firft findeavours for Refpiration
(which naturally multbe) the drew into her Luogs
two Ounces of Water, it was the fame Thing to
drowning of her, as if there had been two Tun.
We {ee the fame Thing done by Divers i ordr
to fave themfelves, as it happened to this unfor-
tunate Gentlewoman, in her Delign of deftroving
her felf: If a Diver, before Lie comes to the Sur-
face of Water, thould fo far miftake his Powerof
holding his Breath, that he thould be forced to -
deavour Refpiration, the little Water he drew -
to his Lungs by this Attempt to refpire, my
drown him, We laft Night drown’d a Doz, and
afterwards diffe¢ted him, and found not a Spoon:
ful of Water in his Stomach, and, I believe, abus
two Qunces in his Lungs; while we were col 3
this, we drowned another, and he layat the Do
tom and did not float 3 no more would he b
done, 1t he had been hang’d belore thrown inm
the Water : We took him up, and opening his,
we found much about the fame Quaatity of W
ter 1n his Lungs, and lictleor none 10 his Stomach,
They both froth’d at Nofeand Mouth, becaufe ihe
Watercoming into thelittle Bladders of the Lz,
and there meeting with Air, a Commotion aro:
between the Water and Alr, which caufed ths
Froth. To the fecond Queftion, I chink if Bodic
new Killed fwim, *tis by Accident 5 for the Ro:-
fon that Bodies fivim, is becaufe by Putrifadtion
they rarifie, by Rarifafion they grow lighter,
which brings them to the Topof the Water,

Mr, Cowper, T defire to know if any Man ¢!
Skill in Prudence would give his Opinion ?—

Mr, Baron Hatfell. This is nota proper Queflion.

Mr., Cozgper, Then I will afk 1t thus: Do yod
think, Doctor, it is to be known fix Weeksat-
ter, if a Perfon was drowned ?

Dr. Morley, 1 think it is morally impoflible.

Mr. Cozgper, Can there be any Wager in the
Thorax ? |

Dr. Moiley. By an Impofthume or fome Vie-
lence to Nature poflibly 3 but I think no othu-
wife.

Mr,
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M. Cowper. Dr. Woollaftoir, what is your Opi-
nion if a Perfon be drowned, whether it can be
Jifcover’d fix Weeks after ?

Dr. /7sollaftonn. My Lord, Ithink it isimpoffible
o be known for if there had been never fo much
Water in the Body at firft, it could not lie there
o long, but muft of neceffity have forced its way
out. We fee in Perfons that die of Droplies,
char the Water will work it felf out (and {ome-
times burft the Body) before it 1s burted 5 and,
Tam fure, if it do fo in Dropfies, where there are
no vifible Paffages for it to ger out at, itmuft do
is much more indrowned Perf{ons, where the Wa-
cer lies only in the Stomach and Guts, and has
nothing to hinder its working out when it fer-
ments, as it always doth.

Mr. Coeoper. Have you ever made any Experi-
ments in that nature, Doétor?

Dr. IVeoollaften. T have made no Experiments,
but [ have feen a very particular Inftance.

Mr. Bar. Hatfell, Thatis very well 5 pray lec
us hear it, Dottor.

Dr. Weollafton. My Lord, about three Years
fince, I faw two Men that were drowned out of
the fame Boat. They were taken up the next Day
after they were drowned : One of *em was indeed
prodigioufly fwell’d, fo much that his Cloaths
were burft in feveral Places of his Sides and Arms,
and his Stockings in the Seams; his Hands and
Fingers were ftrangely extended; his Face was
almoft all over black 5 but the other was not in
the leaft fivell’d in any Part, nor difcolour’d ; he
was as lank, I believe, as ever he was in his Life-
time; and there was not the leaft Sign of any
Water in him, except the watery Froth at his
Mouth and Noftrils. My Lord, this I faw my
felf, and took very particular Notice of it.

Mz, Fones. Did you fee thefe Bodies taken our
of the Water your felf, Doctor ?

Dr, IZeollaffon. No, Sir.

Mr. Jones. How long had they been taken out
when you faw them?

Dr.Fecllafton. T enquir’d, and to the beft of my
Niemory, it was that fame Day.

N B Jatfe Y. But whar do you think, Dodlor,
i a Perfon’s being drowned without taking in
any Water?

Dr. 1 ecdinfien. My Lord, what is taken in s, T
helieve, chiefly at the Surface of the Water, when
ey open their Mouths for Breath, and the Wa-
v that rufhes in they are forced to drink down,
to keep it from the Lungs: But when the Head
hquite under Warter, I don’t think “ts poffible
for any quantity to get down into the Stomach ;
becaule 1t being Breath they open for, the very
heft Water they take in would of neceffity fill the
Lungs ; and, whenthe Breath is ftopp’d, Idon’t
fee how they can fwallow.

Mr.Cozoper, Dr. Gelftrop, whatis your Opinion
of this Matter ?

Lir. Gelftrop. I don’t think they can make any
Judgment of Perfons being drowned after Six
Weeks time.

B*gr.Cowpfr. Can any Water get into the Tho-
rax |

Dr, Gelffrop. No, not unlefs the Lungs be pu-
trified,

Mr. Cowper. Isagreat quantity of Water necef-
iry to Perfons dying by drowning?

D::. Geftrop. Nos only fomuch as may hinder
Refpiration,

YoL. V.
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Mr. Cowper: Now, my Lord, I would call
Mr. William Cowper ; and becaufe of his Name, 1
muft acquaint your Lordthip; that he is not at
all related to me; tho’ I fhould be proud to own
htm 1f he were fo: He isa Man of great Learn-
ing, and, I believe, moft People admit him the
beft Anatomilt in Europe. Mr. Cowper, pray will
you give your Opinion of this Macter ?

Mr. /. Cowper. My Lord, I hope what'I fhall
fay will not befufpected becaufe I am of thefame
Name, for this Gentleman is an utter Stranger to
me.

Mr, Bar. Hatfell. Pray, Mr. Cowper, without
any Apology, give your Opinion concerning Per-
{ons drowned; and how ’tis with them in their
inward Parts,

Mr. 17, Cowper. I will give you a fhortAccount,
I hope to your Satisfaction too, my Lord. Iwill
not only fpeak from Reafon, but give you the
Teftimony of the Experiments I have made upon
this Occafion. My Lord, I heard it made a
mighty Argument, that this Perfon had no Water
that feem’d to flow out, but the Witnefles agree
that there was a Iroth. Now, my Lord, it was
not reafonable to expect any ching but Froth.
My Lord, had fhe been thrown into the Water,
and made her utmoft Efforts, which fhe would
then have done to have faved her {elf, and been
often buoy’d up to the Topof the Water, nodoubt
but fhe would have {fwallow’d a confiderable quan-
tity of Water before fhe had been drowned; and
it may be expeted to flow from her, if her Head
had been inclined downwards.

Thisis a Truth that no Man can deny who s
acquainted with any Thing of thisnature, That
when the Head of an Animal tsunder Warter, the
firft time *tis oblig’d to infpire (or draw in Air)
the Water will neceflarily flow into its Lungs, as
the Air would do if it were out of the Water ;
which quantity of Water (if the Dimenfions of
the Windpipe, and its Branches in the Lungs, be
confider’d) will notamount to three Inches {quare,
which is about three Ounces of Water. Norisa
greater quantity of Water in the Windpipe ne-
ceffary to choak any Perfon, if wedo but reflect
what an Ebullition is caufed by its meeting with
the Air which remain’d in the Lungs, whereby a
fmall quantity of Water is converted tnto Froth,
and the Chanclof the Windpipe, and thofe of the
Bronchia, are 11°d with it, infomuch that no Air
can enter the Lungs for the Office of Refpiration.
After a Suffocation is thus commenced (I am apt
to think) all regular animal Actions are pervert-
ed, and particularly that of fwallowing (or De-
glutition) ; and what Water flows into the Lungs
at the Inftant, or after this Suffocation, 1s from its
own Weight, which is more or lefs as the Body
is farther under, or nearer the Surface of the Wa-
ter. My Lord, Idon’t {peak this by way of Con=
jeCture or Hypothefis, but I have made Experi-
ments, which have fuggefted what I here offer.
I fhall by the by tell you how fallacious the firft
Experiment was, when I propos’d to fatisfy my
felf, whether a dead Body would float in Water :
It happen’d that a Spaniel, that had a greatdeal
of long Hair, washang’d for this Purpofe, which
I found to fwim on the Surface of the Water; but
when I confider’d that his Hair might buoy him
up, I caufed another Dog, which had fhorter and
lefs Hair, to be hang’d and put into the Water,

which (agreeable to what I bad always conceiv’d
Fta of
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of 2 Human Body} funk direétly to t]}e Bottom.
I order to fatisfy my feif what quantity of Wa-
cop was neceffary toenter the Body of an Animal,
ancl caufe a Suffocation in Water, I caufed three
Dogs, when alive, to be fuddenly plunged under
Water till they were ftifled 5 one was before 1
lofc London, the other twol made the Experiment
on laft Night, 1n the Prefence of Dr. Slang and
Dr. Moiley, and we could not compute there was
more than three Ounces of Water in their Lungs,
1nd none that we could perceive in their Stomachs.

Dead Bodies neceffily fink in Water, 1f no
Diftention of their Parts buoy “emup this Di-
(tenfion fometimes happens before Death, atother
-imes foon after, and in Bodies thatare drowned
after they lie under Water: This Enlargement
of them is caufed by a Rarefaélion of the Hu-
mours within the Cavities, and the Bodies necefla-
rily rifesto the Surfaceof the Water. Your Lord-
fhip may infer this from what the Scaman told
you, and the great Weight they ufe to faften to
“heir Bodies that die of Difeafes, was not of fuch
ufe to fink them, as it was to prevent their float-
ing afterwards; fo that the Weight was necelfary
for thofe thar were kill’d, as well as thofe that
died of Difeafes,

Tt is fo commonly known that the Contents in
the Stomach of a dead Body are difcharg’d by
ihe Mouth and Nofirils, fo foon as it begins to
{erment, and the Belly becomes diftended, thatic
o 1o Wonder that Waier, if the greatclt quantity
of that had been in the Stomach, or any thing clie
that was fluid, mult be forced from thence ix
Wecks after Death.

My Lord, 1 can’c but think it ridictious to €x-
po¢t Water in the Cavity of the Theraxs “us fuch
.t Conceit as nothing in Nature can account for,
unlefs the Lungs had fuffer’d fome .apofthumiti-
on, or the lilie, whereby the Water my pafs their
outward Membranes into that Cavity.

My, Cowper. With your Lordfhip’s Favour,
now think 1t a proper Time to make this Obfer-
vation. 1 he Witaefles that have given Eviaence
for the King do fay, They believe fhe was not
drowned ; but they have not pretended to fay
how fhe died otherwile,

Mr. Bar. fasfell. Vhat 15 very true.

My, Cozper. Dr. Grell, delive you will be plea-
fed to give an Account of this Matter.

Di. Crefl. My Lowd, [have little to fay in this
Athair, the Phyfcians thathave been examin’dal-
reads having made it out, that Perfons who are
drovnod may have but little Water in their Bo-
dies s but T have taken what PainsIcould, upon
fo thort Warning, and T will tell you the Opi-
nion of {everal eminent Authors. My own Opi-
nion is, That a very fmall quantity of Water, not
exceeding three Ounces, s {uflicient to drown
any Body s and I believe that the Reafon of the
Suflocation, or of any Perfon’s being fhifled under
Water, is {rom the Intercepting of the Air, that
the Perlon can’t breathe, without which he can-
not Hive. Now, my Lord, I willgive you the
Ouinion of feveral ancient Authors,

M, Bar, Hetfell, Pray, Do&or, tell us your
ov.n Oblervations.

Dr. Crell. My Lord, itmuftbe Reading, aswell
as o Man's own Experience, that will make any
one 1 Phvfician s for without thereading of Books
of that Art, the Art itfelf cannot be attain’d to 3
hefides, my Lord, I humbly conceive, thatinfuch

1 difficult Cafe as this, we ought to havea great
Deference for the Reports and Opinions of learn.
ed Men: Neither do I fee any Reafon why |
fhould not quote the Fathers of my Profeflion i
this Cafe, aswell as youGentlemen of the Long-
Robe quote Coke upon Litiletoi 1n others: But I
fhall not trouble the Court long 3 I {hall only in-
it upon what Aibrofe Parey relatesin his Chapter
of Renunciations. Fle waschief Surgeon to Frais
the Firlt, employ’d by him in moft of his Sieges
and Batdlesagainft the Emperor Cheifes the Iiith,
and confequently muft obferve, and could not b
ignorant of (uch like Cafualties in fuch great Bo-
dies of Men. He tells us, That the certain Sign
of a Man’s being drowned, 1san Apprarance of
Froth about his Noftrils and Mouth.  Now, wy
Lord, I think that every one of the King's Lvi-
dences obferv’d it in the prefent Cafe, anda Wo-
man {wore, that fhe faw her purge at the Nole,
which could not be, as he declares, 1if the Perlon
had been ftrangled, or otherwife kill’d befor.

Asto the Quantity of Water requilite to drawn
1 Perfon, I believe that three Cunces, o lefs, i
cnough 3 towit, asmuchas will fill the Windpine,
and {o ftop thebreathing of the Perfon drownig,
I am not now to defeant upen NMatter of I,
whether {lic drowned her felt; but my hrm Opr-
nion is, that fhe wasdrown’d ; for tho’ fometmes,
not ajways, there is Water {ound in the Bodies of
fuch Perfenss ver where-ever it be, befides the
Lungs, it is fuperfluous as to this Lind, and accl-
dental upon violent Strugglings.

Mr. Cozoper. 1 defire Mr. Harrist oy be atk'd
what Obfervations he hath made concerning this
Matter,

Mr. Harrict, My Lord, when I wasa Surgzon
in the Fiect, I made it always my Oblervation
when we threw Menover-hoard that were kill'd,
fome of them {wam, and fome funk 5 and I re-
member particularly, when the Sancvich wis
barnt, we faw abundanceleap oii from on hoar,
and they funk dire@ly, butin a litle time 1 eo-
ferv’d fome fwim again,

Mr. Bar. Fatfell. When a dead Body 1sthrown
over-board, dossit fink or fwim?

M. Herriot. Talways obferv’d thatit did fink:
When we were in the Channel, and in Timeal
Peace, wencver threw any over-board but we pt
fome Weight to them; but it was not to M
them fink, but for Decency fake, that they mig
not be driven to Shore when they began to loat.

Mr. Cowper. T defire that Mr. Barefet may be
all’d to the fame Parpofe.

M. Bertlet. | have been in feveral of the King s
Ships of War that have been difabled and forcid
to lic by, 1n feveral Engagements between (i
Frenchand Englifh,and I never faw any Bod:ies loxr,
either of the Men that were Lill’d in our Ship, o
in the Ships that have been nearuss 1 have s
fcen a Body upon the Surface of the Water.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell. Another Witnefs {aid, Tha
after an Engagement he faw them {wimming.

My, Bartlet. Tcan’trell what he faw, my Lom
but what I fay I am ready to make Oath of.

Mr. Cowoperr. Dr. Camlin, will you p‘caﬁ: ro gIve
my Lord and the Jury an Account whether )04
were employ’d by the Coroner’s Inquelt to ¥I<®
the Body of Mrs. Stout after fhe was drowned. i
the Marks upon it, and tell my Lord your Out-
nion of it.

Mr. Caindin, 1 was fent for by the Coroncr 20¢
o
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the Jury that fatupon the Body of Mrs.S{mb Stont,
the Coroner being then at her Mather s Houfe,
. the Coroner defired Mr. Dimfdale and me to
0 and take notice of the M:}rks‘; upon her Neck,
and apon her Breat: We view’d all about, ,and
perceiv’d @ Mark under her left Ear s we look’d to
i if there was any Contufion, and we perceiv’d
» Sertlement of Blood upon her Breaft, and another
«non her Arm 3 and when we came back, Mr. Disaf-
11 made a Report, I flood by him at that time,
Thar it was orly a common Settlement.

Mr. Criwpeir. Pray, Mr. Casmlii, was the Spot
hove or below the Collar-bone ?

Mr. Camilin, Below the Collar-bone.

Mr. Cowper. What did Mr. Fobu Dimfdale fay
then concerning this Mateer ?

Ny, Coiliin. T underftood that he was of Opi-
nion, that it was only 2 common Stagnation of
Blood. that happens in the Cafe of drowned
People,

Mr. B Zharfell, Did he fay fo to the Jury ?

Mr. Coiilin. Mv. Diiaflale fpake {or usboth, and
T underftood him, that 1t was a Stagnation that
did commenly happen to drowned People 5 and
thet was my Optnion of 1t £oo0.

Mr. Creoper. And that you agreed o be your
Report ¢

Mr. Camliin, Yes.

Mr. Cewper. Pray, Mr, Cainlin, wasvou prefont
vhen the Child that was drowned m the fame
Piace was taken up?

Nr, Coafiine Yess it was taken up fome time
afrer, near the fame Place, as 1 was told, and
there was more and greater Signs of the Stagna-
tion cf Bload on the Body of this Child, than on
the Bodv of Nrs, S#eut 5 the Child’s Face was
sincl: and difcolour’d.

Mr. Bor, (el How old was the Child ?

Nip Coie Boaoween Ten and Eleven, asnear
as I coul! oueis,

Mr, D Aot T1ad Mrs, Stort any Sizns of

cled when you faw her firft ?

M Co s Iotaning arall, tharTeould difeern,

Mr, Cowpeir. My Leord, Twill mive you no more
Trouble vpon this Flead; 1 ihall go now to the
next Thing Fopendd, and {hall prove fubitantially
thit this Gentlewoman 1s not only more to be
fuipedicd 1o have murder’d her felf, than to be
muirder’d by any Body 5 but gisalmoft a Certain.
ty that the was the Caule of her own Death,
Mr, Farsie T would beatu withal, if he be here.
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Nr. Coeoper, Then, my Lord, it you pleafe, T
will defire Mr. Bewd in the mean time to give
vour Lordfhip an Account of what he krows of
the Melancholy of this Gentlewoman.

Mr. Bezed, > Twasmuch about this time T'welves
month I had fome Bufinefs in Loindciz, and fhe
it oo, to know when T thould go to Zardon,
w2t waned upon her before T wenr, and fhe de-
lircd e to do fome Bufineds for hers and when |
IC'i!;II‘:‘:’J, Lequainted her with what T had done
wre Ditne together in the Hall, Tatked her,
l}\ h:.;]':: tie Matter with you? Said I, There’s
wiNEn g more than ordinary ;3 vou feem to be
Ilifﬁ'lzlrhi:n!}f. Suth fhe, Youare come from Louion,
aid yethave heard Jomething or other @ Said I,
I_b:-hm'{: you are tn Love. In Love! fud fhe,
Yes, 2l T Cipie that Iietle Boy hath ttruck you
honic : She ook me by the Hand + Traly, fud
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fhe, I muft confefsit, butIdid think I fhould ne-
ver be guilty of fuch a Folly; and I anfwered a-
gain, I admire that fhould make you uneafy; if
the Perfon be notof that Fortune as you are, you
may, if you love him, makehim happy, and your
felf eafy. Thatcan’tbe, faith fhes the World fhall
not fay I change my Religion for a Hufband.
And fome time after I had been in London, having
bought fome Indiz Goods, fhe came to my Shop
and bought fome of me for a Gown, and after-
wards fhe came to pay me for it, and I afked
her, How doyoulikeir? Have you made itup-?
No faid fhe, and I believe I fhall never live to
wear it.

Mr. Cowper. Pray how long is it fince?

Mr. Bowd. Tt wasabout Fedruary or Fanuary be-
fore her Death.  Tafk’d her why fhedid notcome
to my Houfe oftener ? the faid, She had left off
all Company, and apply’d herfelf to Reading,
and Company’ was indifferent to her. ‘

Mr. Cowper. Mr, Firinin, will you pleafe to in-
form my Lord and the Jury what you know of
Mrs. Sarab Stour’s being melancholy ?

Mr., Firinin. 1did obferve about three quarters
of a Yearsago, that fhe was melancholy: [ can’c
fay that fhe acknowledg’d her felf to be fo, but
I have charg’d her with it.

Mr. Cowwper. Did youbelieve fhe wasmelancho-
Iy when you charg’d her with ic?

Mr. Firwmin, Yes, 1 did.

Mr. Cowper. Mirs. Bendy, if youpleafe to inform
the Court what you know of this Gentlewoman’s
betng melancholy.

Mrs. Beady. Siry T can fay fhe always acknow-
fede’d her felf extreamly melancholy 5 and when
[ have afk’d her how fhe did, fhe has faid, Pretty
well in Health, but fo much troubled with Me-
Jancholy fhe could not tell what to do with her
felf.

Mr. Cozsper. Did fhe tell you any Thing par-
ticularly 2

Mrs. Berdy. Trdiforder’d her fo, the fuid, that
fhe had rather have chofen Sicknels than fo much
Diforder in her Mind.

Mr. Cowper, Have you any Thing more to re-
collect?

Mrs. Bendy. Nothing but what I heard from
Mrs, Cowper.

Mr, Bar. Hatfell. 1ow old was this Gentlewo-
man ?

Mrs. Beady. About Six and twenty.

Mr. Cowwper. Call Mrs. Fane Low, Martha Grut
and Mrs. Cowper. Mus. Low, praydo you inform
my Lord and the Jury what you know concern-
ing the Melancholy of Mrs. Sarab Stont,and when
you firft obferv’d it

Mrs. Low. *Twasa Week before Bhitfuntide
was Twelve-month,

Mr. Cowper. What did fhe {ay then?

Mrs. Low. She oftencomplain’d to me,thatfhe
was very mielancholy and uneafy ; one Time parti-
cularly, as we were walking together in the Fields,
[ afk’d her the Occafion of it, and fhe toid me,
That was a Sccret 5 but the faid, fhe led a very
riclancholy Life: SaidI, Iamapt to believe you
arc in Love 3 fhe did not difown 1, and with a
littlemore fpeaking fhe own’d fhewas, Tafk’dher
who the Perfon wass fhe faid, That thould bza
Sccret, butit would end her Days: Sad I, 2 Wo-
man of your Fortune may command any Body:

She thools her Fead and fud, No: Perhaps, faid 1,
he
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he may not be a Quaker, and you may be afraid
of difobliging your Mother ; but if you tell your
Mother that your Life depends upon it, your Mo-
ther (rather than lofe her only Child) wiil con-
fenttoit: She faid, No; ’twas a Perfon fhecould

not marry ; and fhook her Head, and look’d very

melancholy.
M, Cowper., When was this ?
Mrs, Low. Thiswas the Week before 275itfun-

tides and in W hitfun-week fhe faw me often, and
faid, Shewould take her full fwing of Melancholy
when her Mother was away ; and fhe ufed to lie

a-Bzd that Week. ,

Mr. Cowper. Have you obferv’d any Melan-
choly in her fince ?

Mis. Low. Yes, at feveral times.

Mr. Gowper. Do you rememberany thing of an
intermitting Fever ?

Mus. Low. Yes; fhe told me her Melancholy
had occalion’d anintermitting Fever 5 and I men-
tion’d Dr. Eales to her, and fhe faid her Diftemper
lay in her Mind, and not 1n her Body, and fhe
would take nothing, and the fooner it did kill her
the better.

Mr. Cswper, Did fhe fay any thing of her Dif-
polition to Reading ?

Mrs. Low. She faid, nothing delighted hernow,
neither Reading ror any thing elle.

Mr. Cowwper. My Lord, Sarab IWalker, when I
aflk’d her if fhe did not obferve the Meclancholy
of her Miftrefs, and whether fhe had not {aid that
her Miftrefs had been melancholy ? deny’d thatthe
had faid fo: Pray have you heard her fay any
thing to that Purpole?

Mors. Loaw, T have often afk’d her how her Mi-
(trefs did, and the would anfwer, Very much 1n-
difpos’d, but not otherwiic.

Mr. Cowper. Mrs. Cowper, whatdo you know
of Mrs. Stout’s Melancholy ¢

Mr. Cowper, My Lord, thisismy Brother’sWife,

Mrs. Cowper. About Spring was T'welve-month
fhe came up to London, and I believe 1t was not
lefs than once or twice a Week I faw her; and I
never had an Opportunity to be an Hour alone
with her at any time, but I perceiv’d fomething
of her Melancholy. I have afk’d her the Reafon
of it feveral times, and fometimes the feem’d to
diflike her Profeffion, being a Quaker; and fome-
times fhewould fay, that fhe was uneafly at fome.
thing that lay upon her Spirits, which fhe fhould
never out-live; and, that fhe fhould never be well
while fhe was in this World. Sometimes I have
endeavour’d to perfwade her out of it ferioufly,
and fometimes by Raillery, and have faid, Are you
fure you thall be better in another World? And
particularly I remember I have faid to her, I be-
lieve you have Mr. Marfball in your Head ; exther
have him, or do not trouble your felf about him ;
make your {ell eafy cither one way or another ;
and fhe hath faid, No, in an indifferent way, Ican-
not make my felf eafy: Thenl have faid, Marry
him 3 No, faith fhe, Ican’t. Sometimeswith Com-
pany fhe would be diverted, and had frequently a
way of throwing her Hands, and fhew’d grear Di-
fturbance and Uneafinefs. This time Twelve-
month, at the Summer Affizes, I washere fix Days,
and I faw her every Day 5 and one time, among
other Difcourfe, fhe told me fhe had receiv’d great
Difturbance from one Theaphilus, a Waterman and
a Quaker, who coming down to old Mrs, Stont, thac
was then laime, fhe had gather'd about 20 or 30

People together to hear him preach, and fhe fijg
he dire€ted his Difcourfe to her, and exafperateg
her at that rate, that fhe had thoughts of feeine
no Body again, and faid, fhe took it heinoufly j
to be fo us’d ; and particularly, thar he told he;
that her Mother’s falling outwardly in the Flefy
fhould be a Warning that fhe did not fall inward.
ly 5 and fuch Canting Stuff, asthe call’d it; and
faid, that Theophilus had fo ufed her, that fhe wy
afham’d to fhew her Flead. Another time, the
fame Week, fhe had a Fever, and the faid, fhe vy,
in great hopes it would end her Days, and thy
the neglected her felf in domg thofe Things tha
were neceflary for her Health, 1n hopes it would
carry her off, and often wilh’d her elt dead. Ang.
ther time, which I think was the lalt cime [ fiy
her, ’twas at my Sifter’s Lodgings, and I fent fo;
her to drink a Difh of Tea with vs, and fhe camg
in a great Tofs and Melancholy : Said I, Whag s
the Matter youare always in this Humour? Saith
the, Ican’t helnir, I thall never be otherwife. Saith
my Sifter, for God fake keep fuch Thoughts ou:
of your Head as you have had, don’t talk any
more of throwing your {elf outof Window : Saith
the, 1 may thank God that ever I faw your Face,
otherwife I had done it, but I can’c promif: |
fhall not do it.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell, Whatis your Name, Madam?

Mr. Cowper.” T ismy Brother’s Wife,my Lord,
Idefire Mrs. Tollcr may givean Accountof whatfh:
knows as to her being melancholy.

Mrs. Tolfer. My Lord, fhe was once to {ce me,
and the look’d very melancholy, and Iafk'd her
what was the Matter ? and fhe {aid, Something had
vex’d her that Day; and Tafk’d her the Caufeof
it, and fhe {topp’d a little while, and then fai,
She would drown her {elfout of the Way.

Mr, Bar. Hatfll. Flow long ago was this?

Mrs. Talleir. About three quartersof a Yearago,

Fobn Stout. 1 defire to know whether {he s
always faid fo, ornot told another Story.

Mrs, Toller. 1 told you no Story 5 1t may e
did not fay fo much to you, but I {a1d fhe ralkd
fomething of drowning. I have been with her
when Mr. Coiwper’s Converfation and Name his
been mention’d, and the faid fhe kepe bue lutie
Company, that fometimes the went to Mrs. Lsw's,
and that the keptnone but civil modelt Company,
and that Mr. Cowper wasacivil modelt Gentleman,
and that fhe had nothing to fay againft him.

Tr, Cowper. ThisisMrs. Eliz. Toller, my Lord.

Mrs. Eliz. Tollzr. My Lord, the came to feem:
fome timeafter Chriflmas, and feem’d not {o cheer
ful as theus’d to be; faid I, What is the matter?
Why are younot fomerryas youus'd to be? Why
do you not come often to fee me? Saith fhe, |
don’c think to goabroad fo much as [ us’d todo,
and faid, It would be as much a Rarity to fee her
go abroad, as to fee the Sun fhine by Nigat.

Mr., Cowper. Mrs. Grub, what do you know con-
cerning Mrs. Stour’s pulling our a Letter at her
Brother Mr. Jobn Stout's? Give an Account ol
it, and what fhe faid upon that Occafion.

Mrs. Grub. Thavea Daughter thatlives at Guers:
/&y, and fhe fent me a Letter,and I pray’d Mirs.d
rab Stout to read the Letter ;3 and while fhe was
rexding it Icry’d; faith the, Why do youcry:
Said I, Becaufe my Child is fo far off.  Said fhe,
If I live till Winter is over, I will go over Sc1
far as I can for the Land.

Mr. Bar. Hatfzll. What was the Occalion of her
faying {o ? Mre.

I
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Mrs. Grub 1 was wathing my Mafter’s Study,
Mrs. Sarab Stont came in, and I had a Letter from
my Daughter at Guernfey, and I pray’d Mrs.Sarab
$sout to read ity and fhe read my Letter, and I
cry’d, and fhe afl’d me why I cry’d 3 fmﬁ I, l?E-
cufs my Child is fo far off : Saith fhe, if I live
o Winter, or till Winter is over, I will go over
Geq as far as I can for the Land. |

Mr. Cowper. Now, my Lord, to brm_g this
Matter of Melancholy to the Point of Time, I
will call one Witnels more, who will fpeak of a
remarkable Inftance that happen’d on Satuiday be-
fore the Menday when (he did deftroy her felf.

Call Mr. Jofeph Tayler. Pray, will you inform
the Court and Jury of what you obferv’d on §a-
surday before the Monday on which Mrs. Stout de-
ftroy'd her flf. ' o

¥, Taylor. 1 happen’d to go 1 at Mr. Fzrmmfs
Shop, and there fhe fat the Saturdey before this
Accident happen’d, the former Affizes, and I was
faying to her, Madam, I think youlook ftrangely
difcontented 5 1 never faw you drefs’d fo in my
Life : Saith fhe, the Drefs will ferve me as long
as I Mhall have occafion for a Drefs.

Mr. Cowper. In what Poflure did fhe appear in
the Shop ?

7. Taylor. She appear’d to be verymelancholy..

Mr, Cewper, What Part of her Drefs did you
find fault with?

¥. 9aylr. It was her Fead-cloaths.

Mr, Cewoper. What was the Matter with them ?

7. Daylor. 1 thought her Head was dawb’d
with fome kind of Greale or Charcoal.

Mr. Cowper. What Anfwer did the make ?

7+ Taylor. She faid, they would ferve her Time.

Mr. Cowper. As to this Piece of Evidence, if
your Lordthip pleafes, 1 defire it may be particu-
larly taken notice of 5 *twas her Flead-drefs that
{he faid would ferve her Time.

Pray, Mr. Taylor, was you at Mr. Barefoor’s
when I came there on Monday Morning ?

7. Taylor. Yes; 1 went up Stairs with you into
your Chamber.

Mr.Cowper. Pray whatdid I fay to Mr. Barefoot ?

7. Tay/or. You afk’d him if they had reccived
n Letier from your Brother, and he faid, No, not
that he knew of, but he would call hisWife ; and he
did call hisWife, and afk’d her if fhe had receiv’d
a Letter, and fhe faid, No ; then faid you, T will
take up this Lodging for mine ; and accordingly
youwent up Stairs, and I went with you, and ftaid
there about four times as long as I have been here,

Mr. Cowper. Are you very fure that I faid I
would take up my Lodgings there?

/- Taylor. Yes, Tam very fure of it.

Mr.BaronHatfel. What T ime of the Day wasic?

J-dayhr. *Twas the fore Part of the Day
whil: Twasthere,my Lord, Mrs.Sarab Ston’s Maid
cime o invite Mr. Cezeper to her Houfe to Dinner.,

Mr. Cesoper. Did you know any thing of my
feidinz to the Coffee-houfe ?

J- Yazbi, You fent to the Coffec-houfe for
your Things,

Mr. Baron Hatfell, Did M. Cozwoper ufe to lie
at Virs, Bﬁrq[aaf’s ?

7+ Taxtor. His Brother did, but I do not know
whether this Gentleman did 5 but at that Time
!!t: took up that Place for his Lodging, and faid,
Wwas all one, my Brother muft pay for’t, and
terefore T will take it up for my {clf.

Mr. Comoper, Call M rs. Barefeot and her Maid,
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(But they not prefently appearing.)

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, in the mean time I
will go on to the other Part of my Evidence, in
opening of which T fhall be very thort.

My Lord, my Wife lodging at Hertford, occa-
fion’d me frequently to come down,  Mrs. Stous
became well acquainted with ber: When Bulinefs
was over i the long Vacation, I refided pretty
much at Heriford, and Mr. Marfhell came down to
pay me a Vifit, and this introduced his Knowledge
of Mrs.§teut. When {he was firlt acquainted with
him fhe receiv’d him wich a great deal of Civility
and Kimndnefs, which induced him to make his
Addrefles to her, as he did, by way of Courtfhip.
It happen’d one Evening that fhe and one Mrs.
Crook, Mr. Marfhall. and my felf, were walking to-
aether,andMr. Alar/ball and Mrs.Crook going fome
hetleWay before us, fhe took this Opportunity to
{peak to me, in fuch Terms, I muflt confefs, as fur-
priz’d me. Says fhe, Mr. Cowper, I Jid not think
you had been fo dull. T was inquifitive to know
in whatmy Dulnefs did confilt. Why, faysthe, do
you imagine 1 intend to marry Mr. Marfhall? 1
faid, I thought fhe did, and that if fhe did not,
fhe was much to blame in what fhe had done ¢
No, fays fhe, I thought it might ferve to divert
the Cenfure of the World, and favour our Ac-
quaintance, My Lord, I have fome original Let-
ters under her own Hand, which will make this
fully manifeft : T will produce the Letters after I
have call’d Mr, Marfhall. Nr. Maifball.

Mr. Marfball. 1t your Lordihip pleafes, it was
in the long Vacation I came down to fpend a lit-
tle of my leifure Timeat Hertferd 5 the Reafon of
my going thither was,becaufe Mr.Cowwpir wasthere
at that Time, The firlt Night when I camedown
I found Mrs, Sarab Stont viliting at Mr. Creoper’s
Lodgings, and there I firlt came acquainted with
her ; and fhe afterwards gave me frequent Oppor-
tunities of improving that Acquaintance : And by
the Manner of my Reception by her, T had noRea-
fon to {ufpett the Ufe it feems I was defign'd for.
WhenI came to Town, my Lord, I wasgenerally
told of my courting Mrs. S#ont, which I confefs
was not then in my Head ; but it being repre-
fented to me asa Thing eafy to be got over, and
belteving the Report of the World as to her For-
tune, Idid afterwards make my Applicationto her,
but, upon very lictle Trial of that fort, I receiv’d
a very fair Denial, and there ended my Suity Mr.
Cowper having been {o friendly tome, as to give me
notice of fome Things, that convinc’d me [ oughe
to be thankful I had no more to do with her.

Mr.Baron He#fe/l, When did fhe caft you off?

Mr. Mayfball, I can’t be pofitive as to theTime,
my Lord, but it was in Anfwer to the only fe-
rious Letter I ever writ to her 3 as I remember,
I was not over-importunate in this Affair, for 1
never was a very violent Lover.

M. Baron Hatfell. Well, but tell the Time as
near as you can.

Mr. Marfball. I believe*twas the fecond or third
time Icame down to Hertford, which 1s about a
Year and half fince; and, during the Whole of
my Acquaintance with her, Inever til! then found
her averfe 1 any Propofal of mine ; but (he then
telling me, her Refolution was not to comply
with what I defir’d, I took her at her Word, ha-
ving partly by my own Obfervation, but more
by Mr. Cowper’s Friendfhip, been pretty well
able to guels at her Meaning,. y

I
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Mr.Cowper.Becanfe what you fay may ftand con-
firm’d beyond Contradiction, I defire you to fay
whether you have any Letters from her to yourfelf,

Mr. Marfhall. Yes, 1 havea Letter inmy Hand
which fhe fent me, upon occafion of fome Songs
I fent her when I came to Town, which fhe had
betore defired of me; and thisis a Letter 1n An-
fwer to mine ; *tis her Hand-writing, and directed
to me,

Mr. Baron Hatfell. How do you know ’us her
Hand-writing ¢

Mr. Marfball, 1 have f{cen her write, and feen
and receiv’d feveral Letters from her.

Mr. Cowper. Pray fhew ic Mr. Beale.

Mr. Beale. 1 belicve it to be her tland 5 I have
{een her write, and have a Receipt of hers,

Clerk of Arr. *Tis direted to Mr. Thomas Mar-

fhall, at Lyons- Tun, and dated Sept. 26, 1697,

SIR, Sept, 26, 1697.
Ours came very fafe s but Iwifb you bad explain’d
your Meaning a little niove about the Aecident you

[peak of 5 for L bave been puszling iy Bratins evei fince's
end without I fball fet wy fCIf to conjuiing, I caniot
inagine what it fhould be, for I knowo of nothing that
happen’d aftcr you went away, nor iio Diftourfe about
you, only whei we were toguther, the Company would
Fometimes drinkyourHealth, i wifh you bad been there,
o the like s fo that 1 fancy it anft be fometbing Mr.
bas invented for Diverfion s the' Imuft con-
fefs we have a fort of Peaple here, that are infpir'd
with the Gift of Foreknowledge, who will tell one as
ach for nothing as any Afrologer will have a good
Piece of Moy for. But, to lcave jefting, I caimnot
tell when 1 fhall coine to London, unlefs it be for a
Night and away, about foine Bufinefs wwith my Bro-
ther, that 1 muft be obliged to atiend bis Motionss
but when I do, I fhall remember my Proiife, altho’
I do not fuppofe you cie any ssie in earicft thai ny
[elf in this Matter, 1give yon Thans for your Songs
and your good IVifbes, and ief

Your loving Duck,

Mr. Cowper. Have you any more Letters?

Mr. Marfhall. Yes, I have another Letter here;
but, before *tis read, I think ’twill be proper to
ajve the Court an Account of the Occafion of 1ts
being writ. I waited on Mrs. Stous one Lvening
at her Lodpings in Houndfditch, and at our parting
fhe appointed to meet me the next Day s and to
excufe her not coming according to that Ap-
pointment, fhe fent me tlis Lezter.

Clerk of Arr. * Tisdirected to Mr.Thoinas Mar-

fhall 5 °tis without Date,

My, Marthall,
J Met unexpebied with one that casie from H—-d

lnft Night, who detain’d mz fo long with relating
1he moft notorions Inventions and Lyes that aie neo
extant among [} thofe People,that Iconld not poffibly conire
2l twas late 5 and thisDay woas appointed for Bufinefs,
that I am uncertain when it will be finif’ds fo that
believe I cannot fee you wbilt I am in Town. Ihave
#o more at prefent, but that Lam your obligea Fricad.

Mr, Cozwper. Now, my Lord, if your Lord{hp
pleafe, I proceed to thew you, that I went not fo
much voluntarily as prefs’d by her to come to this
Houfe, and for that I will produce one Letter
from her to my felf'; and, my Lord, I muft a little
inform you of cthe Nature of this Letter. It ison

the Outfide dire@ed to Mrs.Fane Ellen, to belef;
for her at Mr. Hargrave’s Coflee-houle, For her
to dire&t for me at a Coffee-houle, might make
the Servants wonder, and the Poft-man migh
{ufpelt, and for that Reafon fhe directed it in that
manner. T here was Mr. Mar/hall by when T rece.
ved it, and I can prove the Hand by Mr. Beal,

Mr. Marfbell, My Lord, I verily believe I was
by, and that Mr. Cowper fhew’d me this Let
immediately on receipt of it, as he had done f-
veral others from the fame Hand.

Cl of Arr. Thisisdireéted for Mrs. Yane Elz,
*T'is dated March the 5th, without any Year.

STR, March the sth,
Vi A gladycu bave not quite forgot that theye1s fuch g

Perfon as Lin being s but I am witling to fout yyy
Eyes, and not fee any Thing that looks like Unkindnef
in you, and rather content my felf with what Exculs
you are pleasd to make, than be inquifitive into<oba: I
amft not knoto. I fhould veryreadily complyith ysu;
Propofition of changing the Seafon, if 1t were i iy
Pozwer to do it but youknoww that lies altegether inyozy
sion Breaft : Tam fure the Winter bas beei too wiple-
fant for e to defire the Continnance of it 5 and I wifs
youoere fo endure the Sharpnefs of it but for viteHonr,
as I bave done for many long Nights and Days,and th.;
I belicze 1t would move that rocky Heart of yours, tha!
can bz fo thoughtlels of me as you are : But if it tire
defizi’d for that End, towake the Summcr 1£e more -
lightful, Iwifhit may bave the E (feét fo far, aslocor-
tinme it to be fotoo, that the Veather mayiever 6%
caft again 5 the which if Ieould be affur’d of, it war.!
recompenfeine for all that Thave ever fuffor’dygird iicie
me as ealy a Creature as Iwas the firft Moicut r:-
ceiv’d Breath. When you come to H——d pray
your Steedguideyouyand doi’t do as you did thelaft tiiis
ond be fure order your Affairs to be bere as foon s i
cainy shich caniot bz foonci thai you will be biditiy
wolcoine 10 your very fincere ricad,

For Mrs. fane Elleir, at Mr, Hargreve's
neat Zemplz- Bar, London.

Mr. Cowper. Tho® it is directed to Mrs. Tz
Elleir, it begins in the Infide, Sir 5 and ’tis datel
the 5th of March next before the 15th.

Mr. Baron Hatfell, What Mareh was it ?

Mr. Murfball. 1 kept no Account of theTime,
but Iam very pofitive, by the Contents, that Mr.
Cowper Thewed me this Letter, and I read 1z, but
by my now Remembrance, it fhould be longer
fince than Aarch laft.

Mr. Cowper, It was Marchlalt. Thatwhich il
fet Mr. Marfhall’s Memory to rights is this other
Letter, which I received at the Rainbow, when he
was by, and he read it ; and it importuning ue
to a Matter of this kind, I did produce it 1o 1
Brotherand him ; they both knew of i, and botit
read 1L, and that will refrefh his Mentory coi-
cerning the Date of the other. |

Mr. Maifball. My Lord, I was in the Coilee
houfe with Mr. Cowper when he receive’d this Let-
ter 3 and he afterwards thew’d it to Mr. JVii:
Cowwper, at the Csoent-garden Tavern,w hen I wasby

CL. of the Arr. This 1sdated the gth of N Liredy
and directed to Mrs, Fane Elfen, at W, Hﬁg?‘:ﬂ‘f‘i

S 1 R: Narch 0.
[t 1o you by Sunday’sPoft, which I bopeyss haz

receiv'd y bowever, asa Confirmation, Iwill affuié
yo I know of no Tnconveniency thai can atl it vour €0
Labiing

L
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| babiting with Mgy unlefs the Grand ?}f{{y Should ,tbere-
L pon find Bill againft us 3 but 1 won’t fly for’t, for
i come Life, come Deathy I am refolved uever to defert
o s therefore according toyonr dppotntment Tawillex-
and till thein I fhall only tell yon, that I am,

Y ours &,

ﬂt‘;‘?)‘cﬂ{,
o Mrs. Jane Ellen af

Mr. Hargrave’s sear
Temple-Bar, London.

Mr. Crper. I your Lordfhip pleafe, I will
further prove this Letter by my Brother, |

Mr. [7. Cowper. Ic:mbe_nr my Brother Witnefs,
hatwhen he has been advifed to make thefe Let-
ers Part of his Defence, he hath exprefled grear
Unwillingnefs, and has fuid, nothing but the Life
of thefe Gentlemen could inchine him to 1t. '

My Lord, all I can fay to this Matt;r ls_thls: I
1o remember, thatwhen fhe was one time in Loi-
Jon, 1 think it was abouta Year and a half {ince,
[am not pofitive as tothe Time, but whqn fhe was
v T oo, my Brother came 1n the Morning to my
Chamber in the Temple, and after fome Difcourfe,
he told mic he had recerv’d a Luttcr_ﬁ'om Mrs, Stout
that Day, wherein he faid, fhe intended him a
Vifit at his Chamber that Afternoons he told me
.t the fame time, that his Friend Mr. Marfball had
fome Thoughts of her, and therefore for that, as
well as other Reafons, he would decline receiving
the Vific intended him ; and upon Confideration,
this was the Method agreed upon : At that Time
I lived with my Fatherin Hatton- Gardens and this
Gentlewoman having writin the fame Letter I now
fpeak of, that fhe defigned to dire there, and to
come from thencein the Afternoon ; fays my Bro-
ther, you may cafually, as it were, take occalion
to fay at Dinner, that my Bufinefs obliges me to
a0 to Deptferd in the Afterncon, as 1n good ear-
neft it did, as he then told me, and from that fhe
may take a Hincof my not being at home, and fo
fave her felf the Difappointment of coming to my
Chamber. I told Lim I would find an Opportu-
nity of doing ic if [could. At Dinner my Father
happen’d to afk me, as he often did, when I faw
my Brother 2 T rook this Hint, and faid I had
feen himat my Chamber in the Morning, and that
he was gone to Deptford that Aftersoon about
lome Law Bufinefs, My Lord, Mrs. $/eut was
then at the Table, 1 no fooner faid 1t, but I ob-
ferv’d fhe chang’d Colour prefently, and rofe with

her Napkin, and went into the Back-yard, and

we faw her through a Safh-window fall mntoa
Woman’s Fit of Swooning, and they gave her
the Affiftance that is ufual in fuch Cafcs.

My Lord, the next Thing 1 can fpeak toisthis:
The Parliament fitting late the Fiiday before the
Aisiday of the laft Aflizes at Hertford, 1 camelate
trom Dinner, Thad din’d about Seven a-Clock, as
[remember, and having occafion to {peak with my
Brother, I found him out by Enquiry at theCoverns-
GardenT avern,and there was Mr. Masfhall of Licus-
fmwith him, I had not drunk above a Glafs or
two of Wine, but my Brother began with me, and
f“d, I feldom trouble you with Affairs of mine,
but now 1 do not know well how to avord 1t. |
have receiv’d an importunate Letter, which I will
thew you ; it came from a Lady, whofe Name I
b]::l:eve you will guefs 5 fo he pull’d it out of his
Pocket.and read it fo often, becaufe of the Odd-
nels of the Expreffion, that I can fay, Iam fure
thisis the very Letter he thew'd meat the Covent-
Gﬂ{*;feu 'l"a‘\;ern the Friday before the laft Affizess
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faith he, the Occafion of my fhewing 1t, 1s not to
expole 2 Woman’s Weaknefs, but I would not
willingly lie under too many Obligations, nor en-
gage too far 3 nor on theother hand, would I be
at an unneceffary Expence for a Lodging. Upon
this Subje there was fome Difcourfe, I think, fo-
reign to this Purpofe, and therefore I would not
trouble your Lordfhip with a Repetition of ir 3
that which is material is this 3 I did undértake to
write to Mr. Baiefoot’s to difpofe of his Lodgings,
where I us’d to be at the Time of the Aflizes, and
my Brother with me. 1 faid I would wrice the
nextDay, being Satzrday 5 but when I fhould have
writ, it wasvery late, and I was weary, being then
tied down to the Bufinefs of Parliament, and part-
Iy for that Reafen, and partly in point of Difcre-
tion, which I had upon my fecond Thoughts,
that *twould be better for my Brother’s Bufinefs
to be at Mr. Barefoot’s, which 1s near the Courr,
and in che Market-place, I did negle&t writ-
ting 3 and tho’ I thought of it about Eleven a-
Clock, yet, asI faid, partly for one Reafon, and
partly for the other, I did not write that Time.
My Lord, my Brother could know nothing of this
Matter 5 for [ did not fee him from the Friday
he fhew’d me the Letter, till he went to the Af-
fizes; {o that he could not know before he was
at Heriford, that I had not writ. My Lord, I
fay as to this Letter, I am fure he fhew’d methe
Iriday nexc before the laft Affizes.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Let me fee that Letter,
(Which was fhewon bis Lordfbip.)

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, onear two of the Jury
feem to queftion whether the Letters are fuffici-
ently prov’d ; for their Satisfaction, I will fur-
ther prove them.  Call Mr. Fobn Beale, ¥illiam
Ocker, and Mrs, Low. My Lord, Mr, Beale is

one of their own Sett,
(The Witnefles prov’d bher Hand.)

Fury. My Lord, we are fatisfied.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. T believe you may afk her
Mother, fhe will tell you whether it be her
Daughter’s Hand.

Mrs.Stont. How fhonld Tknow! Iknow fhe was
no {uch Perfon, her Hand may be counterfeited,

Mr, Baron Hatfell. But if 1t were written in a
more fober Stile, what would you fay then?

Mrs. Stont. 1 fhan’c fay it to be her Hand,

unlels I faw her write 1,
(Then the Letter was fhewn to My, Stout. )

Mr. Stont. *Tis like my Sifter’s Hand.,

Mr.Bar. Hatfell. Do you believeic to be herHand ?

Mr. Stout. No, I don’c believe it ; becaufe it
don’t fuit her Charalter.,

Mr. Bar. Hazfell. Butdo you think fhe might not
conceal from you what were her inward Thoughts.

Mr. Sront. Not 1n fuch a Degree as this.

Mr. Cowper. Call Mrs. Barefoot and her Maid.
I defire they may be afk’d what they know abous
my taking of Lodgings at their Houfe.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. This is taken for granted.

Mrs. Barefcet. When you came to my Houfe,
you afk’d me, if I had receiv’d a Letter from
your Brother, and I told you, No.

Mr. Cowper. What did I fay to that?

Mrs. Barefoot. Then you afk’d me if I expected
you? and I told you, Yes, by reafon I had heard
nothing from you.

Mr. Cewper, Where did I lodge that Night ?
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Mrs. Barzfoot. 1 had prepar’d the Lodging be-
fore you came, expetting youor Mr, Cowper your
Brother.

Mr. Cowper. And I did come?

Mrs, Barefoot. Yes, asyou usd to do.

Mr. Cowper. Did I fend for my Things from

the Coffee-houfe? _
Mrs, Barefoot. Yes, you did, and I carried them

up in your Chamber as I us’d to do. _
Mz . Baron Hatfell, Where did Mr. Cowper dine

that Day ? -
Mrs. Barefoot. Mrs, Stout fent her Maid todefire

him to come to Dinner at their Houfe 5 whether he
went thither or no I can’t fay, but he went out.
Mr, Cowper, What Time did I come into my
Lodging that Night ?
5 *
Mrs. Barefoot. It was 2 little after Eleven,
Mr, Coawper, You are furc I came ma lieele af-

ter Eleven.
Mys. Barefoot. Yes.

Mr. Foies. By what Clock ¢ By theTown-Clock ?

Mys. Barefaot. Yes.
Mr.Cowper. Did I go out any more that Night?

Mrs, Baicfoot. No.
Mr, Cowper. Is your Maid there ?

Mrs, Barefost. Yes.

M. Baron Hatfefl. What is your Name ?

Mys, Haniwell. Mary Hanwell,

Mr, Cowper. Pray, what Time was it I came
to my. Lodging ?

Mrs. Flanzwell. You came in a fittle after Ele-
ven a-Clock.

Mr. Cowper, Are you very pofitive in that?

Mis. Heirwell, Yes, 1 am very pofitive.

Mr. Cowper. What was done before [ went to
Bed ¢

Mrs. Huiawell. My Lord, T went up and madea
Fire, and then I came downagain, and thenI went
up and warm’d Mr. Grwper’s Bed, and then he de-
fir’d another Blanket, and 1 came down for it 3
and all chis took up a confiderable Time; and Mr.
Crwpei was in Bud before T'welve a-Clock.

M. Cowwper. Did 1 go out again that Night?

Mus. Hanwell. No, you went out no maore.

Mr. Cowper. Now, if your Lordfhip pleafes, I
would explain thatParcof Sarab Walker the Maid’s
Evidence, where fhe fays her Miftrefs order’d her
to warm the Bed, and I never contradicted it. Your
Lordthip obferves theWords in the laft of the two
Letters,No Tuconvericnce cait attend your cobabiting
coith ey and atterwards, T won’t Fly for it ¢ For
coine Life came Deathy [ am refolo’d, and fo on——
I had rather leave ic to beobferved, than makethe
Obfervation my felf, whatmight be the Difpute be-
tween us at the Time the Maid {peaks of, I think
it was not neceflary fhe fhould be prefent at the
Debate 5 and thercfore I might not interrupt her
Miltte(s inthe Orders (he gave ; but as {oon asthe
Maid was gone, I made ule of thele Objections ;
and 1 told Mrs, Stont, by what Accident [ was ob-
lized to take up my Lodging at Mr, Barefost’s,
and that the Fanuly was ficting up for me: That
my flaying at her Houle under thefe Circum-
ftances, would n probability provoke the Cenfure
of the T'own and Country; and that therefore |
could not ftay, whatever my Inclination otherwife
might be 5 but, my Lord, my Realons not pre-
vatling, I was forced todecide the Controverfy by
soing tomy Lodging, fo that the Maid may fwear
true,when fhe fays I did not contradict her Orders.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. 1 belicve you have done
now, Mr. Cowper,

Mr. Cozwper, No, my Lord, T have more Ey;.
dence to give. Call Zlizabeth Spurr.

If your Lordfhip pleafes to obferve, I haveg].
ready proved by two Witneffes that [ was actually
at Mr. Barefoot’s a little after Eleven; fo thar ]
was to reft upon this Proof, herc is not the foft
Article of Time, in which it can be fuppofed I vy
employ’d in this Matter : But, fays Sarah Vg,
the Maid, to obviate (I prefume) this Evidcnc::
of mine, our Houfe-Clock went fafter than g,
Town-Clock., Nowtoanfwer this too, I thall fyr
ther prove to your Lordfhip, that before I came
to my Lodging, I was at the Glve and Delply
Inn, where I had a little Account of abour fiy o
feven Shillings, as 1 remember, for Horlh-]{tcp.
ing, and which I then paid.

Mr. Cowper. Do you remember my coming 1
your Houfe, and at what Time?

E Spurr. The Clock {truck Eleven, juft asyoy
came tnto the Door. '

Mr.Cowper. How long did [ ftay at the Gy, ¢

E, Spurr. About a Quarter of an FHour,

Mr. Cowper. How tar is it from the Glove and
Dolphin to Mrs, Stort’s Houfe?

E. Spurr. About a Quarter of a Mile, or no:
quite fo far,

Mr.Cowper. Call Mary Kingitt, and Gesrge Vs,
(who not then appearing ) in the mican time, [ wogld
obferve to your Lordthip, that to go from M
Stout’s Houfe to the Place where the wasdrown?d,
and to return from thence to the Gleve and Dsl.
phiny will take up at lealt half ap Hour, as Il
prove, and then the Matter will ftand thus: Suys
Sarab I¥7alker, you went about a Quarter after F-
leven 5 butour Clock went half an Flour too faft:
Then according to her Account, Twent three Quar-
ters after Ten by the Town-Clock 5 and if it re.
quires (asIfay, 1 fhall prove it does) halfan Heur
to go to the Place where fhe was drown’d, and
return from chence to the GLye Inn, thar woull
make ita Quarter palt Eleven when I came to the
Inn by the Town-Clock, which it was not 5 and
if I ftaid therea Quarter of an IHour (which is pro-
ved I did not)it muft be half an HourafterEleven
when [ came to my Lodging by the fame Clock,
which it was not 3 {o that 1 think this Matter
to the Time 1s very clear. My Lord, to proveth:
T'ime itrequires to go from Mrs.Steuf's to the Place
where the drown’d her {elf, and to return to th
Glove, Ydefive Sir 7Villiain Afbrift may be called,

Siv William Aforift. My Lord, Tcan’t fay Twalid
as faft as I could, but I went with a Gentleman |
{ee here to fatisfic my felf about the Probability
of this Matter 3 [ wall’d as People ufually do,
and 1 found it took up halt an Hour and a M
nute, when I walk’d with thar Gentleman,

Mr. Baron Hatfell. Who was with you, Sir 3

Sic William Afbuif. Mr. Thompfer vras wil
me the Time I mention. I walk’d it before with
Sir Theines Lane.

Mr. Thompfon, My Lord, indeed it will taks
a compleat half Hour.

My, Gsioper. 1 delire Sir Thosmas Lane may gis:
you an Account of the Diftance between one Pl
and the other.

Sir Thomas Lane. Sir William Afpurft and 1 dd
walk to the Place mentioned ,and we were careftl
to take notice of the Time, and it took up abot
three Quarters of an Hour, according to MY
Obfervation 5 and we did not ftay at all by the

Way, except jult to look upon the Hofpiml.\ 1
Al
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Nir. Cowrer Now, my Ln:;d, Mary Kingist and
Geeree Mait, Ehe-SErv:mt:; et L G/&’L:f:.’-.r are CGH}E 1’
Pray, Mrs. Kigitt, do you !-emfmbt.r my coming
into the Glsv: ad Dolphin 2

Ny Rangelds Yes. )

Mr. Coswpein Hlow long did [ flay there?

Mary Kingtit. About a quarter of an Hour,

M. Cowper. What was mv Buﬁn_el:s there?

Mary Kragitt. Youcame and enguir’d what you
U_*.!’{L .

M. Bar. Hatfoll. What a-Clock was 1t then ?

Rierv Ringitt. T thought it wasabout Eleven g
our Uotaer Maid told 1t Eleven, o

Mr., Fones. How came you to talce Notice of
the Time ?

Mapy Kiugitt. She heard the Clock go Bleven,
bhut I did not.

Mr. Cowwrer. Was there any Difpute about the
Account ?

Mare Kingist. You afk’d the Hoftler how thag
came 1o fand in the Buok, concerning the Horfes
for you told him, Youthought you had paid iome
Part of it. and he told yeu, You had not.

Vir. Cﬁ‘wpfr. M Yy Lord, with your I.‘nrdfhilfs
F;wour, I\‘.’GHI:} ﬂﬂ{ G.rf;;'g:r ﬁ'f.’?ﬂ Y] Qil{:ﬁinn O Eflt:
faime Point. Do you remember my coming it
the Ghoe eind Dﬂ@f:f}f ? G. . Yes,

Nr C'f-':i"p‘ . How lﬁﬂg did I H'L!)f there ?

G. Man. You ftaid but a ¢uarter of an Hour,
a8 NeAr s | éatﬂ guf:l's.

Mr. Crezper. will now call a Witnefs to prove
dhat this Maid Sareb [l alier 1s not {o cautious and
careful how fhe fwears, asT think fhe ought to be,

Call Mis. Mince,

Me. Bar. zig!fell. Pray whercia hath Sarab PP altor
faid any Thing that 1s falfe ?

My, Cowper. In thisy Infk’d her when fhe gave
Fyidence, Whether fhe went out ro fee for hep
Miftrefsall chat Nighe, and whether her Mifirefs
did ot ufz to flay oura-Nights, and whether fhe
her @ i had not ufed to fay fo ¢ If your Lordihip
pleafes toremember the fard Neo, Pray Mrs. Mince,
what have you heard Mrs. Stons’s Maid fay con-
corirg her Miftrefs, particularly as to her flay-
ing our af] Night?

MNrs. Mince, She hath faid, That her Miftrefs
cid rot love to keep Company with Quakers; and
that fhe paid for her own Board and her Maid’s
arnd, that when fhe entertain’d any Body, *twas ag
her own Charge. And fhehath faid,chatMrs.Stout
uied to afk, Who is with you, Child? and fhe
would nottell her 3 and, that fhe did entertain her
Friends in the Summer-houfe now and then with
i Bottle of Wines and when her Mother afli’d
who vwas there, her Miftrefs would fay, Bring it
in here, Huprofe there is nonebut Friends : And
it the Company was gone, ‘he us’d to make
fier Mother believe chat fhe went to Bad, but fhe
Sd to o our and take the Key with her, and
onetmes The would go out at the Window 3 and
fhe faid particnlarly, Onc time fhe went out at
the Garden Window, when the Garden Daor was
lock®d, and, that fhe bid ker not fic up for her,
for fhi: wonld not come in at any Time,

Mr.Thar. Hagfell, Did cver Sarab IFalker tell you
that Mrs. §24 haid out all Night ?

Mrs, Mince, She hath a1d, She could not tell
what Time the came in, for the went to Bed,

Mr. Cozeper. Now, if your Lordfhip pleafe,] will
Prove to you, ific may be thought material, that
G"f{f"’)’-.. at{‘-’hofc Foufe thefe Gentlemen Jodg’d,
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fhould fay, ThatifI had vifited Mrs, Stont none of
all thishad been(upon {o lictle an Omiffion it feems
did this Profecutiondepend ). To which I give this
Anfwer, my Lord 3 I neverdid once go to vifit her
in my Life, the knowsit, Now, for a2 Man offi-
cioufly to make a new Vifit in the Time of the
Affizes, oneengag’d in Bufinefs as I was, and efpe-
cially upon fo melancholy an Occafion, I fay, for
me to goofficioully to fee a Woman I never had
cthe lealt K now]edge of, would have been thought
more {trange (and juftly might have been fo) than
the Omiffion of that Ceremony. Formy Parr, I
cannot concelve what Mr. Gurrey could mean, this
being the Cafe, by faying, Thatif I had vifited
Mrs. Stout, nothing of this had happend.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell. Mr. Cowpery he 1snot che Pro-
fecutor, I think ’tis no matter what he faid.

Mr. Cowoper. 1 take it, my Lord, with humble
Submiflion, “tis material as he is a principal Wit-
nefs againft thefe Gentlemen 5 and the racher, for
that he now pretends, that what he did was out
of Confcience. My Lord, I haveonly one Thing
more to fay, I know not whether "twill be requi-
fite for me, or no, to give fome Account of my
feif.  Sir William Afbuift, 1f you pleafe.

Sir Wilfiam dfbburft. My Lord, 1f T had not had
a oood Opinion of this Gentleman, I had not
come on purpole to hear this Caufe, which has
made {o great a Noife all Eugland over.

Mr. Bar. Hatfell, But whatdo youfay as to Mr.
Cowpei’s Reputation, for which you arecall’d ?

Sir William Afburft. T alwaysthought Mr. Cozy-
per to be a Gentleman of fingular Humanity and
Integrity 5 he is an Officer in London, and as to
his Management of his Office, T think no Man
ever perform’d it better, or has a better Reputa-
tion in the Place where he lives.

Sir Thomas Lane. My Lord, I came hither on
purpofe to own this Gentleman, and indeed he de-
ferves to be own’d by his Friends, and thofe that
know hims his Character is altogether untainted
with us, he haseain’d a good Reputationin the Bu-
nefs wheretn he is concern’d, he has behav’d him-
felf in his Office which he holdsof the City of Lox-
deizvery honeftly and well; Inever knew him difco-
ver any i}l Naturein his Temper; I think he can’
be fufpe€ied of thisorany other At of Barbarity.

Mr. Cozsper. My Lord,in the next place I would
call Mr. Cox, who has the Honour to ferve in Par-
liament for the Borough of Senthwark,and hasbeen
my near Neighbour thefe eight or nine Years, If
you pleafe, Mr. Cox, give an Account what Re-
putation and Character I have m that Place.

Mr.Cox. My Lord, 1liven Southwark, where
Mr. Cowper lives: Thaveliv’d by himeightor nine
Yearss I know him to bz a Perfon of Integrity
and Worth, all the Neighbourscourt his Company.
[ take him to have as much Honour and Honefty
as any Gentleman whatfoever 5 and, of all Men
that I know, he would be the Jaft Man that ]
fhould fufpect of fuch a Fact as this is: I believe
nothing in the World could move him to enter-
tain the leaft Thought of fo foul an At

Mr. Cowoper. Mr. Thompfon, I defire you would be
pleas’d to givean Accountof whatyou know of me,

Mr. Ticmpfon, 1F youpleale, my Lord, the firft
Acquaintance T had with Mu. Coiwper was in our
Childhood, T had the Honour to go to #7effannfter
School with him 3 Tdid not rencw my Acquain-
tance with him ol about five Yearsago 5 fince that
T'ime I have beenoften with him, and have feveral

(g 2 ‘T1imes
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Times had Occafion to afk his ‘Advice in Matters
relating to his Profeflion; and 1 think no Man
more faithful in the Service of his Chent than he
is, and I am fure he is very delerving of the .-
{teem of any Man, and I believe he never enter-
tain’d a Thought of fo foul and barbarous a Fact
as this, of which he isacculed.

M. Bar. Hatfell. Mr. Meaifor,youhave heard the
Evidence, what do you fay to1t?

Mr, Mar/on. My Lord, our Bufinefsat Ifei!ford
was this: M. Elfis Steveisand [ went down, he is
Clerk of'the Papersofthe King’s- Beachyand ir Ko-
aersisSteward of the King’e-Beich, and itwas their
Duty to waitupon my Lord Chief- Jultice, with the
Marfhal of the King's- Beach,out of Town s and on
Meudey Morning we went to my Lord Chiet- Ju-
ftice’sHoule in Lincoli s~ Tnn-Frelds jas weus’d o do,
and there fet out; butI, being an Attorney of the
Boirough Court, could not with any Coaventence
v farcher with them than to a Place which Tthimk
is call’d Kiigfland, and therctore 1 retur’d to my
Bulinefs in Soutbroark,where Lattended the Court,
as was cuffomary and neceflary for me to do, and
fer forth from thence at palt Four in the After-
noon: By the way, as [ remember, about Z7atheiis-
Crofs, 1 mevone M. Iauks, aClergymanof my Ac-
quaintance, who had been likewife to attend my
1.ord Chicf- Juftice o Ilertford, and was returning
from thenee s with foroe Perfuation T prevaiPd with
him to go bacl: again with me to /4piford, telling
him, T did not know the Way 5 and we gallop’d
every Step of 1r, becanfe Night was coming on, it
was about Iizht a-Clock when we camein, M,
Flails and [ {sund the Marfhal, My, Srezons, M,
Rogers, Mr. Rurkinsand othersofthe Marfhal’s A e-
quaintace, at the Cotfecahoufe 3 and truly when
cane in, I nuglit, for ought @ know, be ma Sweat
with riding fo hard as wedid,buteven then Twas
not 1 fuch o Sweat as the Witneds would have 1t
My J.ord, we went from thence to the Glsve aind
De/phny and ffay’d there ollabout Elevena- Clock.
viv, Reporiand Thada Difputewho thould lie wizh
Vi Szevens at the now Witnels Mr, Grirev’ss at
[aft twasagreed Letween us to go to Guriey’sto fee
what Convertence he could make for us, and to
drink a Glafsof Wineat our Lodging 5 but alter-
wardsit came i M, Rathin's Flead that he wasto
fic with the Marthal, and for that reafon, he faid,
he would go back agatn s and accordingly he went,
and My, Heiks with lnm, after they had feen us into
our Lodgings, and Mr, Stevens, M, Rezersand |
drank three Bottles of Wine together, Mr. Grivey,
our Landlord, was {fenttoferch 10y and atterwards
in jocular Converfation,Ibclicve My, Stevens mighe
alkk Myv.Gurrey it he knew one Mrs. Sarah Ston: 2 and
the Realon why he afli’d that Queftion our Wit-
nefs will explain. I believe he mighe likewife afk
what {ortof Woman fhe was? and poflibly Imight
fay the Words, Ay Fiicid sy be inewith berytho® T
remember ot I did fay any thing likeit, but T fay
there s a Poflibiliy 1 nnght, becaufe I had heard
e had deny’d Mr. Maifball’s Suir, and thac might
wduce e to fay, My Fricadinay be inwith ber, lor
all that Iremember. Iconfefs Mr. Rogers afk’d me
what Money I had got that Day, meaning at the
Borough-Court? Tanlwer’d, Fifry Shillings 5 faich
he, We have been here a {pending our Money, 1
think you ought to treat us, or to that purpofe.
As to the Bundle mention’d, § had no fuch, except
a Pair of Sleevesand a Neckeloth, As to the Evi-
dence which goes to Words fpoken, the Witneffes

have fruitful Inventions; and asthey have wye.
ed and improv’d the Inftances T have been parii-
cular i, fo have they the rdt, or otherwife fore?y
them out of their own Feads. N

Mr.Bar. Hatfell Mr. Rogeis,what do you fay o3

Mr. Rogers. We came down with the My
of the Kiitg’s- Deuch, iwran’devery Step of ehe i,y
fo that my Spatterdathes and Shoes were fiig 1
be dry’ds and it raimng fo hard, we did po
think Mr. Azeifon would havecome that Day, apg
therefore we provided but one Bed, tho’ othery iji
we fhould have provided two, and were to ive g
Crown forour Nigiht’s Lodging. We went fiog
the Cofice-houfe tothe Tavern,ac M. 3o has
faid, and from the Tavern the next Way 1o oy
Lodging, where there was fome merry and opg
ilcourfe ot this Gentlewoman, but [ never {uw
her in my Lafe, norheard of her e before 2.
was mention’d there,

Mr, Steveuns. We never firr’d fromoneanother,
but went along with the Marihal of th. Kin s
Besch, to accompany my Lord Chict- Jultice gur
of Town, as is ufual.

Mr. Bar. Hatfe!l. T thoughe it had been as yiy|
for him to go but half the Way with my Lo
Chief-Jultice.

Mr., Regers. They generally return baclt arge
they have gone Lali the Wy, but fome of i
Head-Oflic rs ¢o throughous,

N, Stevvnss 2P was tie firlt Circuir aftir th
Marfhal came into his Qfice, and that’s the Rey
fon the Marthal went the whols Way,

Mr. Bl ot 2 Did not you tallcof her Court-
ing-davs beg over ?

Prifeicirs, Not ene Word of ity we abfolundy
deny it. |

Mr. S¢cvins. T rzver (ow ber,

Mr, Foircs. Mr. Aopfez, did you yide inDoo::?

M. Mo, Yes,

Mr. Joies. How came your Shoesto be wer !

M. Marfeie, 1 had none.

Call Ay, Heath, AL Hanr, ain? 36 Folr

Mr, Maifea, Nr, iz, will you pleal™ 1o o
quaint my Lord and the Jury withwhat 130vourt:
we had on Szl WNinhe blore the Az, o
the OL Devil Trvern at Tuintle- Ber.

ivir. Hmnt. On Suidar Nighe Thapper’d o beis
Company with Mz, AZufei,and threcor fourmors
of Ciifford's- Iz, and there was a Difeourts of th
Marfhal’sattending my Lord Chief- Juitice caio
Town to Hertford, and Mz, Marfoir fid, T
the Maifbal may yeqitive ivezcaiting upoic bisii ey v
the whole Company beiny known to Bv, Yer,
and therebeing a Difcourfeof Mr, A fi s court
me of Mrs, Storr, faith one of the Company, If 5
do g0 to Hertlord, praycuguive ofecr AL, Mar(hall’
Miffrofs, and bring us ai Account of ber,

Mr, Fones, Who was in Company ?

Mr, fant. Therewas M, Heah, M1, F 2ery M
Kaifon, Mr. Stevens Mr. Bevor, and D, .

Mr. Maifoir. Now’twas this Difcourfi thar gave
us an Occalion totalk of this Woman ar Garid's
Houfe, which we did openly and harmlefly. M.
Forfler, do you remember any Thing of vur talie
ing of this Gentlewoman on Swizay Night?

M. Fofter. Yes; Tand they were talking, that
they thould go to Hertford the next Duy, 10 wail

-

on the Marfhal, in Compliment to my Lord Chict-
Juftice, and go as far as Hertford; and there be-
ing 3 Report, that Mr, Marfhall courted this Wo-

[1LiE),
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wan, we putit ina jefting Way, Pray enquire af-
ror M Marfhall’s Miftrefs, howthe Matchgoes on 5
o7 there seas fome W agers beraseen i and the Com-

vy, who frould bz mariied firft: And fo, in a jocu-

{yr way it wenz about,and Mr. Marfonor Mr. Ste-
s {aid, They coonld do their Ludeavonr, aid they
cwsald enquire afler the Lady, and give as good 4i
Aeconint of e a5 they coild. |

\ir, Siewas I you pleafe, my Lord, we will
call another to this I’urpnﬁ:: |

My, Bar, Hetfe!l. No, Lthink you nead nor, for
'« [eems 0T miagerkl.

Then Mr. Hanlis waseall'd,

Mr. [lanks. 1 came as fill‘ nq{.f/};!fb.ﬂﬁ’f—fraﬁ o
waituron my Lord Chief-Juftices Tilay’d there
il about Four or Fivea Clock, and then jet out
for Laondsirs and I met with Mr. Marfoir, whoim-
portun’d me 0 go back with himto feitferd, and
accordinaly I did fo, and we came i about Se-
ven or Iiizht at Night, and we eaquir'd after the
Viarthatol the Kiug’s-Beneh, and where he had {et
up his Horlus, and we lound him m the Coliee-
Lol i“"{ h}, the COHIT-, and WLI‘. E'JUIIE and fer Uup
our Florfes, and came again to Lim; from thence
we went to the Glwe and Dalzbin Tavern; thele
theee Gentlemen and the Muarfhal, and one My,
Rutdic came afterwards to us, and we {tay’d uil
Jont Fleven at the Glove and Dalrbin,

Mr, Vs, Do you remember how werid ?

Mr, [losks. Yes, very hard.

Vi Bar. Harfedl. What Time did you come in-
to the Tavern ?

Mr, als, Detween Soven and Figat, as I re-
member.

Mr. Bar, Tl And did voullay tnere tiil palt
Eleven ?

My, Lasks, Tl abour Eleven, littde more or
fefs 3 we went away togetherin order to drink a
Glals of Wine with them at their Lodging s bue
Mr, Retadeconfidering thathewas to drink a Glafs
of Wise. and le with the Marfhal, thoucht 1t
vould dillurb the Marfhal s S, faich hie, £ 225 ot
codicy Larwe faw them go mio thelr Lodgings,
and reeurn’d e the S, where we ent Part ol a
Fowl, amiwasnever out of Nr. 3z7/2°s Com-
pane all ther Time.

Mr. Varor, When you took your Jeave of me,

- uon’t vou remember thar the Door was cl‘:p’d 107

Mr, Faiks. Tcant’t remeriber that,

My, Verfon, Mr, Guries faith, I never went out
siter Teame home,  Mr. Ruckin, pray give an Ac-
cuntto my Lord,and the Gentlemen of the Jury,
vi what you know of my coming to Tliferd.

Mr, Ruzkin, My Lord, I came to wait on the
Sl of the Kiiie’s- Beaueir vo Hertford, and when
e werccome to eiiferd we put upour FHorfesar
the Bu/l, and made our felves a lictle clean s we
went to Church, and dised at the Bz, and then
vewald i and abour the Cowrty and diverted
aur fedves ull sbout Seven a-Clock 5 and between
sven und Iieht a-Clock came Mr. AZerfoir and
Dr, Iiaiks 10 Town, and then weagreed togo 1o
the Dalphin aiid Glovz to drink a Glafs of Wine :
The Masthal went 1o fee an ancient Gentleman,
and we went to the Dolphin and Glove, and ftay’d
there till pait Ten a-Clock, and after the Reckon-
ng was pard we went wich them to their Lodg-
g, with a Defign totakea Glafs of Wine 5 bue
Wen 1 confider’d T was to lie with the Marihal,
2l for that Reafon I refolv’d not to go in, but
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came away, and went to the Bull-Tun, and drank
Part of a Pint of Wine, and afterwards wentto
the next Door to the Bull-lun, where I lay with
the Marfhal.

Mur. Foires. What Time did the Gentlemen go
to their Lodging ?

Mr. Rutkin. Iam not pofitive as to that, but
I believe *ewas about Eleven a-Clock.

Mr. Marfen. If your Lordfhip pleafes, now I'l]
call fome Perfons to give an Account of me.
Mr. Cox. '

Mz, Cox. Thave known Mr. Marfoiralong time,
and bad alway a good Opinion of him; I don’c
believe 5000/, would tempt him to do focha Faét.

Mr. Maifon, Captain Hife, I defire you would
pleafe to {peak what you know of me.

Mr. Cezwper, My Lord,becaufe thele Gentlemen
are Strangers in the Country, I think, 1f in taking
an Account of any Evidence for my fclf there is
any Thing occurs to me that they may have a jufl -
Advantageof, I think I ought not to conceal ic,
for T am as much concern’d to uitify their Inno-
cence as my own. The principal Witnefs againft
them 15 one Gurey s and I will prove to you, that
{ince he appear’d in this Court, and gavehis Evi-
dencey, he went out in a trivmphant Manner, and
boafted, That he, by his Management, had done
more agatnft thele Gentlemen thanall the Prefecu-
tor’s Wirnefles could do befides. Toadd to that,
I have another Pieceof f<vidence that I have been
jult acquainted with: My Loud, *us the Wides
Davis, Gurrey’s Wile's Sifter, that I would call.

Muyor Lane, My Lord, I have lknown Mz, iz

fir ever fince he was two Years old, and never

faw him but a civiliz’d Man in my Lifes he was
well bred up among us, and I never faw him gi-
ven to Debanchery inall my Life,

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Where do you live ?

Maujor Lese. In Scuthart, my Lord.

Mr. Bar. Hatfe. Well, what do you fay, Mrs.
Dagis ?

Mrs, Davis. T came to the Floufe where thefe
Gentlemen lodg’d 5 1 was i about balian Hour,
and my Sifter afl’d me to air two or three Pair
of Sheers: When Phad ane’ the Sheetz, the afli’d
me to zoup and help tolay them onj and, before
[ had land them on, thefe Gentdemen came into
the loom.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell, What Hour ?

Mrs, £avis. By the Time of my going out a-
oain, I believe iomight be about Ten, or fome-
thing better, and they drank three Quartsof Wine,
and they had fome Bread and Butrer and Cheefe
carried up, and fo they went ro Bed 5 and after
my Brother went to fetch Mr. Gupe, that lay at
his Floufe, from [lszkiz)’s.

Mr. Coseper. 1 only beg leave to oblerve, that
Gurr.y deny’d that he went for him.

Mur. Bar. Hatfell. Ay but this fignifies very
little, whether 1t be true or falle,

Mpys. Davis. The next Day after, thefe Gentlea
men were about the Towny and fhe fuid, She did
believe they were come to clear a young Man (4
Minifter’sSon) that was try’d at the Bar tor rob-
bing the Mail: Tafk’d why fhe thought fo? ithe
faid, She was fureof 1t And I afk’d her, how
fhe could be fure of 1t, when fhe was never told
fo? Why, fad I, do they accufe thefe Gentlemen ¢
They ought rather to take up the Gentleman that
was with Mrs. Stent’s Maid 5 and the faid, If they

took up Mrs. Stens’s Maid,they fhould have never a
Witnels. M.
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Mr. Bar. Hatfell. Who was That that was talk-
ing with Mrs, Stout’s Maid ?

Mrs, Dawis. 1don’t lnow, but fhe faid the did
not like their Actions 3 and therefore fhe ought
to have been examined who the was with,

Capt, #ife. 1 have known Mr. Maifon feveral
Years, and he is a Perfon of as fair Reputation
as any in the Borongh. ' '

Mr. Reading. 1 have beenacquainted with M.
Mayfon T wenty Years, he lives near the Houfe
where I now do: He has a general good Cha-
racter among fiis Neighbours, for a fair Man n
his Practice, an honelt Man, and a Man of good
Converfation.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell, Well, Mr. Stevens, What do
you fay ? |

M. Stevens. 1 defire Siv Robert Auflin to sive

an Account of me,
Sir Robert Avftin, Thave known Mr., Stevens ma-

ny Ycars; his Brother is Captain in a neighbour-
ing Country ; he is reckon’d not only an honeft
Man in his Praétice, but has the general Character
of 2 good-natur’'d Man ; and he is fo far from be-
ing a Perfon likely o do fuch an A&ion, that, for
a younger Brother, he was very well provided
for ;5 his Father left him a Thoufand Pounds,
and he is Clerk of the Papers, which is reputed
worth a Hundred Pounds a Year, and is in good
Practice befides.

Suryimen. [have known him {everal Years, and
he has the fame Repuration Sir Reders has given
him,

Sir Joon Shaw. 1 know Mr. Stevens, and his Bro-
ther Captain Stevens : - As to this Gentleman, he
hath always behav’d himfelf well in our Coun-
try, and hath the Character of an honeft Gentle-
man,

Mr. Evans. I have known him for thefe cight
Years, and tabea very civil Perfon, and well edu-
cated, and never heard bue a eood Charaéter of
him: T have alfo known Mr., Masfon thefe ten
Years, and never faw any 1 by him, and do be-
lieve, that he or the other would not have done
fuch an ill thing 1o have gain’d this Country,

Mr. Mealove. My Lord, Mr. Stevers was my
Clerk, and he behav’d himfelf very honeftly with
me.  And fince that, T have kepta Corref pon-
dence with him, and T believe he would not do
fuch a Thing for all the World.

Mr. Bav. Hatfell, Call fome Body to fpeak for
Mr, Repers, if there be any.

Mr. Iiwans. My Lord, Mr. Regeis hath a gene-
ral Character in Soxzlecart, for avery honeft Aan,

Mr. Regers. Pray call Mr. Lygoe. Sir, picafe to
give my Lord and the Court an Account whag
you know of me.

Mr. Lygee. My Lord, Thaveknown all the three
Gentlemen at the Bar, but particularly Mr. Rogers
and M. Stevens, from their Infancy. T have em-
ploy’d them both in Bufinefs feveral times, and
always found them fuir Pratilers; and believe
neither of them would be guilty of doing an i)
Adt,

Mr. Rogers, Call My, Thurlly.  Sir, Pray give
the Court an Account how I behaved my felf in
your Service.

Mr. Bar. fatfell. Come, Mr, Thurlby, What do
you fay of Mr. Rogers?

Mr. Thurloy. My Lord,Mr.Rozers Jiv:d with me
about cignt Years, in which Time 1 frequently
trufled him with very great Sums of Money, |

il-‘

2

ever found him juft and faithful, and can’t .
hieve, that any Money could tempt him to dg 4,
Act of this Kind.

M. Fones. My Lord, we infilt upon i, Tha
M. Cowper hath given a different Iividence pg,
from what he did before the Coroner 5 for gy,
he faid he never knew any Diftraction, or Love.fir
or other Occafion the had to puc her upon thisex.
travagant Acltion. Now, here he comes, gy
would havethe whole Scheme turn’d upon a Loy,
e, Call Fobir Mafon. (1Who was fworn. )

Mr. Bar. {fa:f2l. What do you fay, Sir, to t};
Marter ¢

Mr, Stoxt. When Mr, Cowoper wasexamin’d be.
fore the Coroner, he wasafk’d,ifhe knew any Rea-
fon why fhe fhould do fuch a Thing? and he faig,
She was & very modelt Woman, and he koew pq
Caule why fhe fhould do fuch a Thing as this,
Jobit Mafoir, Was you by when Mr. Cowper gave
Evidence before the Coroner 2

ﬂ’ff?ﬁi!. Y es.

Mr. Fones. What did he fay ?

Mafon. He fad he did not know any Thing
was the Caule of 1t, but fhe was a very modeft
Perfon.

Mr. fanes. Was he upon his Qath ?

Muafon. Yes, he was.

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. When did he fay this 2

Mafon. 1t was the fame Day fhe was found.

Mr. Fones. Did they atk himany Queftion, if s
knew any Perfon that the was in Love with?

Mafon. He faid he knew but of one, and hi;
Name was Mayfhall, and Mr. Masfhal] told him,
That he was always repulicd by her.

Mr. Stant, 1 delive Fobir Archer may be afked
the fame Queltion. (7o <was fworn.)

Mr. Fones. Was you prefent with the Coroner'
Inguett ?

F. dicher, Yes.

Mr. Foies. Was Mr. Cowperexamin’d by them:

J. drebor, Yes, he was ?

Mr. Foires, What did he fay concerning Mrs
Stout then ?

J Archer. They afk’d him, If he knew any
Occafion for Mrs. Stons’s Death? and he fiid
He knew nothing of it, or of any Letters ?

Mr. Cowper. Then I muft call over the whole
Coroner’s Inqueft to prove the contiary.

Mr.Bar. Hatfe/l. Did they afk him concerning
any Letters ?

J- drehar. They afl™d him if he knew of any
Thing that might be the Occafion of her Death.

Mr. Bar. Hetfell. Tafk you again, if they afldd
him if he knew of any Letters?

S+ drebei. My Lord, T don’t remember that
Mr. Stent. Twould have called fome of the Co
rener’s Inquelt, bue T was ftopp’d in it.

Tuyiman., We have taken Minutes of what hus
patsia s If your Lordfhip pleafe, we wiil with:
drasw,

Mr. Bar. Hatfell. They muft makean End firh

Nr. Feies. It your Lordfhip pleafe, we will el
02t Witnes 1o falfify one Piece of their Lvi
cence, and that is one Widow Lk, ({705 e
Jwarn. )

Mr. Yz1e5. Do you remember one Mr, Ruii
being at your Houfe 2

Lkt Yes.

Mr, Fenes, At what Time did he come inf’

Laikin, Between Nine and Ten of the Clock.

Mr. Jones, Wasthe Marfhal thenin the H 0;1513 f
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Laikin. No ;f the Marfhal did not come till
an Hour aiter.
ﬁc‘}.r([:, Fones. Did not he go out afterwards?

Larkin. Not that I kn_ow of:

Mr. Rutkins. 1 am fatisfied it was paft Eleven
when I came 1n. o '

M. Baron Hatfell. It s likely it may be true ;
for, I belicve they did not keep very good Hours
o¢ cthat Time. o

Mr. Stai.. T defire to call fome Witnefles to
my Sifter’s Reputation. |

Mr. Fones. My Loord, they would call Witneffes
.o this Gentlewoman’s Reputation ; 1 believe the
whole Town would atteft for That, that fhe was
. WWoman of a good Reputation. Indeed they
have produced {fome Letters withouta Name, but
if they infift upon any thlr}g againft her Reputa-
tion, we muit call our Witnefles.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. 1 believe no Body difputes
That; fhe might be a virtuous Woman, and her
Brains might be turn’d by her Paffion, or fome

Diftemyper.

Gentlemen of the Jury, you have heard a very
long Evidence, T am fure that you can’t expect
that I thould fum icupfully 5 but I will take No-
rice of fome Things to you, that I think are moft
material 5 and if I omit any Thing that is mate-
rial, 1 would defire Mr.ones (that is Counfel for
the King) and Mr.Cowper to put me in mind of 1.

The Indiétment againlt the Prifoners at the
Bar is for a very great Crime, it is for Murder,
which is one of the moft horrid of all Crimes :
You are to confider firft what Evidence you have
heard to prove 1t 5 and tho’ there be no direlt
Proof, youareto conider what is circumftantial.

They do begin with Sarab Walker, who was
Mrs. Serab Stont’s Maid, and fhe tells you,- that
Nr. Cowpsr, when he came to this Town on M-
day the 13th of March laflt, came to Mrs. Stout’s
Houfe and dined there, and went away about
Four of the Clock 1n the Afterncon; but the tells
you, that the F7iday before, there came a Letter
from Mr. Cowper’s Wite to Mrs. Stont, to let her
know that Mr. Cowper would come and ladge at
their Houfe at Hertferd at the Affizes ; fo that
when he came, fhe thought that he had intended
to have done according to that Lecter, She faich,
that after Dinner Mr. Cowper went away, and
came again at Nine at Night, and there he fup-
ped 3 Lie was defir’d fo to do, {and indeed had
been invited to Dinner alfo that Day) and fhe
doth fay, that after Supper there was a Fire made
in his Chamber (for this young Gentlewoman,
Mrs, Stout, prefs’d him to lic at their Idoufe) and
the order’d the Maid to warm his Bed, and I be-
lieve, fays fhe, Mr. Cowper heard her fay fo, for he
was nearer to her than I at that time, and he doth
not deny but that he heard it.  She fays, that ac-
cordingly fhe went up to warm the Bed, and ha-
vine:ftay’d therea while, the heard the Door clap;
and when fhe came down into the Parlour, where
fhe had left them, they were both gone, and that
fhe could not tell what the Meaning of it was ;
and they waited for her all N ight, old Mrs, Stoxt
and this Maid, and fhe did not come inall Night,
hor was afterwards feen alive 5 but Mr. Coreper
was the laft Perfon feen in her Company.

The other Witnefles that came afterwards,
fpeak concerning the finding of the Body in the
River, and tell you in what Pofture it was. I

thall not undertake to give you the Particulars of
their Evidence, but they tell you fhe lay on her

right Side, the one Arm up even with the Sur-

face of the Water, and her Body under the Wa-.
ter; but fome of her Cloaths were above the
Water ; particularly one fays, the Ruffles of her
lefe Arm were above the Water., You have heard
alfo what the Doftors and Surgeons faid on the
one fide and the other, concerning the Swimming
and Sinking of dead Bodies in the Water 3 but 1
can find no Certainty init; and I leave it to
your Confideration.

Another Circumitance they build on, and which
feems to be material is, of her Belly being lank,
and, that there was no Swelling 5 whereas, fiy
they, when a Perfon is drown’d, thereisa great
deal of Water goes in, and makes the Belly to
fwell ; but here was no Swelling that Morning
fhe was taken out, and no Water came out of her
Mouth and Noftrils, only a little Froth there
was, and her Belly was lank. Bue, fay they, on
the other Side, that may very well be s for, per-
haps fhe might be choak’d immediately, as foon
as fhe was i the Water ; and, fay they, you may
not wonder at That; for if fhe went to drown
her felf, fhe would endeavour to be choak’d as
foon as fhe could 3 for thofe Perfons chat are
drown’d againft their own Conlent do {wallow a
great deal of Water, but thofe that drown them-
felves don’t fwallow much Water, for they are
choak’d immediately by the Water going into
the Windpipe ; that we commonly call going the
wrong Way.  The Doctors and Surgeons have
talk’d agreatdeal to this Parpole, and of the Wa-
ter’s going into the Lungs or the Therax 5 but un-
Jefs you have more Skill in Anatomy than 1, you
won’t be much edified by it. TacknowledgeI ne-
ver ftudied Anatomy s but I perceive that the Do-
¢tors do difler in their Notions about thefe things,
But, as to Matter of I"act, tis agreed to by all the
Witnefles for the King, that her Body was lank,
her Belly was thin, and there was no Sign of any
Water to be in it © They on the other Side tell

-you, that her Stays was on, and fhe was ftrait-

Iaced, and that might occafion her Bally’s being
fo fmall, and hinder the Water frem going in.

Gentlemen, I was very much puzzled in my
Thoughts, and was at a Lofs to find out what
Inducement therecould be to draw in Mr. Croper,
or thefe three other Gentlemen, to commit fuch
a lorrid, barbarous Murder. And, on the other
hand, I could not imagine what there fhould be
to induce this Gentlewoman, a Perfon of a plen-
tiful Fortune, and a very fober good Reputation,
to deftroy her {elf.

Now, Gentlemen, I muft confefs, the Evidence
that the Defendants have given by thefe Letters,
if you believe them to be this Gentlewoman’s
Hand-writing, do feem tofortify all that Mr. Coze-
pei’s Witnefies have fard, concerning her being
melancholy : It might be a Love-diftraction, and
fhe might have been a vircuous Woman for all
that; for it might be a Diftemper which came
upon her, and turn’d her Brains, and difcompos’d
aer Mind, and then no Wonder at her writing
thus, mn a Manner different from the reft of the
Actions of aer Life, Gentlemen, you are to
confider and weigh the Evidence, and I will not
trouble you any more about that Matter,

As to thefe three other Gentlemen that came
to this Town at the Time of the laft Aflizes,

what
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what there is againtt them you have heard : They
talk’d at their Lodging at 2 ftrange rate, concer-
ning this Mrs. Sarab Stout, faying, her Bufinefs
isdone, and, that there wasan End Gf her Cotirt-
ing-Days, and that a Friend of theirs was cven
with her by this Time. What you can make of
it, That 1 muft leave to you; but they were very
firange Txpreffions ;s and you are to judge, whe-

ther they were fpoken in jeft, as they pretend, or
in carnelt. There was a Cord found in the

Room, and a Bundle feen there, but I know not
what to make of it. As to Mrs, Stont, therc
was no Sign of any Circle about her Neck, whicl,
as they fay, muft have been, if fhe had been
ftrangled @ Some Spots there were 3 but it Is {aid,
poffibly thofc might be occafion’d by rubbing a-
gainft fome Piles or Stakes in the Rn:cr. TI‘I:IIY,
Gentlemen, thefe three Men, by their Talking,
have given great Caufe of Sufpicion s but whe-
ther They, or Mr, Cowper, are guilty or no, that
You are to determine, I am fenfible I have omit-
ted many Things 3 but I am a hetle faint, and
cannot repeat any more of the Evidence.

The Trial of Mary Butler.

Fe— el

P iy

gy el

11 W. 1L

Fury, We have taken Minutes, my Lorg.

Mr. Baron Hatfell. ' Well then, Gentlemen, oq
together, and conlider your Evidence; and g
pray Gop direét you 1n giving your Verdig,

[Thes One wwas fowern to keep theFury, and iy
about half an Honr, the Fury veturn’d.]

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed
your Verdict?

Oinnes. Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Who fhall fay for you?

Oiines. Foreman.

Cl of Arr. Spencer Cowper, hold up thy Hapg.
(W hich be did.) Look upon the Prifoner,  Hgy
fay you? Is he guilty of the Felony and Murder
whereof he {tands indiéted, or not guilty ?

Foreinan. Not guilty.

(Jar like Manner the Jury did give their Virdia,
that John Marfon, Lllis Stevens, and Wi
liam Rogers were Not guilty.] *

il

e

* See the Cafe of Spencer Cowper, Fiq; Jobu ivﬂ.‘i';fﬂff, Ellts Stewens, and IFilliam Rogers, Gentlem. in the Seate Trial,
Vol VIIL p. 460, 407, 408, and Mrs, Stont's Cafe, 469, 470, 471, and feveral Obfervations relating to this Trial,
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CLXVIL. The TRIAL of Mary BUTLER alias STRICK-
LAND, at the Old Bailey, for Forging a Bond of 40000/ in
the Name of Robert Clayton, Octob. 12, 1699. 11 WilLIlL

‘ RIN G Mary Butler to
LY SH A IChC B‘d[‘.

G | Accordingly fhe cas

224 . brought.

Ry ﬁg‘é el fﬂf{‘hb J

2@@-« A8n Mary Butler afies
Strickland, you ffand indidied by the Nawe of Mary
Butler afies Strickland, fate of London, IWidsw
for thot you endeavouring, and wdlicionfly intending,
to deceive and opprefs Sir Robert Clayton, Kuight
and Aldeiiman of London, the Fisft Dav of De-
cetiber, in the Seventh Year of his new Majeflly's
Reign, at London aforefaid, in the Parifh of St
Mary Woolnoth, in the ard of Langborne, a
certatin falfe Weiting, fealed in Forin of a Boid, bear-
ing Date the Fourteenth Day of April, 1687, in the
Vaie of the faid Sir Robert Clayton, for the Pay-
rient of 1he Peial Sunir of Forty Thorfand Pounds, to be
smede by the faid Sir Robert Clayton to you Mary
Butler afias Strickland, with Condition there undey-
wiitlen y couceriing, among other Things, the Pay-
ment of Teoenty Thoufand Pounds, to be made to you
Mﬂl‘}’FBlI[]EI‘ afias Strickland, after the Death of
the Juid Sir Robert Clayton, by bis Fleirsy, Execy-
toisy and cdminiftrators s falfely, knowingly, unlaio-
fully, and fubtilly did nake, connterfeit andrwrite, aid
canfe to be made, connterfeited, sud wiitten: And
[uitheir, that yon Mary Batler alias Strickland,
afterwards, viz., the Fivft Day of December, i the
Scventh Tear aforéfaid, at London aforefaid, in the
Parifh and Wayd aforefaid, a certain falfe and forg-
ed Fviting, fealed in Form of a Boud, in the Name
of the faid Sir Robert Clayton, for the Payment of

the penal Suin of Forty Thoufand Pounds by the [l
Sir Robert Clayton, fo yor Mary DButler alies
Strickland, with Condition under-writien, conccin-
g, among other Things, the Payinein? of Taeil
T houfonid Pounds, to be made to you Mary Butler ofin,
Strickland, after the Death of 1he faid Sir Roben
Clayton, by bis Heirs, Executors, or Adisiniftrators,
as a true Bond of the faid Sir Robert Clayion, asif
really made by bim 5 falfely, fubtitly, and deceitfull,
did publifh, yon Mary Butler alies Strickland e
kngueing the fuid Whriting to be falfe, forzed, anl
counterfeited, and ot the Deed of the fuid Sir Ro-
bere Clayton, fo the great Dasage of the faid S
Robert Clayton, to the evil Exaiple of all otler
e the like Cafey offending againft the Peace of ou
Sovereign Lovd the King, bis Crown and Dignity.

Cl. of Arr. How fay’ft thou, Mary Burier aliss
Strickland, art thou guilty of thisForgery whete.
of thou ftandeft indiéted, or not guilty?

Prifencr. Not guilty.

Cl. of Ay, Prifoner, Jook to your Challenge
Cryer, fwear the Jury, which follow :

Jur v {wor.

William Clark, [ Gegrge Ludlain,

Williain Chriftopher, 1 Richard Kemble,

Thomas H barton, v Fobu Clarke,

George Kimble, Stephen Broughlon,

Fames Church, -‘ I Yofeph Sheppards

Fobu Whitler, ( Thoinas Wickha.
Cler-

|
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Clirk of Arr. You of the Jury that are {worn,
look upon the Prifoner, and hearken to her
Canfe. ~ She ftands indicted, &e.

Mr. Montagu., May it pleafe your Lo_rdﬂlip,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury, this Indi@ment
does charge the Prifoner at the Bar, Maery Butler,
alias Strickland, with a Fraud and mtcndfz(l Ch@ar.
It fets forth, that the Prifoner at the Bar intending
to cheat Siv Robeit Cleytan, did counterfeit a cer-
win Writing, purporting to be the Bond of Sir
Rebert Clavten, for payment of Twenty Thou-
ind Pounds, and that it was to be paid to the
rid Mary Butler, altas Strickland, after the Death
of the fid Sir Robert Clayton.  Lixewife, thar
the did publifh this WVriting as Sir Rebert Clay-
won’s Deed.  To this Indiétment fhe has pleaded
not guilty.  If we prove the Fact, Ido not que-
flion but you will find her guiley, that fhe may
have her due Puntfhnent.

Mr. Ser). Wxight. My Lord, T am Counfel for
the King in this Caufe. You hear what fort of
Crime it s that 1s charged on the Prifoner. It is
for Forging a Bond of no lefz Penalty than Forty
Thoufand Pounds, for the Payment of T'wenty
Thoufand Pounds. This s made in th2Name of Sir
Reb.rt Claytor, and the Twenty Thounfand Pounds
were to be paid a littleatter his own Death, by his
Fxccutors or Adminiftrators : And that in the
mean time Twelve Hundred Pounds a Year were
to be paid for the Intercit ef this Sum,  But, my
Lord, the Prifoner did not reft here, (a fecond
Contrivance will be opened to you.) That which
.+ o charged with, is the Forging of a Bond
of the Penalty of Forty Thoufand Pounds.

My Lord, the DPrifoncr for fome Years had a
areat Intimacy we-ha great Peer, the late Duke of
Buckingeei. £ o the either had, or pretended to
have, abon ! irory him for FiveThoufand Pounds,
payelic to herfelf after his Death, and an Annual
[rrereft 1o the mean time, till the Principal was
pad.  Sir wader; Clayton being a Lruflee of the
Duke’s Eftate for the Payment of his Debts, the
Prifoner came frequently to Sir Rebert Clayzon, to
folhiare hus Favour and Intereft for the Paymentof
this Twot,  Cn this Account the infinuared her
felf mto his Company and into his Family,
Sometimes fhe pretended to be a great Penitent,
and that fhe was forry for the Converfarion fhe
had with the Duke 5 that her own Relations were
Papifts, and if the fhould go to them, they would
fend her into a Nuanerv,  All which was buc
counterferr, and in order to win upon Sic Robert
Clastciry and he finding fhe was an ill Womnzn,
towwithftanding all her Pretences, hieat laft, about
telve Years ago, forbid her his Houfe, and fince
th:t the never was rhere.

About the Year 1095, Sir Rodert Clavton had
fomc srivate Intimacion given him, that the ri-
oner had a great Demand on him, no lefs than
Twenty Thoufand Pounds. Upon this Sir Robert
Ciovlenr ook the beft Courfe he could to find it
out, and exhibited a Bill in Chencery againtt her,
ard forne of her Accomivlices, to difcover whe-
ther they had any Pretencesupon him or his Eftate.
Te tus Bill the Prifoner put 1 an Anfwer, that
the had no Chim or Demand againtt him upon
my Acceunt whatloever,  While this was in A-
gltation, the Prifoner came to Mr, Hesdiward, an
AAtlorney of this City, and brought him a Writ-
Mgy vurporting a Bond, with the Name Redert
L*’*’?{'_h:f: ﬁl\lzfcrihr:d to ir, fealed and atteft:d by
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four Witnefles, as the Bond of Sir Robert Clayton,
and told Mr. WWeodward, ¢¢ That Bond was given
““ to her by Sir Robert Clayten, upon fome good
‘ Confiderations ; but it having taken Air, fome
“ Uneafinefs had rifen about it in Sir Robert Clay-
““ ton’s Family 5 and (as fhe pretended) upon chis
““ Account he had exhibited a Bill in Equity
¢ againlt her, therefor-. this Bond muft be deli-
‘“ vered up 5 and Sir Resert had promifed to
¢ give her a new Bond for Twenty Thoufand
‘“ Pounds, and that all the Money in Arrears {or
‘“ Intereft, was to be turned to Principal, and
““ putinto the new Bond : But this was to bedone
‘“ very privately, fo as not to be known by any
‘“ of Sir Robert Clayton’s Family, and therefore

~¢¢ ponc of his Scrvants were to be privy to it

Thercupon thegives to Mr. Hrodward the Bond,
defiring him to make a new Bond by it, and to
turn all the Incereft that was due into Principal.
Upon this Mr. Wesdwerd made hera Bond of the
Penalty of Fifty-four ‘Thoufand Pounds, condi-
tioned for Payment of Twenty-feven Thoufind
Pounds after Sir Robert Claytoi’s Death, and In-
tereft in the mean time.  This Bond fhe ook a-
way with ber, and likewife the firft Bond 5 bug
what fhe did with tl:em fince, we are not privy o,
And a great Charge fhe laidupon Mr, Woodward,
to carry it with all poilible Privacy, that no No-
tice might be taken by Sir Rebers’s Family.

Some few Months ago there was another Inti-
mation fent to Sir Robert Clayion, that this Gen
tlewoman pretended to have a grear Claim upon
him of a grear Sum of Money that was to be paid
her, either at prefent, or after his Death ; and
that Mr, Weedward made the Bond, and he could
give an Account of it. Upon thic Sir Robert Clay-
ton fent to Mr. IWoeodwerd, who, like a very honeft
Man, told the whole Bulinefs, in what manner
it wzs the Prifoner came to him, and how he
came to make the Bond ; and that he wasdefired
to be filent 1n it, Str Robert Clayten having defired
this Bond fhould be made out of hisown Houle,
that none of his Family mighr take notice of i,
Sir Rebert Clayton having this notice, and finding
frem Mr. Hsodward, the Prifoner had taken this
Courfe to carry onthis Delign to charge hisEftate,
he got @ Warrant fiom the Lord Chief- Juftice to
have her before him, to bz examined before his
Lordfhip. Wheic being brought, fhe upon her

ixamination, has confefs’d the whole Matter,
her having the firlt Pond, and where 1t wasmade.
What 1s become of the latter Bond, we cannot
aet out of her, nor whether fhe ever affixed the

rame of Sir Robicrt Clayton to that, Botwe will
produce credibl: Witnefles to prove her guilty of
Forging the firft Bond for thePaymentof Twenty
Thoufand Pounds ; and that 1t had the Name
and Scal of Sir Retert Cleyten affixed to it, and
that the affirmed 1t tobe 2 good Bond, well exe-
cuted by Sir Rebort Clayion, and that there was
Intereft due upon 1t from Sir Redert Clayzon, and
that the Intereft was in che fecond Boad to ba
turned into Principal. We will call Wienelles to
prove this, and then I hope fhe thall have fuch
Punifhment as e delerves.

Mr, Nerthey. My Lord, what the Narure of our
Lvidence will be, I {hall imform you. It cannot
be expected iromus to produce the Bond, for that
fhe carried away trom Mr. Wedward, fo that we
cannot give the Writing iiielt m Lvidences buoe,
if the inhtt on i, we hope fhe will produce the

H h Bonl
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Bond. We have the Copy (taken by Mr. #ssd-
ward) of the firft Bond, which he had from her,
that he might draw the Second Bond by 1t. But
we can prove from thatwhich agrees with our Re-
cord, that lhe afirmed, that the Arft Bond thatfhe
produced was Sir Rober ! Clayton’s : That tlmt_.Bond
which fhe produced, of which this 1s the Copy,
fhe affrmed to be Sir Robert Clayton’s Deed.  We
fhall do that, and afterwards prove her publifhing
it for our Indictment is againft her for Forging
a Bond, and publithing that forged Bond, know-
ino it to be fuch, and clofe all with her own Con-
feffion. A nd, my Lord, there is this to (hew
there could be nothing in the Bond 5 thatirom the
Time (he pretended to have this Bond, when fhe
was to have Twelve Hundred PoundsaXYear, {he
remained a Prifoner ali that Time, and got her
felf out by fwearing fhe was not worth Five
Pounds in all the World.  Call Mr. W oodwaid.
(1Vko app:arcd, and was fworil.)
Mt Ser). Wright. Mr. IFeodward, you hear

what the Charme is 3 pray give an Account of

what vou know in reference to it.

Mr. IFeodward. My Lord, Mrs. Butler has been
my Clicnt many Years, About two or three¥ ears
ago, more or lels, Mrs, Butlei came to me, anc
brought me & Bond ; fhe gave 1t me to perufe, and
told me another muft be drawn by it.  When |
had perufed the Bond, I found it was figned Ro-
bert Clavicir, and four \Witnelles Names fet to the
Bond. It wasa Bond of the Penalty, as I remem-
ber, of Iorty Thoufand Pounds, and I chinl 1t was
in the Year 1687, for to pay, 1 think, Twelve
Fundred Pounds a Year, by four quarterly Pay-
ments year}y, during Sir Robert Claytor’s Liite, and
Twenty Thoufand Pounds within fix Months af-
ter his Death. ‘There were fome other Things in
that Bond, which will appear by the Copy, which
indeed 1 did take 5 for Mus. Butler defired it
might bz 2 Secret, being of a very great Cencern,
And 1 afked her why fuch a Bond thould begiven.
I thought it mult be great Generofity, and not
for Money Ient,  But the told me the lorty
Thoufand Pourd Bond was to be delivered upto
Sir Robert. 1 afked her why, fince fhe had ir,
fhe did not keep it ? fhe faid, that he would give
her another Bond, She told me it had taken Air,
and my Lady Clyien had fome Difquict aboutit;
and for my Lady’s Satisfaction, a Bill in Chancery
was exhibited again{t her, to which the was to put
in her Anfwer, and thereby difciaim any forg of
Bond, or Intereft, orany Frerence that fhe had
upon Sir Robert Claytbi.

My, Serj. Wright.” She told you this her felf?

Mr HFicawaid. Yes ;3 and when {he gave me
e Bond, fhe told me it was Sir Rebert Claytoir's
Bond, or to thar Purpofe. But there being ubout
nine or ten Years Arrears of Intereft, {he defired
me to caft up the Intereft that was i Arrear, and
that it mighe be put to the Principal in the
new BPord, feying, that Sir Rebert would give
lier 2 Bond for the Whole together.

Mr. Serj. 7 right. Was the whole Intereft pre-
tended to be in Arrear?

M. Weadward. 1 cannot fay, all the Tnterell,

Mr. Serj. Iiieht.Hlow did youcomputeit, from
the Date of the Bond, orironi what {he told you?

NMr. [T oodward. She faid the had received {ome
Money, and T computed the reft, rather under than
over, and fo made the Interelt to come to Seven
Thouland Pounds (the Intereft payable by the
Bond being Twelve Hundred Pounds a Year.)
Whercupon fhe defired T would draw a Bond for

it my felf ; and accordingly fhe left the firlt Boyg
with me, I took fome Time, and drew it ; 3p
made the Penalty thercof Fifty-four Thoufyyy
Pounds, conditioned for the Payment of Twepp.
feven Thoufand Pounds. And it was to be mzé.g
in the fame Nature as the formner was, in refpeg
of the Principal, and in the mean time to cop,
tinue the Payment of the Interelt yearly, by pr.

portionable Quarterly Fayments.

Mr. Montagn., What Difcourfe had you wjy,
her about it ?

Mr. Wendward. Tdid drawa Bond, and did ),
Notice, That whereas Sir Rebert Clayton had sive,
her this Bond of Forty Thoufand Pounds, and 4
his Requelt, the had delivered 1t up to him a5
uypon an Account ftated, there did remain Sevey
Thoufand Pounds in Arrears for Intereft, which
in all amounted to Seven and Twenty Thoufipg
Pounds, or thereabouts 3 when I gave it hey, |
faid, it isa very great Sum, It COnCerns you f
have Witneffes of Credit, for no body will .
lieve Sir Robert Clayton did give you this Bong,
efpecially after his Death, unlefs it be very v
attefted. Itold her, if fhe pleafed, I would goan
be a Witnefs for her to fee 1t executed. So fhe v
away, And when fhe camc to meagain, {he twld
me, that Sir Ravert knew me very well, but di
not think fit to have me for a Witnefs. I anfiw.
ed, I do not care; but it being a very great Sum,
rake care it be well executed. I gave her bog)
the Bonds, and from that Time heard no mor
of it till about rwo Months {ince.

Mr, Northey. Was thereanybody came to difcour’s
with you of making a new Bond, befides her felf?

Mr. oodward. Not that I know of, { do na
remember any. It was an extraordinary Sum, [
did take 2 Copy of the Bond.

Mr. Noirthey, Have you 1t here ?

My, [Fosdwoaird. Yes, I have it here,

Mr. Northey. He fwears he took a Copy of i,
and defivered it to the Prifoner again, Wedelir
1t may be read.

Mr. Aalfet. 15 1t a true Copy?

Mr. I oodvard. 1 cannot fay T examined it

Mr. Nerthey. Did you write it from the Bond?

Mr. esdward. 1 did.

Mr., Noithey. Do you Lelieve itisa tiue Copy:

Mr. /i odward. Thelieve it 1e. The Realon why
I did not examine 1t, was becaufe 1c was tob:
1 Secret,

Mr. Mallet. Do you look upon your fuif ok
mfallible 2

Mr. Ser). /right. Had you any Direcues
from the Prifoncr to talie a Copy ?

Mr. Vocdward. T cannot fay that.

L. C. J. Il!t. Why did you write ic out, ivr
your Direction to draw the new Bond ?

Mr, Woodward. [ did write it out, becaufe 1t &
a {pecial Condition, more than is uival in Bonds:
for 1t 1s exprefled, that there theuld be no Pio
fecution againft her, by Sir Rebois Clavten, or his
lixecutors, cither at Law or in Equity, for t
20000 /. or the Intereft, or ro do any Act to ob-
flruct her in receivine the famnc,

L. C. J. Holt. Whendid you take a Copv of it

Mrt. IFoodzvard. At the fane time, and hfore !
recurned it

L.C.J. Helt. Did you make the new Bond by
this Copy, or by the tormer Bond ?

Mr. Weodiward, Very likely I might ufz hoth.

L.C. J.Iblt. Did you keep them both?

Mr. Iosdward. 1 did keep “emy both by me tii!

I deliver’d the new Bond, vr,
i
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M. Serj,FVr::gbt. Is the Copy your own Hand-

ricing, ?

" er:.:- Waodward. Yes. .

M Montagr. What did you take 1t from?

Mr. Woodward. From the Original.

Mr. Wright. And do you take that to be a true
?

Col{Jf}'r. Woodward. 1 believe it 1s a true Copy.
My, Hall. Did you read it over at that Time?
M. Woodward. 1did read 1t over.

1..C.J. Holt. Did you write 1t?

Mr. Woodward. T did write it
Mr. Mallzt. And did you examine it afterward ?

Mr. IWosdward. No,Idid not examine it, 1t was
ot to be taken Notice of. |

Mr. Hell. Can you fay you read ic carefully over
qt that Time? _ '

Mr. Cuzts. It may not bethe very fame Bond,
if he did not examine it by the Onginal, fign’d
by Sir Rebert Clayton.

Mr. Northey. They may fhew the Bond.,

Mr. Maller. Did the Prifoner bring the Bond
to you, of which this is the Copy, and tell you
This was her Bond ?

Mr. Northey. Wewill proveit by her own Con-
feflion. |

Mr. Mallet. Ific be not the fame Bond, fhe can-
not be convicted.

Mr. Northey. No doubt of it.

Mr. Serj. Wright. Produce the Copy ;. and, if
your Lordfhip pleafe, 1t may be read.

L.C.J. Holt. Letit be read.

Ouwerim Univerfi per prefentes me Rober-
wm Clayton, Militem & Decurionein
Anglice, Kt. & Alderiman de London, feneri
& firmitcr obligari Mary Butler alias Stricks
land, de South-ttreet i Parochia de Edmon-
ton, i1 Comitety Middlefex, vidne, Quadra-
gintamille libvis bone €3 legalis monet’ Anglie,
folvend’ eidem Mary Butler alias Strickland,
eut fuo certo Attornal® Executor’ wvel Adinini-
Sfralor® Juis, ad quain quidem folutioncms beie
& fideliter faciendam obligo me, beredes, Execu-
teres & Adminifiratores meos, firmiter per pre-
fntes. Sigillas’ dat’ deciio qnarto die Aprilis,
o Regni Domini noftri Jacobr Secunds,
Der Gratie Anglie, &¢. Regis, teitio, Aniogs
Dewtini 1687,

H E Condition of this Obligation is fuch,

. thatif theabove bounden Sir Robers Clayton,
orhis\A(ligns, do, and fhall well and truly pay, or
caufe to be paid unto the above- named Mary But-
ler alias Strickland, her Executors, Adminiftrators,
or Afligns, orany of them, yearlyand every Year,
during the Term of his natural Life, thetull and
Juft Sumof 1200 /. of lawful Money of England,
by four equal Quarterly Payments, being the juft
and legal Intereft, to grow due of and for the
Principal Sum of Twenty thoufand Pounds here-
In after-mention’d, in Manner and Form follow-
Ing s that 1s to fay, 300/ on the r4th of Fuly
next enfuing the Date of thefe Prefents; 300 /2
on the 1 4th of OfFsber next coming; 30017 on the
L4th of Fanuary, which fhall bein the Year of our
Lur}:l 1088, and 300/ on the 14th of 4pril fol-
Iuwm_gi and {o on every the faid 14th Day of
the fard Months in every Year, one next, and con-
lequently coming after another, the like Sum of

300/, during the Time and Term of - the natural
Vou V,
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Life of the faid Sir Robers Cfa}'fa:; ; And alfo, 1f
the Heirs, Executors, and Adminiftrators of the
faid Sir Robert Clayton do, and fhall, on or before

the End and Expiration of Six Months next after

the Death or Deceafe of him the faid Sir Robert

Clayton, not onty well and truly pay, or caufe to

be paid, unto the faid Mary Butler alias Strickland,

her Executors, Adminiftrators, or Affigns, the full

and juft Sum of Twenty thoufand Pounds of law-

ful Money of England, above exprefs’d ; but alfo

all fuch Intereft thereof, after the Rate aforefaid,

as {hall be in arrear and unpaid at the Death of
the aforefaid Sir Robert Clayton, and alfo all fuch

as fhall grow due to be paid for the fame, for fo

long time of the fuid Six Months as the faid Sum

of Twenty thoufand Pounds fhall be unfatisfied

and unpaid after the Death or Deceafe of the faid

Sir Robert Clayton, without Coven, Fraud, or De-

ceit ; nor thall nor commence any Suit, either In
Law or Equity,againft the faid Mary Butler alias
Strickland, her Heirs, Executors, or Adminiftra-
tors, for, concerning, or in refpect of the faid
Twenty thoufand Poundsand Intereft, orany Part’
thereof; and fhall not do any A& or Thing to

obftru@, moleft, or hinder her, them, or any of
them, from receiving, having, or enjoying the
fame ; then this Obligation to be void, and of
none effect, or elfe to remain in full Force.

_ Robert Clayton.
Seal’d and delivered in
the Prefence of us,

7. Penntnglon;
Edso, Spencer,
Jobn Hebden,

Eliz, Rivers:

Mr. Serj. #right. Did the Prifoner bring you the
Bond, of which thisisa Copy, asa trueBond ?

Mr. Wosdward, Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Ser). Wright. 1 atk you' this, Had you a
Charge from her to keep this Matter fecret?

Mr. Woeodward, Yes; and that I would write
the Bond with my own Hand. |

Mr. Ser). Zright. She giving you this Charge,
how came this Matter to be known then?

Mr. Woodward. Mt. Nicholas Baker came to me
from Sir Robert Clayton, and afk’d me’if I did not
know the Prifoner, and particularly aboura Bond,
and whether I did not make one for her. It was
not in my Memory at firft, till further Difcour{e
occafton’d me to remember it ; and I told Him, that
I did do fome Bufinefs for her. He told me Sir
Robert Clayton had fome Information given him,
that there was fuch a Bond drawn by me: Then
I told him, I did remember there was fuch a Bond
brought to me, and that I had made a Bond for
Mrs. Butler, and had takena Copy of the firft Bond,
which Thad by me ; and al{o of the fecond Bond, in
which I had left out a material Word in the Obli-
gation, and was fain to write it over again, and
had the firlt Draught by me till abouta Month
before that Time, when meeting with it ymong
my Papers, I threw it into the Fire in my Clofer,
but this Copy did remain by me.

. Mr. Hall, You fay this Copy 1sall your own
Hand-writing?

Mr. Woodward., Yes, 1t is.

Mr. Holl. Was it Seal’d or Cancell’d ?

Mr. Woodward. Noj ’twasSeal’d, I am very
polittve, |

Hho» Mr.
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My, Hall. Are you pofttive the Seal was on it

at that Time?

Mr. I oodward. Yes, Sir,

Mr. Mallet. Did fhe tell you that Bond was to
be cancell’d ?

Mr. Woodward. She told me, {he was to deliver
up that Bond to Sir Robert Clayton; and, that he
would give her another inftead of ic.

Mr. Mallzt. Was the Bond then deliver’d up or
no?

Mr. Woodward. 1 cannot fay fhe did ?

Mr. Cutts. Did you never hear any Bill in
Chancery? 'To what End was this Bond deliver’d
to you? For what Reafon ?

M. W oodicard. 1alk’d her why the Bond was to
be deliver’d up, and fhe told me, There was fome
Uncafinefs in the Family, and my Lady Clayfon
had got the Alrof 1t; and therefore, to {atisfy
her, there was a Bill preferr’d againft her in Chaiz-
cery, and fhe was to put in her Anfwer; and, thar
he would give her another Bond, and that was to
be dehver’d up.

Mr. Nerthey. Wehave other Witnefles to prove
the Forging of it,  Call Mr. Beker,  (777ho ap-
peai’d end woas frorin. )

Mr.Sery. Prisht, Mr. Baker, were you prefent
when the Prifoner Mrs. Butler wasbefore my Lord
Chief- Juftice concerning this Bond ? Look on that
Copy.

Mr. Baker. I was prefent at my Lord Chief-

uftice’s Chamber, when the Prifoner was brouzhe
before his Lordthip; and e did there acknow-
ledee, that the Bond, of which fhe wasaceus’d,
fhe had order’d to be made,

M. Sery. [/right. Wasthatthe Bond in queltion?

Mr. Baker. Yes, the did confels fhe caufed Sir
Robeit Clay:en’s Name tobe {et to1t, and the Wit-
nefles Namess and, thar 1t was done by one Mr.,
Lewwkar, a Scrivener in Bilbopizate fireet.

Mr. Ser). /7right. She faid fo?

Mr. Baker. Yes, Sir,

Mr. Hall. Did fhe confefs it? Where was it ?

Mr. Baker. At my Lord Chidt- Juftice’s Cham-
bers fhe confels’d 1t was her own A&, fhe caufed
it to be made, and direted the Scrivener to fet
Sir Robert Claytei’s Name, and the Witneffes
Names to 1t.

Mr. Mallet. Was there notat that Time aDif-
courfe of a Bond that fhe had on the late Duke of
Buckinghain ¢

Mr. Baker. Tcannot be pofitive in thats but this
was the adt the was charg’d with, and fhe did
confefs that {he caufed it to be done, and, that
the Perfons as W itnefles were nnocent of it, and,
that the did direét Mr. Liwkar to fet Sir Rebert
Clayton’s Name to it

Mr. Hall. T1ow do you know Thisis the very
fame Bond ?

Mr. Baker. Mr. I oodwerd thew’d me this very
Bond when 1 went o him from Sir Reder? Cloyton,
to know whether he was acquainted with the Pri-
{oner ; who, after fome Dilcourfe with him relating
to this Bond, very frankly and ingenuoufly told
me the whole Matter of Taét, as he has done here.

Mr, Mallet. But we afk you about her Confef-
lon 5 Did you fhew her that Copy? Did fhe
confefs that ?

L. C. J. lsr. What was the Difcourfe of at
that Time?

M. Beker. It wasabout the Bond of Forty thou-
land Pounds, with which fhe was charg’d before

your Lordfhip, to have counterfeited.

Mr. Northey. Did he give an Account thep of
this Bond ?

Mr. Baker. Yes, Mr. 1/ oodward produced this
Copybefore my Lord Chief-Juftice, and the gwng
fhe had order’d Mr. Lewker to make it, and g
put Sir Robert Clayter’s Name to ir,

Mr. Sery. right., Now,my Lord, we will fhey
you, that fheis goingon ftill, and that very latcly
fhe has own’d it, and that fhe is going abour g
make the Bond of 500007 a very good Bopd,

Mr. Mallet, When it s in Queltion, you May
then invalidate 1r.

Mr.Sery. Wright. Mr.IFsodwerd has told yo,
he did make the Bond of 54000/ bur, Ithink, w.
have no need of 1t,

Mr. Hell. They have fail’d in the Indictment,
that it can’t be fupported by this Bond 5 it fliouly
be laid fpeciallv, according to the Condition of ).
Bond to be paid'; for it 1s a Bond of Forty thoy.
fand Pounds, to be paid by his Heirs after his
D.ath Twenty thoufand Pounds. Now the Bond,
whereof they produce a Copy, is of other Things,

Mr, Noithey. It is for the fame,

Mr, Hell 1t 1s a diiterent Thing.

L. C. J. Ilo/t. Not at all.

My, Mellet. Tt s haid 1n the Indictment, to b
paid by Sir Relers Cleyton : Tn the Bond *tis faid,
it 1s not to be paid till after his Death.

Mr. Sery. IFright, "Tis laid in the Indictmen,
that the Bond was of the Penalty of Forty thow.
fand Pounds to be paid by Sir Rodert Clayton, with
Conditton thereto under-written, conceriing, o
mong other Things, the Payment of Twenty
thoufand Pounds to the Prifoner, after the Death
of Sir Redert Clavton, by his Execurtors.

L.C. J. Holt. Let your Eixceptions proceed from
the IndiCkment 5 1t 1s to be paid afrer the Death of
Sir Rodert by his Fxecutors,

Mr. Sery. Wright. Have yonany more to fiy for
your felves ?

Mr. Hall. We haveagreatmany Witnefleshere
to prove her Reputation.  *T'is a ftrange Thing
any one fhould go to forge a Bond on fuch w
eminent Perfon.

L. C.J. Hslt. Ttisftrange indeed s but the Que-
ftion 15, whether it be true.

My. Hell, Her Confeflion is prov’d by Mr, £
kery bur we have may Witnefles as to her Repu
tion.

Mr. Mallet. ThisBond is not in the Indictment.
The Bond of Iorty thoufand Pounds is fevend
Years fince. Now there aretwo Bonds. Now that
of Kifty four thoufand Pounds is not in this In-
diétment, and this of Forty thoufand Pounds i
feveral Years {ince that it was thewn to him, k
is ftrange he thould be fo very exadt, and yet did
not examine it.  And probably he might miftake
in the Copy, and it may not be the very Bond in
the Indi¢tment. Now, as to Mr. Baker, tistrue,
we have a Bond of Five thoufand Pounds from
the Duke of Buckinzham, and weare fuing Sir K-
bert Clayten for this Money, and hope to have it
nowafter fomany Years.  And Sir Robert Clayte
did prefer a Bill in Chaucery againft us, and we in
Anfwer did difclim having any fuch Bond. And
now, when we are like to have a Decree for this
Sum againlt the Truftee of the Duke of Buek:-
bai’s Eltate, he comes and would take off o
Credit in this Matcer. We did, in the Year 1695
dilclaim any fuch Bond.

Vir. Northey. Then you doadmit that fhe own'd
the Bond,  [Then ber Witnefles were call’d.] .

M.
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1699. O. B.
My, Mallet. Mr. Glover, do you know Mrs,

BHI'[:‘?'?
Mr. Glsver. Yes.
Me. Mallzt. Give an Account of what you

know, asto her Repuration.
Gleer. T have known her fifteen or fixteen

Years. All that T know of her is fair and clear.
I..C.J.Flelr. Where do you hve ?

Cluer, In Red Tysa-fireet.

L.C. J.2!t. \What Profchiion are you of ?
Glower. 1 belonged to Lincoi’s-uit.

1. C. . Hoit. A Gentlemanof Lincolw’s-Iun.
Clyver 1 was broaght up at the Univerfity, but

have not refided there lately.
L.C. J. Helr. How do you hive? Are youa

Houfe-keepet 2

Glo=er. 1 live vrivately at prefent.

1.C. 1. Hslt. Who knowsyou:

Cly=er. 1cannot tell who Lnows me here,
helieve Mr. Northey does.

My, Newvocy. Tdonot intend 1o aIve any Cha-
aéer of vou, Ido not ufe to give Charalters of

my Clients. o
i,.C.J.7%". Fow long have you lived in Red

L}'ﬁ:‘ﬂf'ﬂ’f ?
"Glwer. Tenor Eleven Years.

Mr. Mallr. How did fhe five?

Gisuer. Tknew her livein Devonfhire-8q:are very
putably, I always thought {o,

Mr. Ser}. Fright. Had fheapy Liftate of her
oW’

Glover. Tcannot fay fo eortainly s it was thoughe
fo. She paid every body very punctually.

Mr. el Acquaint my Lord how long youhave
known her, and whether you think fhe would be
auilty of fuch a Forgery.

Glszor, T have known her fourteen or fifteen
Years, 1 cannot believe The would.

My, ALuzagn. Fave you heard the vidence?

Glover. Y cs.

Mr, Mgiaen, What do youthink of it then?

Gloer. 1 know not what to think.

Mr. Meatage. Do youthink fhe would confefs
her flf guiley of a Forgery, if the were not?

Glzow. Teannoe tell what to fay to that, |
fuppole no Body would confefs, 1f they were not
cully,

Nir.Sery Iighe. Do you know one 1feldon ?

o 1 know Febden,

Mr., Sery. IPrish:. Heisa Witnefs to the Bond,
Was he Sir Fohi Hebdow’s Son ?

Glver. 1 can give no Account of that, but he
has had a verv honourable Character.

Areo Rodum called, aund appeared.

My Ll Mis. Rodwn,doyou know Mrs, Butl:r?

Roduiin. Y es.

Mr 1zl How long have you known her ¢

Redumr. Five or Six Years,

Mr. Hell, Whatdo you kuow of her Charafer?

Redgn. 1am the Widow of one of them that
MIPd one another by the Tenple. 1 never knew of
A0y Hnml,‘ nor ever heard her ]ﬂ}’ claim to 4Ny fuch
bond.  She lved in good Reputation.  She was
it my Houle when my Flufband was killed. She
hived in my Houfe abouta Year 5 I never heard
the made any fuch Pretenfion.  She liv’d honeftly
“n qeeently, She owes meupwards of threehun-
dred Poupds,

L.C. |. Holt. For what? How came fhe to
GWe you three hundred Pounds:

alras Strickland, ﬁr Lorgery.
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Rodum. T kept a Shop in the Exchange,and my
Hufband was a Broker, She owed it me partly
for Goods out of my Shop, and partly for Goods
out of Seotland, He was killed abourt half a Year
ago, and [ have kept the Shop ftill. About three
or four Months ago fhe left me, and I never heard
of any Bond. °

Mr. Ser). Wright. Did you never hear of a Bill
in Chancery againtt her ?

Rodum. No, Sir.

Mr. Mallet. Did you hear of any Money that
was due to her from the Duke of Buckingham?

Reduin. T was told fhe was fuing Sir Robert
Clayton for Money that was to be paid her on the
Duke of Buckinghan’s Account, and upon the
Credit of that I trufted her.

Shaw called.

Mr. Hell. How long have you known Mrs, Byt-
ler 2

§haw. About fixteen Years.

Mr. Hall. Do you think fhe would forge a
Bond?

Shaw. Indeed I cannot give an Account of that,

My, Hell. FHow has fhe behaved her {elf ?

Shazw. I never knew her guilty of any Rudenefs.

M. Sery. Wiight. Put up more Wicnefles, if you
have any ?

Mr, Hall. We have done.

L. C. J. Holt. Mrs. Butler, will you {ay any
Thing for your felf ?

Mrs, Butler. T am altogether nnocent in the
Matter, I never wrong’d Sic Robert Clayton, nor
any Body elfe, in my Life,

L. C. J, Hslt. Gentlemen of the Jury, This
Mrs, Butler alwasStrickiand, {tands indiétad for for-
cine a Bond in the Name of Sir Redert Clayton, in
the Penalty of Forty thoufand Pounds, the Con-
dition for the Payment of Twenty thoufand
Pounds, among other Things, within fix Months
after the Death of Sir Rodert Clayton.  And alfo,
That fhe did publifth this Bond as the true Bond
ol Sir Robert Clayton. Y ou have heard what Evi-
dence has been given, to prove her guilty of this
Forgery, and the Publication of it.

It feeins, fome Time fince, as is proved (o you
by Mr. Woodward, this Gentlewoman came to him
with thisBond of Forty thoufand Pounds. And ic
was upon this Account, as fhe faid : To wit, Sir
Rsbert Clayton having given her thisBond, it had
taken Air, and was come to the Lady Clayron’s
Far 3 which occafioned fome Difference between
Sir Robert Clayton and his Lady. She faid, That
this Bond, by Direction from Sir Rebert, was to
be deliver’d up to him to be cancell’d ; and thac
Sir Robert Clayton had engaged to enter intoa new
Bond in the Penalty of Fifty four thoufand Pounds,
for the Payment of Twenty fix thoufand Pounds
(there being ac that Time {uppofed an Arrear of
Intereft for Twenty thoufand Pounds) payable after
Sir Redet’s Death, and Intereft inche mean Time,
She delivered this Bond to Mr, Weodward, He
takes a Copy of it, which is produced and read.
And fo, according to her Direction, Mr. /#cedward
dces draw another Bond, with the Penalry of Fifty
four thoufand Pounds. And fhe thentold Mr. /2 sd-
werd Sir Rebért would {eal this Bond upon the De-
livery up of the Bond of Forry thoufand Pounds.
Mr. Woodward having confidered, that i1t was
n extraordinary Sum for Sir Robert to engage
himfell in, and he being a very conliderable

Man,
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Man, he advifed her to have this new Bond .

well attefted ;s and to be fure to get Witnefles of
unqueftionable Credit to fee it executed.  And
thereupon heoffered himfelf to go with her toSir
Robert, to bea Witnels to this new Bond., No,
fays the, Sir Robert is not willing that this thould
be known ; you are not a_proper Perfon to be 2
Witnefs to it therefore, fays fhe, Twill get fome
other Witneffes to atreft it.  Whereupon he gives
her this firft Bond for Forty thoufand Pounds,
which fhe brought to him, for the Payment of
Twenty thoufand Pounds, and gave her alfo the
Draught of the new Bond. e fays, this Bond
that fhe brought to him wasattefted by four Wit-
nefles.  Sir Kobert, it feems, upon her Anfwer n
Chancery, not imagining any Thing of this, fhe
having difclaimed in Chancery the having of any 3
fome Time after he had heard a Reportas if fhe
was feting up of a new Bond, and that Mr. IV o0d-
award could givean Accountof it. Wherefore he
feuds Mr. Baker to Mr. WWoeedward, who gave him
the fame Account that he has done here.  Then
Sir Robert makesa Complaint, and has ber brought
before me 3 and there was Mr. /P oodward with this
Copy. And thiswasobjected to her, us if fhe had
forged this Bond. And it feems, when fhe was
there under Examination, and is proved to you by
Mr. Baker, fhe did plainly confefs, that fhe had
forged this Bond of Forty thoufand Pounds, and
that fhe had procured one Lezvkai to do it for her,
who fet Sir Rober’s Nameto it ; and faid, that the
Witnefles, whofe Names were [et to it, were in-
nocent, and knew nothing of the Matter.

Now what is faid for her on the other Side ?
They bring fome Perfons for her, that fay they
have known her. One, that fays he belonged to
Lincolw’s-Inn, and had been acquainted with her
fourteenor fificen Years, and did look upon her as
1 civil Woman; and for his Part, he does not be-
lieve the would beguilty of fuch a Forgery. An-
other, who isa Woman, fays, fhe has known her
fome Time, and fhe fays, fhe has trufted her much,
and did never hear her fay any Thing of this Bond,

167. The Triaf of Mary Butler, (Pe. 1 I.VViIl.III_

but fhe behaved her felf civilly, and fhe took her
tobe a very fober Perfon.  Another Witnefs fays
the look’d on her to bea very honelt Perfon
This is the Sum of the Evidence, |

There is a very {lrong Lividence to induce vo
to believe that fhe did forge the Bond.  Such 4
Bond fhe had, that is plain. She docs give no Ac.
count what is become of its and fthe does ny
fhew any manncr of Pretence of having fo much
Money from Sir Reber! Clayton dueto her; the dog
notmake itappear why Sir Robert fhould give he
2 Bond upon any Account. Now for any 1o iy
that they knew her, and they do not believe fh.
would forge a Bond, thatisno Evidence 5 no Body
ought tobelicve 11l of Ms. Butler, orany one elfe,
unlefs it be made to appear.  But the Queftion
is not, what they do believe s but whether ¢
Mateer be not proved to you to your Satislaction,
that fhe has forged this Bond 2 And it you ap
ficisficd that fhe did forge 1t, you oughe
find her guilty 5 and if you do not believe th:
Evidence to be fatisfactory, you ought to acqui
her.

Then the Tury withdrew, and berng retuiitcd, gxi
their Verdidl as follows.

Cl.of Arr. Areyouagreed of your Verdit?

Fury., Yes.

Cl. of Arr. Who fhall fay for you?

Fury., Foreman. -

Cl. of Ari. Bring Mary Butler 1o the Bur,
How fay ye? Isthe Prifoner at the Bar guilty ot
the Foreery whereof fhe {tands indicted, or nor
suilty ¢

Foreiman. Guilty.

The Fudgment which the Court pronsunced agaii
ber wasy, That fhe fhould pay a Fine of Fi
bundred Pounds to the King, and coutiiue i
Prifon till fhe paid it.

CLXV. Tk
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CL\VIH TJE Proc EEKZZWS 11 Parliament leba*.z t/ae Bill of D
vorce between His Grace the Duke of NORTFOLK and the

L(z@} Mary MORDANT

1o Will. 1. *

V 1

February and March, 1669.

2.

1. The Journal of the Houfe of Loorps, together with the Bir1.
1. The Depofitions before their Lorpsuirs,

1. The Exanination and Euvidence c:'f e Duk E’s W};;;gﬁg 0

V. The State of the Cafe on both Stdes.
V. Bifhop Coulens’s drgument, proving thar Adultery canfes a Diffoluzion

of Marriage.

V1. The Pieaa’mgs of tbe Learncd Council, lefore the Honourable Houfe of

Commons and the Committee, Lufz‘b otber Matters thereto relating.

Die Fovis 15 Februarij, 1699,

%PON Reading the Petition of

SA*{-;J“'E;-’D Heiry Duke of Norfolk, prayine
< U GV [ eave to bring in a Bill to dif:
ﬂ‘s \‘ folve hisMarriage wich the Lady

}

@;? Dﬁ Mary Meidant, and to cnable hml
ey 2 to Marry again; he hmnrr cer-
tin Pmﬂfﬂf his Wife hvlng i
f‘t.du]tﬂrjr with Sir Fobn Germnine : ‘t 15 ordered
by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parlia-
ment afiumbled, Thae the fad Petizion fhall Le
oiken into Confideration To-morrow, at Itlcven
of the Clack, end 2l the Lords fummion’a to
ARG

Dic Feneris 10 Filivaii], 1099,

After reading the Order {or refuming the Con-
fiderntion of the Doke of Nefelt's ]’tu..wn ard
Dot thercupon -

[odie pria ice ieéie _,'? [ fu? v:hhmi \nAd
to diffolve the Duke of A%/o/%°s Marrage wan
me Lady dery doidaity and 1o epable . him 10
Marry agam, “In the Words lollowing,

f:ff,u J-‘\ .*J:,...rt‘l';‘ aiG (,‘f?)n}']f melh fodory Fs'.’fj'? Foxe

t Majifly, your lie aid fuithfal Saljel kenry

Uf .ﬁ[\ﬂl*ﬂ”x, aitd Earl- Merfhel of bangland,
That pe did, foine Xears fince, mariy 1o Im._* Mary
Mordane, bis noco IVife 5 amd, that fie Latls, jor di-
v deais, Lvad i Sepayation fici i1he i *’C’)f.um
aitd bath bad wilowful Familicr ity and adulterons (,f.rz-
virjeticnwith SirJohn Germaine, Bar. and frguff y

of diiultery o ker pait, and hath bickeir the Send of

Matrimgy, Forafinuch therefere as yeae fail S:fﬁj 7
bath i Iflue, noy can bope for any 6ther than [puvicus
e te _f’n.ff-’d bim in bis Honours, Digititivs, mm‘ k-
Nate, uilfs the faid Marriage e dechar*d v 4, and
aiitiff’ f’f;_}f (;‘!quﬂf;ﬂ’ g,;djgff} fﬁ!d Sff'f bl be f?f{?!/!t-d
Lo ey aiy other Woinan, MNayil p!fr*_/é 2eur woff
Lxcellent Majefty, out of your Princely Goodiifs and

Coizpafion toyour faid Suif s Micfertunecin ! Cal:-
ityy and for the future 8 ipport aind C m}:ﬁ;r of inlelf
aid Laniily, that it mayle ciafted : And be n’ nagel
Zn' f;’:, }L’J AT 5A ) Liﬁf{cdﬁ ﬂﬂ‘fﬂﬂﬁ f,_i. m}i H;*}J h“r.:
Adzice mm’CaJJe,rr of the Lovds Spivitzal oy Tessporal
{1} .ﬂ’ﬂfﬂ?ﬂ Cﬂr?!;.”&?.’hd f;’:."pr ffh ]i"rn 8 Hfﬁﬁ: .rhy[u;}
aid by the Authsi i1y of the /m..f:" TLat ile [aid Boxd of
Muatri [HIGRY bung viclated aad Lrolen l, h. F;H’;};ﬁ/f
02ci A, hulter vof the faid LadyV: ATy Mo... ant, e, aicd
is berehy enaced, declared, avd ajulped 16 be j,-w.az
/J:,JL: /f; ff:*a:f?am d{[]ﬂf‘”f oy aniil u.?’;mmh Toanliial:
cidto ol Itents, Coitflrudiicns, ead Puipofes ol ans-
i j!HIf-, thit :fﬂﬁxﬁf! piey b Loz ﬁ,[ ﬂf:’:fiﬁ,
:f*f_, v'd Henry Dute o] Norloili, of auy tivie or 1 s
D v ,” Fell il i"ae. Tt TG s, 49 i 1 (f sivet
it ¢l L‘ﬁ tiwe of 1h fzn:’Lﬁ cMary, av it e oo
NIV "’ﬂ‘; {zfﬂt.f):{,ffhﬁf.’-l clii ff aaei or 11 cinin coilh
whars e might lasefully maris in caje the jrzf-f"Ln y
‘I ary cees wol living : Aud, :b:‘?!ﬁfﬁ; [0 50 Ry e
Fad aind celebiar "4 ﬂf N bea Hes 1! f', nn”f: N }r,,
A .r.r({gt“ ai ffﬂ? 1l be (':j fa””t* m‘rJu{ Ll :;.u N
ol Lrents, Confbrultions, ainl P iarfefes, :rm! {hat ol
aind s "t Cf:ﬂfﬁ?’ Cl.; ‘Jfff"? Lo ffff"fﬂﬁf;’h” Y
Joall be deerzd, ﬁ(fﬂfu (& i ﬁ’uzm!h Lerw il
[{edloch, and tobe gt diate aud il evitall, r.r.;f;':z’
inbeiit the faid Dukedein of Norfolk, Oj/g,; of I zv)-
iy Aty hal t‘ff}_ I']”‘] md Citd all other L;f“'f{ 5 ,-.'
inticsy haraiies, {100 ”ﬂ,mf:i‘fﬂi sofflonour, Z 1
a. Heuens, end ol i (‘:’!!f‘?.rﬂ.’h‘f.!j} o5 dii:d § I 't‘ff‘ ;.-'
[uithers, ﬂ[aﬁu., aid other Ancifors, i libe -
i and feriin as eny othor Child 6ir Chitdyan born i . 2+
ful Matringny ﬂ.m?*’ or sV 11ber 1t oF be fnbeyil Lo, az-
f&:‘.:rfh:g foth: Conrfe of Ii heritaices ufod i id isReelits
aiid (o e ('rh ﬁjﬁ_} all Priv fkgfj Pre- tu! o cuL.rff
Beagjits, sicvaitages, Claimsy end D e 2,  £5 67
other Clild e Childrer bovm inn lazsful 1 eds k iay
baug or f?:m.w the Lawes and Ciifioms of r!:r;rmuwm
And be §t frither enaiicd, That the ﬁn{f H ary Ditke
.-:ngarfalhﬂ*rft' be entitled tobe Tuian: by Cectivtchie of
the Lands and Inberitence of fuch Wifewhom b2 fhall

Z’f‘rt-

¥ See State Trials, Vol VIIL p,7, and 27, &'e. {or Tiwo former T'rials, relating to this Affair,
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bereafter marrys and fuch Wife as be fhall fo marry
Jhall be entitled to Dower of the Lands and Tcnements
whercof the faid Flenry Ditke of Nortolk fhall be feif-
ed of fuchEftate whereof Je fhal! be da-:-:::abif, as any
other Hufband or IVife may v migh? clait, bave, or
enjoy, And the Ghild or C/.?:fm'mil-am_ in fuch Mar-
riage fball and may derive aid maze Title by Defeeit
or otheriife 1o ond from iy of their Ancefters, as
any other Child or Children inoy do, aity Law, Ste-
tute, Reftraint, Probibition, Ordinaiice, Cenon, Con-
Pitution, Picfeription, or G uficin hal, iode, exereif-
ed, or 1fed to the contyaiy of the Drciifes, o any of
them, in any wife notcithffanatig. siid be :I‘ﬁf?‘r‘fl{?'
enailed by the dAuthorily cforefaid, That the foid Lady
Mary fbadl, and is berely barred and excluded of and
from all Dower aid Toirds, aird of aind fiomell Rizht
and Title of Dower and Thivds wanto o1 ottt of any the
Hoiours, Manors, Lands, or Hcreditameats of the
faid Duke s and, The! cll Conveyjences, ﬁ}*jn'zm‘;,
Setticimeits, Limitaticnsy and Creatisus of Ujes and
Trufls of, into, or cut of Gy Henotis, Mauois,
Lands, v Hereditaments,at any time beretgfore inale
by the fuid Dutke, or any of bis dicftors or Truflzes,
sitte, or upaity or for the Uje e Bencfit of 1he jaid Lady
Mary, or any the Iffiee of ber Body, o for eafing, dif-

charging, oi COURLET- Jecuring oiy the flanars, Laids,

or Hereditamments of the faid Lady Mary, or aily of

ber dnceftorsy foall be freim benee forth, fo far ascon-
cerns the faid Lady Mary, or aity Iffue of ber Body, or
any Intcrift for bev or thesii, ff_fz_'::r{v void and of none
effect 5 and ell and cvery the faid Hoitours, Manois,
Lands, o Hereditanents of thefaid Duke, or any of bis
Anceftars or Truftees, foall froi benceforth remain {?H({
be toand fur the Ufe and Bencfii of the faid Duke, ana
fuch other Perfoi or Peifons, and for fuch ]Lj_l‘az.:’.f a}{d
Titerefls, and i fuch manier and forim asif the faid
Lady Mary scas wow naturally dead without airy [fJue
of bri Body. /Ind alfo, Toat cll Lomilelions aind Crrea -
tions of any Ufe, Liffate, Powir, or Trifly wnade by any
of the Anccftors of ihe Jaid Ledy Mary, #ulo oi jor
the Ufe or Benefit of ibe Jeid Duke, bis [eiis or 4f-
Sigus, out of any the Maiors, I_.ﬂmf..r, oi' fr.‘?'t,‘ffzfﬁﬂfﬂﬁj'f
of any the Aiiciftors of the Jaid Ledy Mary, ﬂs;f!f be
[from benceforth void, and of one cficél. Fdidbe it
further ciacled by the Authority ajaf'tﬁzzd, That the
faid Duke of Novfolk, Lis Heiis, l‘i:.‘n‘f;‘!fﬁi'.i,";‘fz’zﬁﬁ-
niflrators, or Affiens, fhally gir or bfore ibe ]3;*1';: aid
szventicth Dayof Mavch, Onethoufand fevenr onniyod
and oie, pay, or caufe 1o be paid, wnto the ferd Lady
Mazy, or ber Affigns, the Sui of Tei ibetifasa Potins
of latuful Moy of Lngland, whkicn was ke Lertisis
in Moncypaid on ber Marriage with the fond Dicke 5
and et defanlt of Payint of the fuid Surt of Tei
Thesfaid Pouids, o 0¥ before the Joid Iive oid
seontivth Doy of Narch, then, and in z:fd.:- cale, ﬁc,
the faid Lady Mary, and ber Afigns, duiity fzer INa-
tural Life from the Deceafe of the Jaid Duke, if foe
fhell furvive bim, fhall be cititled 1o, and foatl aid
may have and enjoy fuch Joynitire aird ollber Aavaile-
vesas fhemight oi may bave oi ::f!r’:‘ﬁh‘ Pyvertue of o cei-
(ain Indentuie, (Quinquepartice, ziade psiz and i
confederation of the faid Merrioge, &::'rf::*mg Date the
Thirteenth Day of June, Anno DeminiOne ffi.w:;fa;z‘!
fix bundred feventy-feve, aid waede, or wenlioi’d to
have been made, bewoeen Ylenry late Duce of Nor-
{olk. rhen Earl of Norwich, Father of the feid Divze,
aid the prefent Duke, by the Naine of Flenry eri
Howard of the firft Pait, Henry Larl ¢f Petervo-
vow and the faid Duschefs, by the Noine of the Lady

i

—

* "T'his Clavfe was added after the Bill was brought into the

LToufe of Loxds.
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Mary Mordant, fofe Danghter and Heir appayezy;
of the faid Earl of Peterborow, of the fecond Payt,
Henry Marquis of Worceller, William Earl of
Powis, and Henry Lord O-Brian, of the third Pa:4,
Arthur Onflow, Efgs and Thomas D..Ilmiltl‘{}}rj
Efgs of the fourth Part 5 Stmon Fox, I6/g; aid Thy.
mas Welt, Gent. of the fifth Part : And by verene of
the Agicements contaiid in certair: drticles bearing
Date the Eight and tweaticth Day of April, in 4),
Year of our Lord One thanfand fix bundred ninety-foy,
inade, oritention’d to bave boon mace, Lekvecr: the foj
Dukeof the one Peit, auc 12 fuid Henry Eail of Pe.
terborow o bebalf of the faid Ditchefs 5 and the foif
Dutchefs of the other Par:, according to the frue Fiten
ond Nieaning of the faid Quinquepartite Jidoatpy
and Aiticles 5 aid elfo, daring the jrint Lives of i)y
faid Duke aind Dutchefs, fooll axd szy eijoy Fir,
Hundred Pounds ver Annum, oy veriite of e By,
teQuadrupartite, dated the Iuiftecnih Day of Ju,
One thoufand fi bundred ainety-fer, iiades o i
tioifd to beve bees made, botwween the faid Delbe (!
MNorfolk of the jiift Part, oz faid Larl of Pererly.
rove aid the faid Dutebefs of the fecoird Pait, Willag
Lord Lemfter of the thicd Part, aid Siv John Mor.
dant, Niiielt aid Bareict,ang Willtam Longucville,
Efgs of the fewrth Pact. Aud then, and in fuch Caf,,
the faid Dute of Wortolk, bislleivs, Excentsis, an)
AdwinRiators, is and ave difehorg’d of and from th:
Payicirt of the faid Saii of Aen Toonfeird  Powids,
aity Thing bereiu coiicalined 1o the coilrary tocreof i
anyilfe nozcinflonsing,  But o Pavinent of the i
Ten Thoufaud Pounds tn manier aferefard, oz il
Jaid Lady Mary fhafl be wlally laiied and exclud:]
from ber jaid “Joyitarey and of and fioim all ofhy
Advantages ovt of the Real and Perfonal Bfiate of the
faid Duke, as aferefaid,

Upon the firft Reading of the Bill, entitkd,
it AEE to diflele the Dike of Worfolk’s Alairiag
with the Lagy Mary Movdane, end to cnable bini 13
Merry arain; 1t 1s order’d by the Lords Spirtual
and Temporal i Paritament affembled, that te
Dutchels of Norfolk may have a Copy of the fud
Bil 5 and, that his Grace the Duke of Newfolt
fhall be heard by his Counfel, to make good the
Allegarions of his Bill, en Tueflay viext, at Eleven
of rhe Clock 1 the IForencoin 3 and, that the
Ditcheds ot Norfe/k may have Counfel to agtend
at the fame time, 1f the pleafe.

Die Sabbati v Februarif, 1694,

Liyon rexding the Petition of Mary Dutchels
of Nerfulk, praying to be heard by her Counfl
before any further Proceedings be made on the Bul
entitled, i A% 1o diffalve the Duke of Norfolk’s
Merrigze wiio the Lecy NMary Mordant, and fs
cinable biin to Mariy ¢seiin y 1t is ordered by the
Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament af-
fembled, that the Dutchefsof Nor/z42 thall be heard
by her Counfel as defired, on Tzeflav nest, &
Llleven of the Clock in the Forenccil,

ILis ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Ten-
oral i Parliamentaffembled, Thae F75 qi Lai
and Folw fo Feuntain, Gent. do atiend this Houe
on Yufley the Twendceth Day of this Inflang
Fetrugry, at Ten of the Clock in the Forenoon,
as Wimneffes to be examined on the behalf of the
Dulze of Naifolt,

D'e Lune 19 Februarij, 1099.

It is ordercd by the Lords Spirituai and 1o
poral in Parlameat affmbled, T hae M, Dove!

£TH;I'
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Germaines Mr. Stnon I?rfmze ali'as de Brienne, Mrs,
Auna-Maria Briane alias de Brienne, and Mus, Fu-
dith Poffette alias Per;/_bdf, do, and [!1&}? are hereby
;equir’d, r0 attend this Houfe, asWitnefles on the
Behalf of his Grace the Duke of Neiflk, to-mor-
-ow at Eleven of the Clock in the Forenoor.

Die Martis 20 Februaris, 169q.

Afier hearing Council, upon the Petitton of
the Dutchefs of Norfolk, purfuant to the Order
of the Seventeenth inftant 5 as alfo Council for
he Duke of Norfolk, the following Order was
made 3 VIZ. B

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
Pura] in Parliament affembled, Th_:at this Houfe
will hear Witneffes for the Duke of Norfolk, only
ro Matter of Fat, fince the rejecting of the firft
Bill, except only Mr. Daniel Germaine, Mr., Sinon
Briane alias deBrienne, Mrs. Ama-MariaBriane or
e Brienne, Mus. Fudith Poffette or Perfode, Mis.
Elianor Vanefs, who are at liberty to give Evidence
to Matters of Faét before that Time, which were
wot then before the Houfe 5 and are hereby re-

uired to attend this Houfe, as Witnefles on the
Behalf of his Grace the Duke of Norfolz, to-
morrow Morning at Eleven of the Clock.

1t is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral 14 Parliament aflfembled, That to-morrow
at Twelve of the Clock, this Houle wil] proceed
to hear Council and Witnefies for the Duke of
Nesfolk, to make good the Allegations in his
Bill; at which Time the Dutchefs of Norfolk’s
Council fhall be prefent.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That William Bay-
Jy and Edmund Davies do, and they are hereby
required to attend this Houfe to-morrow at
Eleven of the Clock in the Forenoon, as Wit-
neffes to be examined on the behalf of the Duke

of Norfolk.

Die Maytis 21 Februarif, 1699,

The Houfe being inform'd, That Endeavours
had been made to ferve Orders upon the Duke
of Norfoll’s Witnefles, and feveral of them were
fick, and others could not be found:

Jofeph Whilley being call’d in and fwvorn, faid
as follows :

Daniel Germaine, 1 went to his Houfe, and was
told bya Neighbour no body was within 5 but
they bid me go to theAlehoufe at the next Door,
and I might hear of him ; and enquiring there,
I found one of his Journeymen, Peter Hercules,
who told me, he had not been at home thefe fix
Months, nor could not tell when he would re-
turn : But I fhew’d him the original Order, and
ferv’d him with a Copy, and told him his Ma-
fterwas to appear at the Duke of Nerfolk’s Lodg-
ings, at the Houfe of Lords, to-morrow at
Eleven a-Clock, as 2 Witnefs for him.

M. Simont Briane, 1 went to his Houfe in $7.
Jaines's-firect, and Mr, Poffette’s Man, Fer. Hoff -
mai, came to the Door, who told me Mz, Briagne
Went 1o Keiyfington that Afternoon ; and no fooner
had he faid fo, bue Mr. Poffette came in, who told
me the fame 3 and I afk’d him to {peak with Mr.
Briane’s Wife, and he told me fhe was fo weak,
that I could not ferve her with the Order. Then
L afk’d to fee Mrs. Poffette, his own Lady; he

likewife told me fhe was fick, and could not be
Vo, V.
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{fpoke to; fo I thew’d him the original Order, and
left the Copy with himfelf for his Lady and Mr:
Briane’s Lady, and forthwith went to Kenfington,
to ferve the Order upon Mr. Briasne ; but not meet-
ing with him, after a greatdeal of Enquiry, I left
it with his Maid-fervant at his Lodgings, and
ferv’d her with it, who told me fhe would give
it her Mafter that Night, who waited for the
King’s coming from Hampton-Gourt. This Mor-
ning I wentagain to his Houfe at 54 Fames’s,
and fent for his Servant, who told me his Mafter
did not come to Town lalt Night; {o I belicve
his Maid had given him the Order. |

Mrs. Elianor Vanefs. 1 enquir’d at every Houfe
in Kenfiugton, where I was inform’d there were
Dutch People, and could not know of any of
them of any fuch Woman 3 but the Ear] of Ak
bemarle’s Steward, and the Porter of the Lodge
poing into Hide-Park (Kenfington) promis’d me
they would enquire after her, and fend me word
if they heard of fuch a Perfon.

Then George Starkey being call’d in and fworn,
faith as followeth : 1 ferved William Bayly with
the Order of this Houfe, to attend as a Witnefs
this Day : He told me he was under a Courfe of
Phyfick, and could not ftir out without Dan-
ger of his Life, but any other Day he would
attend.

Then a Certificate under the Hands of Fobs
Hutton and Theodore Colladon,Dottors of Phyfick,
was produced and read, as follows:

We whofe Names are under-written, DoCtors
of Phyfick, do certify, that Mary, Wife of Simar
de Bricnne, and Fudith Wite of Peter Perfode,
have been for fome time, and are at this prefent,
fo extraordinary ill in Bed, that neither of them
can remove from thence without Danger of their
Lives. Witnefs our Hands, at their Dwelling-
houfe in 8¢, Tames’s-fireet, betwixt Ten and Ele-
ven of the Clock in the Morning, the 21ft Day
of February, -5
Febn Hutton,
Theodore Golladon,

After which, the following Order was made ;
ViZ.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and
Temporal in Parliament affembled, T hat Doctor
Yobi Hutton and Doltor Theodore Colladon (who
fign’d a Certificate delivered and read this Day,
of the Illnefs of Mrs. Mary, Wife to Simon de
Brienne, and Fudith her Sifter, Wife to Mr. Peter
Perfode) do attend this Houfe to-morrow at Lle-
ven of the Clock, to atteft upon Oath what they
have certified.

Then the Form of the Oath formerly given
to Witnefles, being read out of the Journal, 23
Fan. 1691, the fame was agreed to with fome Al-
teration, and s as followeth:

“ YOU fhall true Anfiver make to all fuch
¢ Queftions as fhall be afk’d you by this Ho-
‘¢ nourable Houle, in relation to the Charge of
¢ Adultery in the Bill brought in by the Duke of
‘“ Nerfolk againft the Dutchefs of Norfole with
¢ Sir Tobn Grrmaine, You fhall declare your
t¢ whole Knowledge of this Martter, and fhall
¢¢ {peak the Truth, and nothing but the Truth,

““ as well upon the Matter as you fhall be exa-

¢« mined on behalf of his Grace the Duke of Nos-
¢ folk, as upon fuchlnterrogatories as fhall beex-

¢ hibited on behalf of the Dutchefs of Ner-
Ii “« folf,
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without Favour or Affection to cither

¥: ﬁ;['{-:
God, and by the Con-

¢c Party. So help you
< gents of this Book,”

Then the Council being called in, they for the
Duke having opened the Nature of their Evi-
dence, Mrs. Elianor Vanefs was fworn and being
aflked fome Queftions by the Duke’s Council, fhe
appeared to be a Dutcl Woman, and could not
well underftand Englifb, and an Interpreeer be-
ing offered by the Duke’s Council 3 Council
withdrew, and the Floufe agreed, that the Dut-
chefs’s Council fhould have an Interpreter alfo 3
nd the Council being called in again, were told
fo by Order of the Houle, and that they might
proceed to any other Witnefs, The Duke’s
Council defired that they might begin with Mrs.
Vanefs, and withdrew.

Then the following Orders were made.

Tt is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and "T'em-
poral in Parliament affembled, That the Agents
for the Duke of Nerfolk do forthwith deltver a
Lift of the Witnefles they intend to examine on
the behalf of the Duke of Noifulk, to the Dutchefs

of Norfolt or her Agents.
Itis Ordercd by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-

poral 'n Parliament affembled, That to-morrow
-+ Twelve of the Clock, this Houfe will proceed
t0 hear Council and Witnefles for the Duke of
Norfolk, to make out the Allegations in his Bill 3
At which Time the Dutchefs of Norfolk’s Council
fhall be prefent.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That Danzel Ger-
saine, Simon Briane alias de Bricine, Ama-Mayia
Briane alias de Brienne, Tudith Poffette alias Per-
fode, —— Goutaken, —— Pontack, Sufaina Bar-
yington, ——— Hicgonce, Mrs. Keeinery Fofeph
Berger, William Lane, Fobn le Fountaine, fonathay
Browne, —— Hayer, and - Welburie do,
and are hereby required, to attend this Houl ro-
morrow at Lleven of the Clock in the Forenoon,
as Witnefles to be examined on the behalf of the
Duke of Noxfdlt.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral 1n Parliament aflembled, That Filliam Ai-
Jen and fobn Maitland do, and they are hereby
required, to attend this Houfe, on Service of this
Order, as Wimefles to be examined on behalt

of the Duke of Nofolk,

Di¢ Yovis 22 Februarij, 1699.

'Fhis Houfe being informed, that Sir Theodore
Colladon, and Dotor Hutton attended, as ordered
yelterday :

Sir Theodsre Colladon being called in and fworn,
fays, Hle faw Mrs. de Briane yefterday 3 fhe was
very ill, fainting in Bed, and fcarce able to live.
Mors. Peifede he alfo vifited, who having mifcar-
ricd by a Fright, could not ftir out of her Bed
without hazard of her Life.

Dotor Hutton being called in and {worn, fays,
He vifited Mrs. Mary de Briane this Morning s
the hath been fick three Months, is inan 111 Con-
dition of Health, and will endanger her Life if
the comes abroad. Mrs, Perfade 1s very ill, fhe
cannot come out of her Bed without endangering
her Life.

Then the Council were called for the Duke
and Dutchefs of Norfolk.

The Dutchels’s Council moved to have the

Witnefles Chritian Names, and Place of thej,
Abode, and faid they had not the Names )
this Morning. |

Then the two Interpreters taok the following
Oath. _

Vou foall well, truly, and faithfully fiterpry
between the Houfe and Tlianor Vanels, 1),
FVituefs, tonching the Matiers fbe jhill give fy
Evidence.

Counci) being withdrawn, the Houle agreed
to tell the Duke’s Council, that they mighe pro.
ceed to examine Witnefles that were named the
Day before : And that if the Duotchels’s Coup.
cil had any Exception, they might now make i¢
againft them or their Teftimony, and that the
Duke’s Agents fhould eive the Chriftian Nameg
of their Witnefles, and as much as they can of
the Places of their Abode to the Agents of the
Dutchels.

The Council being called in again, were told
what was agrced on by the Houle touching the
Witnelles ¢ Then the Duke’s Council proceeded
and called in Efianor Vanefs, who being afk’d fe.
veral Queftions by the Duke’s Council, the In.
terpreter afk’d them of her in Dutch, and fhe an-
fwered again {o the Interpreter, and he declard
her Anfwers to the Floule in Englifb.

Nicholas Hanfier being fworn in like manner,
gave his Teftimony in French byan Interpreter.

Then Council being withdrawn, the following
Orders were made ; w2,

It is Ordered by the Lords Spirttual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That the Shout.
hand Writers, who took the Witnelies Evidence,
do diétate to a Clerk, in order to be tranfcribed
what the Witnefles have faid; That the Exami-
nations with the Short-hand Writers Book and
Papersare to be fealed up and kept by the Clerk
until the next Day the Houfe fhall proceed on
chis Matier, and then what is tranferibed fhall
be read at the Bar in the Prefence of the Wit-
nefs.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That on Saturds
next, at Twelve of the Clock, this Houfe will
proceed to hear Council and Witnefles for the
Duke of Nerfolk, to make out the Allegations of
his Bill ; at which Time the Dutchefs of Ao~
folk’s Council fhall be prefent,

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, T'hat SimonBrivi
alias de Brienne, fhall be, and is hereby required,
to attend this Houfe on Saturday nexe at Lleven
of the Clock in the Forenoon, to be examined s
a Witnefs on behalf of the Duke of Nerfolx.

Die Veneris 23 Februarij, 1699.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, ‘That Fanes Bit-
ger, Sufamnab Barringlon, Frances Knight, and it
Macdonnel],Mhall, and they are hereby required, 10
attend this Houfe to-morrow at LEleven of the
Clock in the Forenoon, as Witnefles to be esl-

mined on the behalf of the Duke of No7folx.

Die Sabbati 2.4 Februarijy 1699,
The Houfe being moved, T hat Mr. Szino Brici:

or d2 Brienne may be fent for in Cuftody, for rot
having attended according to the Order of this

Houfe, as a Witnefs {or the Dukeof I\’b;faﬂ{’f
Fiere-
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Hereupon ‘Z_Yraﬂms Kelk:t Was cElllcd in 3 and be-
o fworn, faid to this Effect, viz. |
T went to the Houfe of the Dutchefs Of. Nor-
fuls and enquired for Mrs. S!{/}umf?b Barringlon,
ind if fhe lived there? A Man faid no: 1 afked
i 1o could tell me where fhe wag?' He fmd, no.

Then I went to ferve Mr. Simon Briane or de
Bricies and being at his Foufe, enquired for
i ¢ 1is Man faid, his Mafter was gone (o Kens
fongtoi. e took the Order, and faid he would
sive it his Mafter.
"1 went to the Lord Cut#’s Houfe, and afk’d
for ong Mr. Beiger, but could not hear of him 3
| went o my Lord’s Stables, and afked his
Coachman for My, Berger, he faid he lived
Hedge-Lene 5 there 1 went and found his Wile,
and debvered the Order to her 3 fhe faid fhe
would have nothing to do with it, and that Mr,
Geinaine cave im Bread. 1 faw him Yelterday,

and he okl me he had been with the Duke of

Newfoity and would ateend him again,

I wentagein to the Dutchefs of Neifolk’s Houl
to ferve Mrs. Darpizzicn, and one told me fhe
wis feen to look out of @ Window, and another
wld me The was at Home, {o I could not ferve
the Order on her, “

The Houfe being informed upon Oath, That
1 Copy of the Order for Mr. Simon Brian: or d
Brizie to attend this Houfe, as a4 Witnefs for
the Duke of Newfelk, was left with his Servant
at his Dwelling-place, and he not attending this
Houfe, Itis Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and
Temporal 1n Parliament Affembled, That the
Serjeant at Arms, attending this Houfe, do
forthwith attach the Body of the faid Srion

Brigirc or de Brienne, and bring him to the Bar of

this Houfe, to an{wer for his Offence: And this
fhall be a fufficient Warrant on that behalf

To the Scijeant at dras attending this Houfp,
bis Deputy or Deputics, and everyof thein.

The Houfe was informed that one Iugouce,
Sevantto the Lord Haverfbaii, being fummnioned,
was fince gone away.  Of which the Lord He-
vk gave the Houfean Account o this Effed ;
That he reeedved a Letter from the Duke of
Nifelx, wherein he defired his Servant might at
tend the Houfe this Day.  And his Lordfhip
*ut o Anfwer that he fhould,  But when his
LordLip wole in the Morning, his Servant was
gone avay, and told the Laundry-woman or
vrvanis, he hud o Quarrel, and was coing for
He i,

The Coundil and Witnefies being called in for
tne Duke of Ner folx, the Dutchefs’s Council pre-
ity and Mrs. Tancfs at the Bar, the tranferibed
Dpofitions from the Short-hand Writer were
lad to her, and fhe figned them.

n like manner Nicholas Hofier’s Depofition was
wad, and he figned it
_ Then the Council proceeded, and examined
f.{ .f’.::‘z:;: Beyly, and his Depofitions were taken in
“hort-hand, was left with the Clerk to be tran-

ieribed, in order to be read to im on Monday

HEXT,
”'Eguncil withdrew, and it was ordered thar
i Bayly do awtend this [Houfe on Monday
Nexe,

Fhen the following Orders were made.

It is Ordep’d by the Lords Spiricual and Tem-

beral m Parliament affembled, That on Adonday
VoL V,
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next at Twelve of the Clock this Houfe will pro-
cced to hear Council and Witnefles for the Duke
of Norfalk, at which Time the Dutchefs of Nor-
felk’s Council fhall be prefent. |

It is Ordered by the LordsSpiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That Mr. Secre-
tary Perion be defired to fend to this Houfe, on
-Aonday next at Eleven of the Clock, the Books
wherein the Entries of Pafles are in the Months

of Fanuary, February, and Mearch, One thoufand
Six hundred Ninety one.

Die Lune 26 Februariiy 1099.
The Council for the Duke and Dutchefs of

Noitfolt were called in, and the Examination of
IVilliaiit Bayly was read 1o him s and he being crofs-
cxamined by the Dutchels’s Council, and that
Lxamination read to him, he figned them.

Then Fabn Carry was called in and fworn,
fard, I went to ferve Mr. La Foantaine, and Mr.
Lanz with the Order for their Attendance.

Mr. La Fountaine’s Wife lay in, he faid he could
not be forced to come, he was not a Subje@t of
Eagland, and 1s the Lady Dutchefs’s Servant.

Mr. Laie gave mea Letter to the Clerk of the
Parllament, which was read, and in it he delired
further Time, not having Horfes, nor could ride
faft.

The Dutchefs’s Council moved for Copics of
the Depofitions taken, and Time for the Dutchefs
to be heard, and withdrew. Then the following
Orders were made, (viz.)

An Order for both Parties to have Copies of
the Depofitions, and fo much as relates to that
Matter in the Journal,

The other for hearing the Dutchefs by her

Council, on Monday next, and the Duke’s Coun-
ctl then to be prefent.

Depolitions of Elsanor Vanefs.
Dre Fovis 22 Februarii, 1699.

EL&W?' Vauefs fworn, Depofeth as follow-
cth, (viz.)

Queft. D'ye know Siv Fobi Germaine and the
Dutchefs fo\rg;fa{fc £
ﬂhﬁv. Ys.

£, How long have you known them 2

A. Two Years.

h Q. ?When did you firlt come acquainted with
them :

A. Sir Johi Germaine’s Sifter hired me for a
Cook-maid the Summer after the King came for
England,

2, In what Month of that Year ?
A. In May,

L, Did you live with either of them as a Ser-
vant-maid ?

f{ [ lived two Monthswith my Lady Dutchefs,
I oir fobu Germaine’s Floufe.

L; How long did you live in the Houfe with
them ?

A, Till they went to Vaux-Hall,

L, How long was the Dutchefs in the Houfe
before they went to Vaux-Hall ?

A. Two Months.

Q. Where was that Houfe?

A. Jult over Spring-Garden.

11 o

9. Ar
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Q. At the Time when the Lady Dutchefs
lived with Sir Fobn Germaine, what Company and
Converfation did they keep with one another ?
And in what Manner?

A. Like Man and Wife.

Q. Where was itthe Lady Dutchefs lived when
you came firlt into Eugland ¢
A In Sir Fobn Germaine's Houfe,

Q@ Where did fhe Jive then ?

A. The Dutchefs lived there then,

9. How long continued fhe therc?

/. About two Months.

9, How did they live together during that
Time?

A Like Manand Wife.

9. Saw youthem inBed together, atany Time,

at that Place in the Cockpit 2

A Yes.

. 9, Howoften?
A, Many times, asoften asMan and Wife fhe

faw them in Bed, but did not put them in Bed in

thofe two Months.
9. Did you think any otherwile, but thatthey

had been Man and Wife ?
A. Shedid notat firft, but afterwards the did ;
and then they kept her within Doors, tor fear fhe

thould el 1.
9. Whither did the Dutche(s goafter that two

Months ?

A. To Fox-fiall.

9, How long did the live there ?

4. About two Years.

9. Did Sir Jobir Germaine ufe to comeand keep
Company with the Dutchefs there?

A Yes; heufed to come and dine with her
fomerimes s and he lay there fometimes,

Y. What Converfatica had Sir Yobit Geimaiice
with the Dutchels at fox-Hall?

A. They convers'd togetheras Man and Wife,

9. How long !

A. Sometimes one Night, fometimes two.

9. How often did he ufe to come thither?

A. Somettimes twice, fometimes three times a

Week, and fometimes but once,

9. Had they one Bed, or two?

A, Bur one,
9. What Name did the Dutchels go by at

Lox-1all?

A. By the Wameof the Lady Beckinai,

9, What Kinwas Sir Yobn Germaine pretended
t0 be to the Lady Dutchefs?

A, Her Brother 3 my Lady Dutchefs fiid fo.

9., Dud yougo with them to Fox-FHell, or not?

A. She went with the Lady Dutchefs.

9. Whofe Servant was you there ?

A. Lady Dutchefs’s,

2. How long did you ferve the Lady Dutchefs?

. Sheftaid with her ll the went to Mill-bapk.

9. How came you to leave their Service?

A, They fent her away upon the account of
the late “I'rial.

9, Wha went with you?

A Mus, Sufenaab, Chambermaid to the Lady
Dutchefs; and Mr, Nichslas, that was Gentleman
Lo Sir fobn Gerinaine,

9. What’s his Name?

A. Nicholas Hofrer.

9. Who took care of your Paflage?

A Nicholas Hofter.

Q. Whither was you order’d to go?

A. Tololland, to the [Hague : They paid her

4

in full, and promifed fifty Livres befides,
2, Wasany Partof 1tpaid 2 And by whop s
. She receiv’d it in four Quarters, from h;:
Brother Philip, at the Hague. :.
Q. Whofe Brother?
A. Sir Jobu Gerinaine’s Brother.
&. Who hired you ‘whcn youcame to Lislg;);
A. M. Briane’s Wife, +
9, WhatKinis the to Sir Fobn Germaiy, 2
A. His Sifter s and they promifed, if Mg,
did not go for the Dutchefs, fhe would come 4,
Tofland her felf, and take her into her Service |
o, |
Q. Have youfeen Sir Folm Germaine upg )
Dutchefs in Bed together at Aill-bank ?

A. Once or twice,
Q. How long had the Lady Dutchefs lived o

Mill-bauk €’re you left her Service?

A, Nine or Ten Weeks.

Q. How cameyoutofee them in Bed togethe s

A. By reafon none was futter’d o come ingg
the Room, the Bedchamber, but the and anotl;
Maid, to bring Neceflaries, as, Water to wall
their Hands, and to clean the Room.

&. Did you {ee them at their undrefling, when

they went 1o Bed ?
A. She undrefs’d them her felf, and faw then

in Bed,
Q. Give an Account how you two came to
be admitred 1nto the Chamber, and what you fav

there,
A. She belp’d them to Bed, and faw them g

to Bied rogether.
9, Saw you them next Morning?

A Yes.
2, On what Occafion came yon into the

Chamber in the Morning ?
A. Shecame with Chocolate, and Water towafh

their Hands,
9. Did youever fee Mr. Nicholas Hoficr there’
/. Yess he did the Bufinels that fhe did when
the could not be prefent 5 he was Paler de Chambr:.
Q. Was he Valer de Chambre to Sir Fobn Gir-

marie, or to the Dutchefs ?
4. He belong’d to the Dutchels at Fox-Hol

and afterwards to Sir fobn Germaine,

&, Came he to Sir Fobu Gerinaine before t
Lady Dutchels went to Fox-Hall, or not?

A. The Dutchefs was at Fox-He!l when )
came to Sir Fobu Germaine.

Q. Who lived with the Dutchels at Foy-Fo! ?

A, Siv Fobir Germaine’s Sifter,

Q. Who hired you ?

A. Mrs. Briane, Mr. Briane’s Wile,

8. Was there no other Relation of Sir 7.h:
Gerinaineg's that lived there befides?

A, Mrs, Judith,

2, What Mrs. Fudith? What’s her Name?

A. She does not know.

2, What kin was Mrs. Fudith to Sir Yol G.r-

maine ?

A, s Sifter.

L. Did the Dutchefs ule to g0 to no otha
Place?

A. None, but to the ncighbouring Gardens, to
cather Flowers,

2; When you were at Mill-bank, did you evis
fee the Dutchefs’s Fathey ?

. She hath been feveral times at the Dutchedss
Father’s, and the Liady Dutchefs told her Father

and Mother, that the brought her from Ha!ﬁwhc' ;
' 1L

I

18
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0 drefs’d three Difhes of Meat by order of the

Daichels. ! p
0. Who was the Lady Dutchefs’s Father ¢
‘o . .

Where did he live? .
1. He lived at Mill-bank, but could not tell his

name s the Lord Peterborongh, fhe fays, but could

ot think on’t before now. |
¢ When fhelived with Gerimaingat the Cockpit,
was there no other that lived with them at that

Time?

A, No body. | |

9. Did Sir Fobn Geimain?s Brother-in-Law

I.'l".:. . - .
or sitter Tie in the Houle at any time !

A Yes; when they came firft to Eugland they
ofed to lie there.

Q. Name them.

-~ J . .

1 My, Bricine, and his Wile,

9. Did you fee any of Sir Fobi Germaing’s Re-
lations, at any thme, 11 thu: Room Fluril’fg the
Time that the Dutchefs was in Bed with him?

A Yes, Mr. Briane and his Wile.

Q. Was Sip Yobun Germaine n Bed at that time
with the Dutchels ?

A Yes.

Flianor Vanefs crofs’d-examin’d,

9. Wasitat Fox-Hall that the Lady Dutchefs
fid, That Geriaine was her Brother ?

.r’!. YL’S. '

9, Did the Dutchels tell you, that Sir Fobu
Gerinaine was her Brother ©

A. She gave it out among the Neighbours,
but never told her fo.

9. Was you Cookmaid ?

A She was hired for Cookmaid.

9. Did you continue to act as Cookmaid

A Yes, at Fox-Hell.

9. Was you at the Cockpir?

/1, She ufed to clean the Rooms, and no body
was fuiier’d to came nto the Room but The, Mrs,
Sufannah, and Nicholas.

9, Was there no other Woman in the Houfe
but you?

A Yes, Mrs. Sufesiab.

Q. Where did you lee Stir Joln Gerinaine and
the Dutchefs in Bed ?

A At Fos-1iall,

9. When came you from {lofland ?

A About five or fix Weeks ago.

9. Where have vou been fince ?

A. She does not know no Plice nor Street in
{ s,

9. How came you over ?

4. About a Year and halfago the met Nicho-
‘nat Amflerdas s the alk’d him how he did, and
it he had got a Places he anfwer’d, No, but he
believ’d he fhould very foon have one in England.

Y. Who fent for you, or brought you cver,

from Holland this laft Time?
r L She met Mr, Nicholas about a Year ago, and
.z‘:d, She had @ great Mind to go and live in
Eighirfagain ; and he faid, He would gera Place
for her

8. Who fent for her?

. Dots nor know.

£, Whenyou came over, who paid your Paf-
Lige, and firit ook Care of you ?

A. Nichs/as hath given her what fhe fpent fince.
& Who broughr you to Town? And who
lumith’d you with Money? And where did you
had? What Houle did you firft come to ?

and his Dutchefs for a Divorce,
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A. She fanded at Gravefend,

£. Who receiv’d her there, or, when fhe came
to Town, brought her toany Place to lodge at?

A. Nicholas brought her to a Place where fhe
was fecure,

9. What Place is it?

A. Shedoesnot know, the never wasin Londos,

9. Did younot liveat Fox-Hall,and at Sir Fobu
Germaine’s Houfe in the Cockpit ?

A. She was no further than thofe Houfes ; fhe
means, fhe was never in the City of Londoi.

9. Where 1s the Houfe fhe has been at thefe
fix Weeks?

A. She can’t tell whereabouts it is.

9. Wasyou notfent for back from Holland to be
1 Witnefs ?

A, No, knew nothing of it till about ———.-
Now about cight or nine Weeks ago.

9. InwhatStreetisthe Houfeyou havebeenat ?

A Tcn’teell. -

9. How long is it lince you went into Holland,
fince you left the Dutchefs’s Service ?

4. About eight Years ago.

Q. Did you never tell any body the Occafion
of your going over?

A Yes, 1n Holland, but not here.

9. To whom did you tell it?

A. To a great many.

Q. Know you any of thofe to be in Euglaid,
that you did tell 1t to?

A. Does not know any.

9. Did you ever difcover this Matter of your
own accord? or, Was you afk’d to do it ?

A 1 {fud, I would tell the Truth if I were
afked.,

Q. Can you name the Perfon that afk’d you?

A. Mr. Nicholas.

9, Had you any Difcourfe about this Matter
about eicht Weeks ago ?

A. WhenTafked Mr. Nicholus if he could get
me a Place in England, 1 1old him, I would fay
the Truth.

9. What Difcourfe had you with Mr. Nicholas
about 1t ¢

A. Talked Mr. Nicholas, whether there wasany
danger of any fuch Thing 5 he faid, He knew
nothing of it.

9. Did you ever difcover that you were fent
out of the Way, mto Hoelland ? "

A. No. _

Q. Whether you and this Gentleman that inters
prets have not talk’d moft of this Matter before

you came hither ¢

/. No,
2. Who have you talk’d toabout this Matter,
fince you came into Lugland, belides Nicholas 2

A. No body.
Q. Are you a Single Woman, or a Married
Woman?

A A Single Woman.
The Dykc’s Council,

Q. Was 1t your Bulinefs to look after the
Chamber, to keep the Door conftantly, or on what
Cccafion?

A, Tufed to wath the Dutchefs’s Cloaths, and
bring *em to Sir Fobn Germaine’s Houle, and keep
the upper Rooms clean, where Sir Jobn Germaiie
lay.

9. Did Sufan go over with you into Holland,
and come back with you?

A Mr
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A Mr. Nicholasbrought meintoa Room where
the was kept, and I ftayed a while with her.

9, Did Sufair go with you, and come with you
again ? _

A. Nicholas, and Sufair, and I, were in a Room
together, and Mr. Geimeme came every Night
when the Houfe was broke up, and told us what

pafled. ' w
9. Did Sufan go to Holland with you? Whether

did you go before Nicholas, or with him?
A.Sir Fobn Gepimaine ordered Nicholas and fhe
to go into llaid, and Nichelas went with her.
Sigitin,

Elianor Vanefs.

Depofitions of Nicholas Hofer.
Dic Fovis 22 Tebruariiy, 1099.

Nicholas Hofrer {worn.

28 Hether he knows Sir Tobn Germaine
and the Dutchefs of Norfolk 2
A Yes, Sir, Tunderftand, 1 know both.
Q. How long have you been acquainted with
Sir Fobnn Germatue, and upon what Occafton?
A. The firft he came to know hiny was in Suf-
folk-Stiect.
9. Whether ever he was a Servant to him?
A. Yes, [ was a Servant to hitm there.
9, When was it you firft came into Sir fobu

Germaine’s Service ?
A. Tt was above halfa Year before King 7aiucs

went away.

9. Did you live with Sir Jeb# or the Dut-
chels ?

A With Siv Fobn Gerinaiie.

9. Where did he dwell at that Time?

A. He had Lodgings at the Gelder: Ball.

Q. Was you with him afterwards when hie was
at the Cockpit ?

A, Yes, and Tlived with him at the Cockpit
£00.

Q. At that Time did you know the Dutchefs
of Norfolk ?

A. T knew her becaufe they told me fhe wa
fo.

Q. Was there any Lady that ived with Sir
Fobn Germaine at the Cockpit?

A. At that Time there was Mus., Bricane, Sir
Fobn Germaine's Sifler,

Q. Was there any body effe us'd o lodge
there ?

. There wasnone there but her at firfk.

Q. Was there any other afterwards?

9. Yes, about two or three Months after-
he was there, but I don’t juftly know how long
aftewards.

9. Who was there then?

. There was hisSiller, by Name Mrs, Judith
Germaine,

9. Do you know any thing about the Dut-

chels of Norfolk at that Thime.

A Yes. |
Q. What Converfation had Sir fobn Germaine

and the Dutchefs of Noifo/t? |
A She was in the Houfe, and they Lt and

Dyank together, and lay together.
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9. Where was that?

A Av Sir Jobu Gerinaing’s Houfe nexy .,
Cockprt. "

Q, Flow came you to know they lay togethers

A Becaufe T was his /ol ac Chaiibie, and
help'd to undrefs and put him to Bed.

9. Where was the Dutchefs at that Time?

A. The Dutchefs was fometimes a-Bed, a3
{fometimes not, according as he came home, ¢.
Iy or late.

Q. How long was the Dutchels with Sir 7,:.
Germaine at the Cockpit?

A She was at the Cockpit before I came o,

9. Whether he went from Siv Fobi Gergai,,
Service, after he came to live there?

A He left his Service feveral times,

9, When was the firlt time he weng fro
Sir Jobu Germaines Service.

A The firft tme he left hus Service wis i
Suffolk-Strect. |

). IHow long was it before he came o li;
with lim agam?

A THe came into his Service agam, the Suy,
mer after this prefent King came wto Zigla,

A, What Time of the Summer was 1i?

A. He can’t juftly tel} thar.

9. Whether cthe Dutchefs was there before [
came to the Cockpit or not ?

A. She was there before.

€. How long continued fhe there?

A About fifteen Days after he came o §f
Fokir Geinaiite,

A Tn what manner did Sir Fsln Germaine and
the Dutchefs [ive there during thofe fifiee
Days?

7. He fays he hath already explained thatt:
fore, he ufed to undrefs him and put him a-bid

together with the Dutchels.
4. Where did the Dutchefs live after fhe wen

from Sir Fobn Geriaine’s Houfe 2

A. She went and dwelt at Vaux-Hall.,

&. By what Name did fhe go when fhe wasu
Faux-Hall.

A. She went by the Name of my Lady Dur
A3,

Q. Whether he went with her, or continucl
in Sir Fobn Gerimaine’s Service ?

A. He went with my Lady Dutchefs for fon:
time, by Sir Yobn Germaine’s Order 5 he wi
fometimes with the one, and fometimes with the
other ; fometimes one paid him, and fometims
the other.

Q. Whether Sir Yobn Germaine went to Jawv
Hail ?

A. He came there fometimes; he hasfeen bim
there feveral Nights,

2, Whether he ftayed all Night there?

A. Sometimes,

8, Whether he was alone, or any body wa
with him?

A. There was fome body lay wich him.

&, Who,upon his Oath?

A Madam the Dutchefs, Madam Beckinain.

&, How know you that?

A. Becanfe he undrefs’d him when they 1y
together.

8. How often was that ?

A. e can’t jultly fay how often, but it ®¥
feveral times.

Q. What Service was he in when he went 012

of Lugland, and upon what Occalion ? .
A.

{
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4 He left Sir 7'9)_'3*;1 Grrmaine's Sc_rvicc at that
Time when the Trial was depending between
the Duke and the Dutchefs of Norfelk, |

9, By whofe Order did you leave that Ser-
e )

“c;. [Te defired leave. _

A, How came you to leave that Service at
g T ime . |

1 Becaufe he was afraid he fhould be obliged
(0 ‘{'pﬂ:ll{ the Truth of what he had feen.

&, Whether any went with him, and who
went from their Service when he went?

4 There were two Servants of the Dut.
chels’s. '

A What wis their Names ?

;f One is called Sufaumal Barringtoun, and the
other Elfansi f’}n,j:ﬁ.

9, Whither did they go? |

4 He was ordered by Sir bt Germaine to
hire Lodeings for them, where they fhould be
anknown and private, |

9. What was the Reafon why they fhould be
1n ln‘ivntc ? '

4. He knows no other Reafon, but the Dif-
forence before the Parllament between the Duke
and Dutchefs of Noifolk 5 he was obliged to
ke the Lodgings, becaufe the Wind was con-
trary for them to go for Flollaad, and took pri_-
vate Lodgings for them by the Order of Sir
Febn Germaine,

9, What became of Sufannab Barrington after
that ?

A, She ftay’d about three Weeks with him,
and then Sir Fobn Germaine came and fetch’d her
back again, and where he carried her he does not
know:

9, What became of Paiefs, and your felf af-
terwards ?

A, Wher the Wind favoured, we pafled the
Seas.

9. What Time of the Year was it?

A. 1t was about Laffey that he came into Fol-
land.

Q. What Time he went from his Service, and
was ordered to be private ?

A Tt was about the Time of the Trial.

Q. Whether he hath any Paper under Sir
Jeba Germaine’s Fland for his Difcharge ? Wedo
not afk it, bur only to refrefh his Memory.

The Poper <was dated Eighth of February,
Qiie thanfand fix bundred ninety-two, ieckon-
g the Xear to begin the firft of January.,

Whether that was theTime he left the Dutchefs’s
Service

A Yes, about fix or eight Weeks after he
went to Sea,

2. Where did you ftay in the mean time?

A. In the Alinories near the Tower.

2 How came you to flay there fo long after
youwee out of Service, before you went beyond
N iy

. Becaufe the Wind was contrary.

L. Who went over with him ; what became
of Llicior ] anifs 2

«A. She wene with him to Ielland.

2, Who bare her Charges thither?

. 3 Johir Gerinaine gave him feven Guineas

o pay for the fixpences that he was at here, and
16 crols the Sep,

Q. How long after that he continued in Hol-
land, before he came into Eugland
A. He did not ftay long in Holland, but went

into his own Country,

9, How long was it before you returned to
England ¢

A, The Summer following.

Q. Washe fent for over into England, and by
whom ?

A. Yes, Sir Fobn Germaine {ent ro him often,
by himfelf, and by his Brother in He/laid.

9. When he came over in the Summer follow-
ing (in Ninety-two) whofe Service did he come
to?’

A. He returned to Sir Fobn Germaine.

Q. Where did he live at that Time?

A. Where he lives at prefent, at the Cockpst.

Q. Whether after he came back in the Year
One thoufand fix hundred ninety-two, he obfer-
ved any Converfation between Sir Fobn Gerinaine
and the Dutchefs?

A, Yes, he fays he faw them come together at
their Houfe,

9, What more ?

A. He again then faw them a-bed together,

9. Where?

A, In the Houle of Sir Febn Germazie.

9. How often may thacbe?

A. He can’t juftly tell how often.

9, Whether it was often or not ?

A No, he can’t fay very often.

9. When was the laft Tune he ever faw them
a-bed together ?

A The laft Time he faw them a-bed was not
at the Cockpit.

9. Where then? | - .

A. Itwas at cthe Dutchefs’s own Houfe, where,
as he believes, fhe lives {till.

Q. Whercabout in the Town? ,

A. It was upon a Corner of the Park, near
my Lord of Oxford’s. '

Q. How long fince he faw them latt a-bed
together? |
. L
A. He can’t juflly tell the Time, 1t wasabout
two or three Months before he went away.
Q. Did he mean the firft, fecond, or third
Time ?

A. Tt was two or three Months before he went
away the laft Time.

9. In what Year did he go away the Iaft
Time?

Let bim look upon any Note be hath to refrefb

bis Memary,

Accordingly be look’d upon a Paper.

A ’Tis the Twenty-feventh of Apri/, One
thoufand fix hundred ninety-fix. ..

2, Did you go away then the Taft Time?.

A. Yes, he fays, that ’twas the laft Time he
left hus Service.

Q. How long before that did you fee them
a-bed together ?

A. He fays it was about two Months and a
half before he left the Service.

Q. When my Lady Dutchefs lived at Fox-
Hall, whether he can name any body elfe that was
a Servant in the Houfe at that Time?

A, Yes, there was one Elianor Vanefs.

9, What Servant was fhe?

A, She Jook’d to the Kitchen,

8. Whe-



